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Bra ndywineRea Ityirust

To our shareholders

As 2010 began the global economy was taking its first significant steps toward recovery

Employment gains were projected businesses were cautiously optimistic and the retrenchment

that had so deeply affected the office market appeared to be gradually abating

The recovery we knew would be slow and governed by the macroeconomic climate

At Brandywine Realty Trust we remained focused on the fundamentals that drive our business

on aggressive leasing on advancing portfolio quality on strengthening our balance sheet and

on continuing an environment in which both our tenants and employees can passionately

and creatively pursue new opportunities and resolve existing challenges

By paying attention to what mattered most we achieved our best leasing year in Brandywine

history with 4.2 million leased square feet as compared to 3.6 million in 2009 At the same time

we outperformed our own 2010 operating plan assumptions by exceeding our projected tenant

retention rate by 20% We credit the energy and experience of our leasing teams our weekly senior

management leasing reviews and an approach that offers current and potential tenants rapid

responses both to operational matters and capital improvement needs

The quality of our portfolio was also integral to our success In 2010 our portfolio was considerably

strengthened by our acquisition of the leasehold interest in Three Logan 029000-square-foot

53-story trophy-class office tower located in Philadelphias Central Business District CBD
Our portfolio benefited as well from second major transaction $25 million preferred equity

investment in Commerce Square twin 41-story office tower complex aggregating .9 million

square feet and owned by the Thomas Properties Group These investments left Brandywine with

4.7 million square feet of office space in Philadelphia raising the percentage of net operating

income contribution from the Philadelphia CBD to 18.0% from 12.9%

Just as we focused on acquiring and improving core office and value-added properties we brought

discipline to the divestiture of properties no longer core to our business raising $53 million through

the sale of slower growth assets At the same time we delivered the IRS Philadelphia Campus on time

and under budget an 863000 square foot historic renovation project that brought 5000 new jobs

to University City and made the General Services Administration our largest single tenant

comprising 6.4% of our annual base rents



At Brandywine we continually strive to exceed expectations with our well-managed high-quality

portfolioa portfolio currently consisting of 316 properties and 36.1 million square feet In 2010

we further improved high percentage of those properties through series of green efforts

including sustainable lighting cleaning waste management efforts water efficiency and green-

sensitive landscaping All of these efforts we believe further demonstrate our commitment to

tenants the environment and efficient operations As of this writing we have successfully qualified

34 of our properties aggregating 6.5 million square feet of space for Energy Star ratings

This program is ongoing and we anticipate further gains throughout 2011

Brandywine remains fully committed to raising its investment-grade ratinga multi-year effort that

requires us to keep improving occupancy delivering net operating income growth and responsibly

managing our portfolio During 2010 our portfolio generated positive cash flow from operations

ensuring that we have one of the better-covered dividends in the office REIT world

In 2011 we anticipate continued slow growth economy with improvement accelerating in the

second half of the year We also expect steady level of investment activity in all of our core markets

Well be capitalizing on these trends and on our own demonstrated internal strengths in leasing

in development in tenant management as we continue our aggressive leasing program and seek

to restore our occupancy rates to historic levels We will also throughout the coming yea heighten

our focus on strategies that will enable us to more fully enter urban and town-center markets that

complement our portfolio and goals

This letter would be incomplete without making reference to the quality of our dedicated and

talented employees who consistently bring their best to Brandywine each day We were proud to

be named Best Places to Work for the second year by the Philadelphia Business Journal in 2010

Real estate is about bricks and mortaç steel and glass of course But it is also most importantly

about relationships and people As we move into 2011 we will continue to listen to and learn

from our employees our stakeholders and our remarkable board members who collectively

make Brandywine the company it is

In closing we would like to thank you our shareholders for your confidence in our management

team and Board of Trustees As always we appreciate your support of Brandywine and will continue

to work diligently on your behalf to ensure continued success in the years to come

Gerard Sweeney

President and Chief Executive Officer

Best personal regards

April 15 2011
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This report combines the annual reports on Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2010 of Brandywine Realty Trust the

Parent Company and Brandywine Operating Partnership the Operating Partnership The Parent Company is Maryland real

estate investment trust or REIT that owns its assets and conducts its operations through the Operating Partnership Delaware limited

partnership and subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership The Parent Company the Operating Partnership and their consolidated

subsidiaries are collectively referred to in this report as the Company In addition terms such as we us or our used in this

report may refer to the Company the Parent Company or the Operating Partnership

The Parent Company is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and as of December 31 2010 owned 93.1% interest in

the Operating Partnership The remaining 6.9 interest consists of common units of limited partnership interest issued by the

Operating Partnership in exchange for contributions of properties to the Operating Partnership As the sole general partner of the

Operating Partnership the Parent Company has full and complete authority over the Operating Partnerships day-to-day operations

and management

The Company believes that combining the annual reports on Form 10-K of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership into

single report will result in the following benefits

facilitate better understanding by the investors of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership by enabling them to

view the business as whole in the same manner as management views and operates the business

remove duplicative disclosures and provide more straightforward presentation in light of the fact that substantial portion of

the disclosure applies to both the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership and

create time and cost efficiencies through the preparation of one combined report instead of two separate reports

Management operates the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership as one enterprise The management of the Parent Company
consists of the same members as the management of the Operating Partnership These members are officers of both the Parent

Company and of the Operating Partnership

There are few differences between the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership which are reflected in the footnote disclosures

in this report The Company believes it is important to understand the differences between the Parent Company and the Operating

Partnership in the context of how these entities operate as an interrelated consolidated company The Parent Company is REIT

whose only material asset is its ownership of the partnership interests of the Operating Partnership As result the Parent Company
does not conduct business itself other than acting as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership issuing public equity from

time to time and guaranteeing the debt obligations of the Operating Partnership The Operating Partnership holds substantially all the

assets of the Company and directly or indirectly holds the ownership interests in the Companys real estate ventures The Operating

Partnership conducts the operations of the Companys business and is structured as partnership with no publicly traded equity

Except for net proceeds from equity issuances by the Parent Company which are contributed to the Operating Partnership in

exchange for partnership units the Operating Partnership generates the capital required by the Companys business through the

Operating Partnerships operations by the Operating Partnerships direct or indirect incurrence of indebtedness or through the

issuance of partnership units of the Operating Partnership or equity interests in subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership

The equity and non-controlling interests in the Parent Company and the Operating Partnerships equity are the main areas of

difference between the consolidated financial statements of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership The common units of

limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership are accounted for as partners equity in the Operating Partnerships financial

statements while the common units of limited partnership interests held by parties other than the Parent Company are presented as

non-controlling interests in the Parent Companys financial statements The differences between the Parent Company and the

Operating Partnerships equity relate to the differences in the equity issued at the Parent Company and Operating Partnership levels

To help investors understand the significant differences between the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership this report

presents the following as separate notes or sections for each of the Parent Company and the Operating PartnershipS

consolidated financial statements

the following notes to the consolidated financial statements

Noncontrolling Interests and

Parent Companys and Operating Partnerships Equity

Liquidity and Capital Resources in the Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations



This report also includes separate Item 9A Controls and Procedures disclosures and separate Exhibit 31 and 32 certifications for

each of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership in order to establish that the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief

Financial Officer of each entity have made the requisite certifications and that the Parent Company and Operating Partnership are

compliant with Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-l5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and 18 U.S.C 1350

In order to highlight the differences between the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership the separate sections in this report for

the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership specifically refer to the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership In the

sections that combine disclosures of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership this report refers to such disclosures as those

of the Company Although the Operating Partnership is generally the entity that directly or indirectly enters into contracts and real

estate ventures and holds assets and debt reference to the Company is appropriate because the business is one enterprise and the

Parent Company operates the business through the Operating Partnership

As general partner with control of the Operating Partnership the Parent Company consolidates the Operating Partnership for financial

reporting purposes and the Parent Company does not have significant assets other than its investment in the Operating Partnership

Therefore the assets and liabilities of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership are the same on their respective financial

statements The separate discussions of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership in this report should be read in conjunction

with each other to understand the results of the Company operations on consolidated basis and how management operates the

Company



TABLE OF CONTENTS

FORM 10-K

PART

Item Business

Item 1A Risk Factors 16

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments 27

Item Properties 27

Item Legal Proceedings 36

Item Removed and Reserved 36

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 37

Item Selected Financial Data 40

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 42

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 70

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 70

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 70

Item 9A Controls and Procedures 70

Item 9B Other Information 71

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 72

Item 11 Executive Compensation 72

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters 72

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 72

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services 72

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 73

SIGNATURES 81



Filing Format

This combined Form 10-K is being filed separately by Brandywine Realty Trust the Parent Company and Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P the Operating Partnership

Forward-Looking Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides safe harbor for forward-looking statements This Annual Report on

Form 10-K and other materials filed by us with the SEC as well as information included in oral or other written statements made by

us contain statements that are forward-looking including statements relating to business and real estate development activities

acquisitions dispositions future capital expenditures financing sources governmental regulation including environmental

regulation and competition We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe-harbor provisions of the 1995 Act

The words anticipate believe estimate expect intend will should and similar expressions as they relate to us are

intended to identify forward-looking statements Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking

statements are based on reasonable assumptions we can give no assurance that our expectations will be achieved As forward-looking

statements these statements involve important risks uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially

from the expected results and accordingly such results may differ from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by

us or on our behalf Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include but are not limited to

the continuing impact of the recent credit crisis and global economic slowdown which is having and may continue to have

negative effect on the following among other things

the fundamentals of our business including overall market occupancy demand for office space and rental rates

the financial condition of our tenants many of which are financial legal and other professional firms our lenders

counterparties to our derivative financial instruments and institutions that hold our cash balances and short-term

investments which may expose us to increased risks of default by these parties

availability of financing on attractive terms or at all which may adversely impact our future interest expense and our ability

to pursue acquisition and development opportunities and refinance existing debt and

decline in real estate asset valuations which may limit our ability to dispose of assets at attractive prices or obtain or

maintain debt financing secured by our properties or on an unsecured basis

changes in local real estate conditions including changes in rental rates and the number of properties that compete with our

properties

changes in the economic conditions affecting industries in which our principal tenants compete

the unavailability of equity and debt financing

our failure to lease unoccupied space in accordance with our projections

our failure to re-lease occupied space upon expiration of leases

tenant defaults and the bankruptcy of major tenants

increases in interest rates

failure of interest rate hedging contracts to perform as expected and the effectiveness of such arrangements

failure of acquisitions to perform as expected

unanticipated costs associated with the acquisition integration and operation ol our acquisitions

unanticipated costs to complete lease-up and operate our developments and redevelopments



unanticipated costs associated with land development including building moratoriums and inability to obtain necessary zoning

land-use building occupancy and other required governmental approvals construction cost increases or overruns and

construction delays

impairment charges

increased costs for or lack of availability of adequate insurance including for terrorist acts

actual or threatened terrorist attacks

demand for tenant services beyond those traditionally provided by landlords

liability under environmental or other laws

failure or bankruptcy of real estate venture partners

inability of real estate venture partners to fund venture obligations

failure of dispositions to close in timely manner

failure of buyers of our properties to comply with terms of their financing agreements to us

earthquakes and other natural disasters

the unforeseen impact of climate change and compliance costs relating to laws and regulations governing climate change

risks associated with federal state and local tax audits

complex regulations relating to our status as REIT and the adverse consequences of our failure to qualifj as REIT and

the impact of newly adopted accounting principles on our accounting policies and on period-to-period comparisons of financial

results

Given these uncertainties and the other risks identified in the Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-

we caution readers not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements We assume no obligation to update or supplement

forward-looking statements that become untrue because of subsequent events



PART

Item Business

Introduction

We are self-administered and self-managed REIT that provides leasing property management development redevelopment

acquisition and other tenant-related services for portfolio of office mixed-use and industrial properties As of December 31 2010

we owned and consolidated 233 properties collectively the Properties containing an aggregate of approximately 25.6 million net

rentable square feet The Properties include 208 office properties 20 industrial properties four mixed-use properties and garage

property under redevelopment As of December 2010 we also owned interests in 17 unconsolidated real estate ventures

collectively the Real Estate Ventures that own properties that contain approximately 6.5 million net rentable square feet In

addition as of December 31 2010 we owned approximately 509 acres of undeveloped land The Properties and the properties owned

by the Real Estate Ventures are located in or near Philadelphia Pennsylvania Metropolitan Washington D.C Southern and Central

New Jersey Richmond Virginia Wilmington Delaware Austin Texas and Oakland Concord Carlsbad and Rancho Bemardo
California In addition to managing properties that we own as of December 31 2010 we were managing approximately 7.8 million

square feet of office and industrial properties for third parties and Real Estate Ventures Unless otherwise indicated all references to

square feet represent net rentable area

Organization

The Parent Company was organized and commenced its operations in 1986 as Maryland REIT The Parent Company owns its assets

and conducts its operations through the Operating Partnership and subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership The Operating

Partnership was formed in 1996 as Delaware limited partnership The Parent Company controls the Operating Partnership as its sole

general partner As of December 31 2010 the Parent Company owned 93 100 interest in the Operating Partnership The remaining

6.9 interest in the flperating Partnership consists of common units of limited partnership interest issued to the holders in exchange

for contributions of properties to the Operating Partnership Our structure as an UPREIT is designed in part to permit persons

contributing properties to us to defer some or all of the tax liability they might otherwise incur in sale of properties

The commofi units in the Operating Partnership consist of two classes Class units and Class 2010 units Holders of Class

units have the right to require redemption of their units at any time At our option we may satisfy the redemption of Class unit

either for common share of the Parent Company or for an amount of cash equal to the market price of one common share of the

Parent Company based on the average closing prices of the common shares on the New York Stock Exchange for the five-trading

days ending on the redemption date Class 2010 units rank on parity with Class units as to distributions but do not begin to

accrue distributions and are not entitled to allocations of income or loss prior to August 2011 Thereafter Class 2010 units will

be entitled to receive the same distributions that the Parent Company pays on its common shares and the holder of the units will have

the right to exchange the units for an equal number of common shares or at the Parent Conipanys option cash payment equal to

the number of units tendered for exchange multiplied by the as erage closing price of the common shares on the New York Stock

Exchange for the five trading days ending on the date of the exchange

Our executive offices are located at 555 East Lancaster Avenue Suite 100 Radnor Pennsylvania 19087 and our telephone number is

610 325-5600 We have offices in Philadelphia Pennsylvania Falls Church Virginia Mount Laurel New Jersey Richmond

Virginia Austin Texas Oakland Califomia and Carlsbad California We have an internet website at www.brandywinerealty.com

We are not incorporating by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K any material from our website The reference to our

website is an inactive textual reference to the uniform resource locator URL and is for your reference only

2010 Transactions

Real Estate Acquisitions Dispositions

As of December 2010 two of our building properties located in King of Prussia Pennsylvania were undergoing demolition and

the remaining land balances have been presented as land inventory in our consolidated balance sheets We have determined that there

was change in the estimated useful lives of the properties resulting from the ongoing demolition causing an acceleration of

depreciation expense During the year ended December 31 2010 we reeogni7ed the remaining net book value of the two buildings

aggregating to $2.7 million as depreciation with the land amounts of $1.1 million being reclassified to land inventors for potential

future development All related demolition costs are charged to earnings



On December 29 2010 we acquired 12 acre parcel of land in Gibbsboro New Jersey through the foreclosure of note receivable

amounting to $2.8 million which was secured by this land and payment of transaction related costs of $0.3 million This parcel of land

is held for future development

On August 2010 we acquired Three Logan Square in Philadelphia together with related ground tenancy rights under long-term

ground lease from BAT Partners L.P third party unaffiliated with us Three Logan Square contains approximately 1.0 million of

net rentable square feet and is currently 67.2o leased We acquired Three Logan Square for approximately $129.0 million funded

through combination of $51.2 million in cash and 7111112 Class 2010 Units As indicated above under Organization the

Class 2010 Units do not begin to accrue distributions and are not entitled to income or loss allocations prior to August 2011

We funded the cash portion of the acquisition price through an advance under our revolving credit facility and with available corporate

funds

On December 23 2010 we sold four office properties One and Two Greentree Centre 8000 Lincoln Drive and Lake Center I\7

containing total of 243195 net rentable square
feet located in Marlton New Jersey for an aggregate sales price of $20.9 million The

properties were 76.lo occupied at the date of sale

On November 22 2010 we sold Spyglass Point 58576 net rentable square feet office property located in Austin Texas for sales

price of$13.5 million The property was fully occupied at the date of sale

On September 20 2010 we sold 630 Clark Avenue 50000 net rentable
square

feet office property located in King of Prussia

Pennsylvania for sales price of $3.6 million The property was fully occupied at the date of sale

On August 18 2010 we sold 479 Thomas Jones Way 49264 net rentable
square

feet office property located in Exton

Pennsylvania for sales price of $3.8 million The property was 63.00o occupied at the date of sale

On January 14 2010 we sold 1957 Westmoreland Street 121815 net rentable square feet property located in Richmond Virginia

for sales price of $10.8 million The property was vacant at the date of sale

Developments and Redevelopments

During 2010 we placed in service three office properties and one-mixed use property that we developed or redeveloped and that

contain an aggregate of 1.9 million net rentable square feet We place property in service at the date the property reaches at least

9500 occupancy At December 31 2010 we were proceeding on one garage redevelopment with total projected costs of $14.8 million

of which $0.8 million remained to be funded We expect to place this project in service in or around the fourth quarter
of 2011

Unsecured Debt Activity

During the year ended December 31 2010 we repurchased $82.7 million of our unsecured Notes as summarized in the table below

Repurchase Deferred Financing

Notes Amount Principal Loss Amortization

2010 5.625c Notes 2002 1942 37

201 3.875c Notes 68t25 t762

20t2 5.750c Notes t2625

82692

43

2230

On October 20 20 the holders of the Guaranteed Excbangeable Notes ha the
right to request

the redemption of att or portion
of the

Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes they hold at price equal to 10000 of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest

Accordingly the Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes have been presented with an October 202011 maturity date

We funded these repurchases from combination of proceeds from asset sales cash flow from operations and borrowings under our

unsecured revolving credit facility the Credit Facility We use borrowings under the Credit Facility for general business purposes

including the acquisition development and redevelopment of properties and the repayment of other debt The maturity date of the

Credit Facility is June 29 2011 subject to an extension of one year at our option upon our payment of an extension fee equal to

basis points of the committed amount under the Credit Facility The per annum variable interest rate on the outstanding balances is

LIBOR plus O.72S0o The interest rate and facility fee are subject to adjustment upon change in our unsecured debt ratings In

addition the capitalization rate used in the calculation of several of the financial covenants in the Credit Facility is 7.50 and our

swing loan availability under the Credit Facility is at $60.0 million We are allowed four competitive bid loan requests in any 30 da

68741

13333

84076

281

32

316



period Borrowings are available to the extent of borrowing capacity at the stated rates however the competitive bid feature allows

banks that are part of the lender consortium under the Credit Facility to bid to make loans to us at reduced LIBOR rate We have the

option to increase the Credit Facility to $800.0 million provided that we have not committed any defaults under the Credit Facility and

we are able to acquire additional commitments from its existing lenders or new lenders

The Credit Facility contains financial and non-financial covenants including covenants that relate to our incurrence of additional debt

the granting of liens consummation of mergers and consolidations the disposition of assets and interests in subsidiaries the making

of loans and investments and the payment of dividends The restriction on dividends permits us to pay dividends to the greater of

an amount required for us to retain our qualification as RE1T and ii 9500 of our funds from operations The Credit Facility includes

financial covenants that require us to maintain an interest coverage ratio fixed charge coverage ratio an unsecured debt ratio and an

unencumbered cash flow ratio above specified levels to maintain net worth above an amount determined on specified formula and

to maintain leverage ratio and secured debt ratio below certain maximum levels Another financial covenant limits the ratio of

unsecured debt to unencumbered properties We were in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants as of December

2010 We continuously monitor our compliance with all covenants Certain covenants restrict our ability to obtain altemative sources

of capital While we believe that we will remain in compliance with our covenants continued slow-down in the economy and

continued decrease in availability of debt financing could result in non-compliance with covenants

Secured Debt Activity

On August 26 2010 the Operating Partnership received $254.0 million of
gross proceeds from $256.5 million forward financing

commitment that the Operating Partnership obtained on June 29 2009 The Operating Partnership paid $17.7 million commitment

fee in connection with this commitment The loan proceeds together with the commitment fee had been escrowed with an institutional

trustee pending the completion of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage as well as the commencement of the leases

at these facilities The financing consists of two separate loans $209.7 million secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and $46.8

million secured by the Cira South Garage The lender held back $2.5 million of the loan proceeds pending completion of certain

conditions related to the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage As of December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership

received $2.1 million of the amounts held back The loans are non-recourse and are secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the

Cira South Garage respectively The loans bear interest at 5.93o with interest only through September 10 2010 and thereafter require

principal and interest monthly payments through its maturity in September 2030 The Operating Partnership used the loan proceeds to

reduce borrowings under its Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

Additional Financing Activity

On August 2010 the Operating Partnership issued 7111112 of Class 2010 units in connection with the acquisition of Three

Logan Square an office property in Philadelphia Pennsylvania The Class 2010 units do not accrue dividend and are not

entitled to income or loss allocations prior to August 2011 They are also not exchangeable for Parent Companys common shares

for that period For purposes of computing the total purchase price of Three Logan Square the Class 2010 units were valued

based on the closing maiket puce of the Parent Companys common sliaies on the acquisition date of $11.54 less $0.60 to iefieet that

these units do not begin to accrue dividend prior to August 2011

in June 2010 the Operating Partnership through one of its wholly owned taxable REIT subsidiaries aTRS received $27.4 million

contribution under the historic tax credit transaction that we entered into in 2008 with US Bancorp bringing the total contributions

received to date to $61.4 million

In March 2010 the Parent Company commenced continuous equity offering program the Offering Program under which the

Parent Company may sell up to an aggregate amount of 15000000 common shares until March 10 2013 Through December 31
2010 the Parent Company sold 5742268 shares under the Offering Program at an average

sales price of$l2.54 per
share resulting in

net proceeds of $70.8 million The Parent Company contributed the net proceeds from the sale of its shares under the Offering

Program to the Operating Partnership in exchange for the issuance of 5742268 common partnership units to the Parent Company
The Operating Partnership used the net proceeds from the sales contributed by the Parent Company to reduce borrowings under the

Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

Business Objective and Strategies for Growth

Our business objective is to deploy capital effectively to maximize our return on investment and thereby maximize our total return to

shareholders To accomplish this objective we seek to

maximize cash flow through leasing strategies designed to capture rental growth as rental rates increase and as abos and

below-market leases are renewed

10



attain high tenant retention rate by providing fill
array

of property management and maintenance services and tenant

service programs responsive to the varying needs of our diverse tenant base

form joint venture opportunities with high-quality partners having attractive real estate holdings or significant financial

resources

utilize our reputation as fill-service real estate development and management organization to identify opportunities that will

expand our business and create long-term value and

increase the economic diversification of our tenant base while maximizing economies of scale

We also consider the following to be important objectives

to acquire and develop high-quality office and industrial properties at attractive yields in markets that we expect will

experience economic growth and where we can achieve operating efficiencies

to deploy our land inventory for development of high-quality office and industrial properties and

to capitalize on our redevelopment expertise to selectively develop redevelop and reposition properties in desirable locations

We expect to concentrate our real estate activities in markets where we believe that

current and projected market rents and absorption statistics justify construction activity

we can maximize market penetration by accumulating critical mass of properties and thereby enhance operating efficiencies

barriers to entry such as zoning restrictions utility availability infrastructure limitations development moratoriums and

limited developable land will create supply constraints on office and industrial space and

there is potential for economic growth particularly job growth and industry diversification

Operating Strategy

In this current economic environment we expect to continue to operate in markets where we have concentration advantage due to

economies of scale We believe that where possible it is best to operate with strong base of properties in order to benefit from the

personnel allocation and the market strength associated with managing several properties in the same market However wc intend to

selectively dispose of properties and redeploy capital if we determine property cannot meet long term earnings growth expectations

We believe that recycling capital is an important aspect of maintaining the overall quality of our portfolio

Our broader strategy remains focused on continuing to enhance liquidity and strengthen our balance sheet through capital retention

targeted sales activity and management of our existing and prospective liabilities

In the long term we believe that we are well positioned in our current markets and have the expertise to take advantage of both

development and acquisition opportunities as warranted by market and economic conditions in new markets that have healthy long-

term ftindamentals and strong growth projections This capability combined with what we believe is conservative financial

structure should allow us to achieve disciplined growth These abilities are integral to our strategy of having geographically and

physically diverse portfolio of assets which will meet the needs of our tenants

We use experienced on site construction superintendents operating under the supervision of project managers and senior management

to control the construction process and mitigate the various risks associated with real estate development

In order to fund developments redevelopments and acquisitions as well as refurbish and improve existing Properties we must usc

excess cash from operations after satisfying our dividend and other requirements The availability of funds for new investments and

maintenance of existing Properties depends in large measure on capital markets and liquidity factors over which we can exert little

control Past events including failures and near failures of number of large financial service companies have made the capital

markets increasingly volatile As result many property owners are finding financing to be increasingly expensive and difficult ft
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obtain In addition downgrades of our public debt ratings by Standard Poors and Moodys Investor Service could increase our cost

of capital

Policies With Respect To Certain Activities

The following is discussion of our investment financing and other policies These policies have been determined by our Board of

Trustees and our Board may revise these policies without vote of shareholders

Investments in Real Estate or Interests in Real Estate

We may develop purchase or lease income-producing properties for long-term investment expand and improve the properties

presently owned or other properties purchased or sell such properties in whole or in part as circumstances warrant Although there is

no limitation on the types of development activities that we may undertake we expect that our development activities will meet

current market demand and will generally be on build-to-suit basis for particular tenants where significant portion of the building is

pre-leased before construction begins We continue to participate with other entities in property ownership through existing joint

ventures or other types of co-ownership Our equity investments may be subject to existing or future mortgage financing and other

indebtedness that will have priority over our equity investments

Securities of or Interests in Entities Primarily Engaged in Real Estate Activities and Other Issuers

Subject to the percentage of ownership limitations and gross income tests necessary for REIT qualification we may invest in

securities of other REITs other entities engaged in real estate activities or securities of other issuers We may enter into joint ventures

or partnerships for the purpose of obtaining an equity interest in particular property We do not currently intend to invest in the

securities of other issuers except in connection with joint ventures or acquisitions of indirect interests in properties

Investments in Real Estate Mortgages

While our current portfolio consists of and our business objectives emphasize equity investments in commercial real estate we may
at the discretion of management or our Board of Trustees invest in other types of equity real estate investments mortgages and other

real estate interests We do not presently intend to invest to significant extent in mortgages or deeds of trust but may invest in

participating mortgages if we conclude that we may benefit from the cash flow or any appreciation in the value of the property

securing mortgage From time to time we provide seller financing to buyers of our properties We do this when the buyer requires

additional funds for the purchase and provision of seller financing will be beneficial to us and the buyer compared to mortgage loan

from third party lender

Dispositions

Our disposition of properties is based upon managements periodic review of our portfolio and the determination by management or

our Board of Trustees that disposition would be in our best interests We intend to use selective dispositions to fund our capital and

refinancing needs

Financing Policies

primary objective of our financing policy has been to manage our financial position to allow us to raise capital from variety of

sources at competitive rates Our mortgages credit facilities and unsecured debt securities contain restrictions on our ability to incur

indebtedness Our charter documents do not limit the indebtedness that we may incur Our financing strategy is to maintain strong

and flexible financial position by limiting our debt to prudent level and minimizing our variable interest rate exposure We intend to

finance futrue growth and future maturing debt with the most advantageous souiee of capital then available to us These sources may
include selling common or preferred equity and debt securities sold through public offerings or private placements utilizing

availability under the Credit Facility or incurring additional indebtedness through secured or unsecured borrowings To qualify as

REIT we must distribute to our shareholders each year at least ninety percent of our net taxable income excluding any net capital

gain This distribution requirement limits our ability to fund future capital needs including for acquisitions and developments from

income from operations Therefore we expect to continue to rely on third party sources of capital to fund future capital needs
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Working Capitol Reserves

We maintain working capital reserves and access to borrowings in amounts that our management determines to be adequate to meet

our normal contingencies

Policies with Respect to Other Activities

We expect to issue additional common and preferred equity in the future and may authorize our Operating Partnership to issue

additional common and preferred units of limited partnership interest including to persons who contribute their interests in properties

to us in exchange for such units We have not engaged in trading underwriting or agency distribution or sale of securities of

unaffiliated issuers and we do not intend to do so We intend to make investments consistent with our qualification as REIT unless

because of circumstances or changes in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended or the Treasury Regulations our Board of

Trustees determines that it is no longer in our best interests to qualify as REIT We may make loans to third parties including to

joint ventures in which we participate and to buyers of our real estate We intend to make investments in such way that we will not

be treated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940

Management Activities

We provide third-party real estate management services primarily through wholly-owned subsidiaries collectively the Management
Companies As of December 31 2010 the Management Companies were managing properties containing an aggregate of

approximately 33.4 million net rentable square feet of which approximately 25.6 million net rentable square feet related to Properties

owned by us and approximately 7.8 million net rentable square feet related to properties owned by third parties and unconsolidated

Real Estate Ventures

Geographic Segments

As of December 31 2010 we were managing our portfolio within seven segments Pennsylvania Suburbs Philadelphia Central

Business District CBD Metropolitan Washington D.C New Jersey/Delaare Richmond Virginia Austin Texas

and California The Pennsylvania Suburbs segment includes properties in Chester Delaware and Montgomery counties in the

Philadelphia suburbs The Philadelphia CBD segment includes properties located in the City of Philadelphia in Pennsylvania The

Metropolitan Washington D.C segment includes properties in Northern Virginia and suburban Maryland The New Jersey/Delaware

segment includes properties in Burlington Camden and Mercer counties and in New Castle county in the state of Delaware The

Richmond Virginia segment includes properties primarily in Albemarle Chesterfield Goochland and Henrico counties and Durham
North Carolina The Austin Texas segment includes properties in Austin The California segment includes properties in Oakland

Concord Carlsbad and Rancho Bernardo Our corporate group is responsible for cash and investment management development of

certain real estate properties during the construction period and certain other general support functions

Competition

The real estate business is highly competitive Our Properties compete for tenants with similar properties primarily on the basis of

location total occupancy costs including base rent and operating expenses services provided and the design and condition of the

improvements We also face competition when attempting to acquire or develop real estate including competition from domestic and

foreign financial institutions other REITs life insurance companies pension funds partnerships and individual investors

Additionally our ability to compete depends upon trends in the economies of our markets investment alternatives financial condition

and operating results of current and prospective tenants availability and cost of capital construction and renovation costs land

availability our ability to obtain necessary construction approvals taxes governmental regulations legislation and population trends

Insurance

We maintain commercial general liability and all risk property insurance on our properties We intend to obtain similar coverage for

properties We acquire in the future There are types uf losses generally of catastiopliie iiatwe such as losses froiii war terrorism

environmental issues floods hurricanes and earthquakes that are subject to limitations in certain areas or which may be uninsurable

risks We exercise our discretion in determining amounts coverage limits and deductibility provisions of insurance with view to

maintaining appropriate insurance on our investments at reasonable cost and on suitable terms If we suffer substantial loss our

insurance coverage may not be sufficient to pay the full current market value or current replacement cost of our lost investment

Inflation changes in building codes and ordinances environmental considerations and other factors also might make it impractical to

use insurance proceeds to fully replace or restore property afier it has been damaged or destroyed
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Employees

As of December 31 2010 we had 439 full-time employees including 30 union employees

Government Regulations Relating to the Environment

Many laws and governmental regulations relating to the environment apply to us and changes in these laws and regulations or their

interpretation by agencies and the courts occur frequently and may adversely affect us

Existing conditions at sone of our Properties Independent environmental consultants have conducted Phase or similar

environmental site assessments on our Properties We generally obtain these assessments prior to the acquisition of Property and

may later update them as required for subsequent financing of the property or as requested by tenant Site assessments are generally

performed to ASTM standards then existing for Phase site assessments and typically include historical review public records

review visual inspection of the surveyed site and the issuance of written report These assessments do not generally include any

soil samplings or subsurface investigations Depending un the age
nf the prnperty the Phase may have included an assessment of

asbestos-containing materials For properties where asbestos-containing materials were identified or suspected an operations and

maintenance plan was generally prepared and implemented See Note to our consolidated financial statements for our evaluation in

accordance with the accounting standard governing asset retirement obligations

Historical operations at or near some of our properties including the operation of underground storage tanks may have caused soil or

groundwater contamination We are not aware of any such condition liability or concern by any other means that would give rise to

material uninsured environmental liability However the assessments may have failed to reveal all environmental conditions

liabilities or compliance concerns there may be material environmental conditions liabilities or compliance concerns that review

failed to detect or which arose at property after the review was completed future laws ordinances or regulations may impose

material additional environmental liability and current environmental conditions at our Properties may be affected in the future by

tenants thud patties oi the condition of laud or operations ncai out Pioperties such as the presence of underground storage tanks We
cannot be certain that costs of future environmental compliance will not affect our ability to make distributions to our shareholders

Use materials by some of our tenants Some of our tenants handle hazardous substances and wastes on our properties as

part of their routine operations Environmental laws and regulations may subject these tenants and potentially us to liability resulting

from such activities We generally require our tenants in their leases to comply with these environmental laws and regulations and to

indemnify us for any related hiabihitics These tenants are primarily involved in the life sciences and the light industrial and warehouse

businesses We are not aware of any material noncompliance liability or claim relating to hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum

products in connection with any of our Properties and we do not believe that on-going activities by our tenants will have material

adverse effect on our operations

Costs related to government regulation and private litigation over environmental matters Under environmental laws and regulations

we may be liable for the costs of removal remediation or disposal of hazardous or toxic substances present or released on our

Properties These laws could impose liability without regard to whether we are responsible for or knew of the presence or release of

the hazardous materials Government investigations and remediation actions may entail substantial costs and the presence or release of

hazardous substances on property could result in governmental cleanup actions or personal injury or similar claims by private

plaintiffs
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Potential environmental liabilities may exceed our environmental insurance coverage lin its We carry what we believe to be

sufficient environmental insurance to cover potential liability for soil and groundwater contamination mold impact and the presence

of asbestos-containing materials at the affected sites identified in our environmental site assessments Our insurance policies are

subject to conditions qualifications and limitations Therefore we cannot provide any assurance that our insurance coverage will be

sufficient to cover all liabilities for losses

Potential environmental liabilities may adversely impact our ability to use or sell assets The presence of contamination or the failure

to remediate contamination may impair our ability to sell or lease real estate or to borrow using the real estate as collateral

Other

We do not have any foreign operations and our business is not seasonal Our operations are not dependent on single tenant or few

tenants and no single tenant accounted for more than lO.Oo of our total 2010 revenue

Code of Conduct

We maintain Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to our Board and all of our officers and employees including our

principal executive officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer controller and persons performing similar

functions copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website www.brandywinerealty.com In addition to

being accessible through our website copies of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics can be obtained free of charge upon written

request to Investor Relations 555 East Lancaster Avenue Suite 100 Radnor PA 19087 Any amendments to or waivers of our Code

of Business Conduct and Ethics that apply to our principal executive officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer

controller and persons performing similar functions and that relate to any matter enumerated in Item 406b of Regulation S-K

promulgated by the SEC will be disclosed on our website

Corporate Governance Principles and Board Committee Charters

Our Corporate Governance Principles and the charters of the Executive Committee Audit Committee Compensation Committee and

Corporate Govemance Committee of the Board of Trustees of Brandywine Realty Trust and additional information regarding our

corporate govemance are available on our website www.brandywinerealty.com In addition to being accessible through our website

copies of our Corporate Govemance Principles and charters of our Board Committees can be obtained free of charge upon written

request to Investor Relations 555 Lancaster Avenue Suite 100 Radnor PA 19087

Availability of SEC Reports

We file annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form l0-Q and current reports on Form 8-K and other information with the

SEC Members of the public may read and copy materials that we file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100

Street N.E Washington D.C 20549 Members of the public may also obtain information on the Public Reference Room by calling

the SEC at 1-800-732-0330 The SEC also maintains an Intemet web site that contains reports proxy and information statements and

other information regarding issuers including us that file electronically with the SEC The address of that site is http//www.sec.gov

Our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form l0-Q and current reports on Form 8-K and other information filed by us

with the SEC are available without charge on our Internet web site http//www.brandywinerealty.com as soon as reasonably

practicable after they are filed electronically with the SEC Copies are also available free of charge upon written request to Investor

Relations Brandywine Realty Trust 555 East Lancaster Avenue Suite 100 Radnor PA 19087
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Item 1A Risk Factors

Our results from operations and ability to make distributions on our equity and to pay debt service on our indebtedness may be

affected by the risk factors set forth below All investors should consider the following risk factors before deciding to purchase our

securities

Adverse economic and geopolitical conditions could have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial condition

and our ability to pay distributions to you

Our business is affected by the continued uncertainty in the financial and credit markets the sluggish recovery in the global economy

from the recent recession and other market or economic challenges experienced by the U.S economy or the real estate industry as

whole While there are signs of
recovery

in the U.S economy the recovery rate has been much slower than anticipated Our portfolio

consists primarily of office buildings as compared to more diversified real estate portfolio if economic conditions persist or again

deteriorate then our results of operations financial condition financial results and ability to service current debt and to pay

distributions to our shareholders may be adversely affected by the following among other potential conditions

significant job losses in the financial and professional services industries may occur which may decrease demand for our

office space causing market rental rates and property values to be negatively impacted

our ability to borrow on terms and conditions that we find acceptable or at all may be limited which could reduce our ability

to complete development opportunities and refinance existing debt

reduce our retums from both our existing operations and our development activities and increase our future interest expense

reduced values of our properties may limit our ability to dispose of assets at attractive prices or to obtain debt financing secured

by our properties and may reduce the availability of unsecured loans

the value and liquidity of our short-term investments and cash deposits could be reduccd as result of deterioration of the

financial condition of the institutions that hold our cash deposits or the institutions or assets in which we have made short-term

investments the dislocation of the markets for our short-term investments increased volatility in market rates for such

investments or other factors

reduced liquidity in debt markets and increased credit risk premiums for certain market participants may impair our ability to

access capital and

one or more lenders under our line of credit could reftise or be unable to ftind their financing commitment to us and we may not

be able to replace the financing commitment of any such lenders on favorable terms or at all

These conditions which could have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial condition and ability to pay

distributions may continue or worsen in the future

Our performance is subject to risks associated with our properties and with the real estate industry

Our economic performance and the value of our real estate assets and consequently the value of our securities are subject to the risk

that if our properties do not generate revenues sufficient to meet our operating expenses including debt service and capital

expenditures our cash flow and ability to pay distributions to our shareholders will be adversely affected Events or conditions beyond

our control that may adversely affect our operations or the value of our properties include

downturns in the national regional and local economic climate including increases in the unemployment rate and inflation

competition from other office mixed use industrial and commercial buildings

local real estate market conditions such as oversupply or reduction in demand for office industrial or commercial space

changes in interest rates and availability of financing
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vacancies changes in market rental rates and the need to periodically repair renovate and re-lease space

increased operating costs including insurance expense utilities real estate taxes janitorial costs state and local taxes labor

shortages and heightened security costs

civil disturbances earthquakes and other natural disasters or terrorist acts or acts of war which may result in uninsured or

underinsured losses

significant expenditures associated with each investment such as debt service payments real estate taxes insurance and

maintenance costs which are generally not reduced when circumstances cause reduction in revenues from property and

declines in the financial condition of our tenants and our ability to collect rents from our tenants

The disruption in the debt capital markets could adversely aJfrct us

Notwithstanding the recent improvement in capital and credit markets these markets are still considered volatile and dismptions in

these markets are still possible In some cases the markets have produced downward pressure on stock prices and credit availability

for certain issuers without regard to those issuers underlying financial strength These events have an adverse effect on the

availability of credit the terms on which credit can be sourced and the overall cost of debt capital This could negatively affect us by

increasing our costs to finance our ongoing operations and fund our development and redevelopment activities

reducing the availability of potential bidders for and the amounts offered for any properties we may wish to sell and

preventing us from accessing necessary debt capital on timely basis leading us to consider potentially more dilutive capital

transactions such as undesirable sales of properties or equity securities

We may suffer adverse consequences due to the financial difficulties bankruptcy or insolvency ofour tenants

The current economic conditions have caused some of our tenants to experience financial difficulties If more of our tenants were to

continue to experience financial difficulties including bankruptcy insolvency or general downturn in their business there could be

an adverse effect on our financial performance and distributions to shareholders We cannot assure you that any tenant that files for

bankruptcy protection will continue to pay us rent bankruptcy filing by or relating to one of our tenants or lease guarantor would

bar efforts by us to collect pre-bankruptcy debts from that tenant or lease guarantor or its property unless we receive an order

permitting us to do so from the bankruptcy court In addition we cannot evict tenant solely because of bankruptcy The bankruptcy

of tenant or lease guarantor could delay our efforts to collect past due halances under the relevant leases and could ultimately

preclude collection of these sums If lease is assumed by the tenant in bankruptcy all pre-bankruptcy balances due under the lease

must be paid to us in full If however lease is rejected by tenant in bankruptcy we would have only general unsecured claim for

damages Any such unsecured claim would only be paid to the extent that funds are available and only in the same percentage as is

paid to all other holders of general unsecured claims Restrictions under the bankruptcy laws further limit the amount of
any

other

claims that we can make if lease is rejected As result it is likely that we would recover substantially less than the full value of the

reniaining rent during the term

The terms and covenants relating to our indebtedness could adversely impact our economic performance

Like other real estate companies which incur debt we are subject to risks associated with debt financing such as the insufficiency of

cash flow to meet tequired debt seivice payment obligations and the inability to iefinance existing indebtedness If our debt cannot be

paid refinanced or extended at maturity we may not be able to make distributions to shareholders at expected levels or at all

Furthermore an increase in our interest expense could adversely affect our cash flow and ability to make distributions to shareholders

If we do not meet our debt service obligations any properties securing such indebtedness could be foreclosed on which would have

material adverse effect on our cash flow and ability to make distributions and depending on the number of properties foreclosed on
could threaten our continued viability

Our Credit Facility term loan and the indenturc governing our unsecured public debt securities contain and any new or amended

facility will contain restrictions requirements and other limitations on our ability to incur indebtedness including total debt to asset

ratios secured debt to total asset ratios debt service coverage ratios and minimum ratios of unencumbered assets to unsecured dcht
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which we must maintain Our ability to borrow under our credit facilities is subject to compliance with such financial and other

covenants In the event that we fail to satis these covenants we would be in default under the credit facilities the term loan and the

indenture and may be required to repay
such debt with capital from other sources Under such circumstances other sources of capital

may not be available to us or may be available only on unattractive terms In addition the mortgages on our properties contain

customary covenants such as those that limit our ability without the prior consent of the lender to fhrther mortgage the applicable

property or to discontinue insurance coverage If we breach covenants in our secured debt agreements the lenders can declare

default and take possession of the property securing the defaulted loan

Increases in interest rates on variable rate indebtedness will increase our interest expense which could adversely affect our cash flow

and ability to make distributions to shareholders Rising interest rates could also restrict our ability to refinance existing debt when it

matures In addition an increase in interest rates could decrease the amounts that third parties are willing to pay for our assets thereby

limiting our ability to alter our portfolio promptly in relation to economic or other conditions We entered into and may from time to

time enter into agreements such as interest rate hedges swaps floors caps and other interest rate hedging contracts with respect to

portion of our variable rate debt Although these agreements may lessen the impact of rising interest rates on us they also
expose us to

the risk that other parties to the agreements will not perform or that we cannot enforce the agreements

Our degree of leverage could limit our ability to obtain additional financing or affrct the market price of our equity shares or debt

securities

Our degree of leverage could affect our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital expenditures development

acquisitions or other general corporate purposes In the event that our unsecured debt is downgraded by Moodys Investor Services or

Standard Poors from the current ratings we would likely incur higher borrowing costs and the market prices of our common shares

and debt securities might decline Our degree of leverage could also make us more vulnerable to downtum in business or the

economy in general

We may experience increased operating costs which might reduce our profitability

Our properties are subject to increases in operating expenses such as for cleaning electricity heating ventilation and air conditioning

administrative costs and other costs associated with security landscaping and repairs and maintenance of our properties In general

under our leases with tenants we pass through all or portion of these costs to them We cannot assure you however that tenants will

actually bear the frill burden of these higher costs or that such increased costs will not lead them or other prospective tenants to seek

office space elsewhere If operating expenses increase the availability of other comparable office space in our core geographic

markets might limit our ability to increase rents if operating expenses increase without corresponding increase in revenues our

profitability could diminish and limit our ability to make distributions to shareholders

Our investment in property development or redevelopment may be more costly or djfficult to complete than we anticipate

We intend to continue to develop properties where market conditions warrant such investment Once made these investments may not

produce results in accordance with our expectations Risks associated with our development and construction activities include

the unavailability of favorable financing altematives in the private and public debt markets

having sufficient capital to pay development costs

unprecedented market volatility in the share price of REITs

dependence on the financial services sector as part of oai tenant base

construction costs exceeding original estimates due to rising interest rates diminished availability of materials and labor and

increases in the costs of materials and labor

construction and lease-up delays resulting in increased debt service fixed
expenses

and construction or renovation costs

expenditure of funds and devotion of managements time to projects that we do not complete

the unavailability or scarcity of utilities
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occupancy rates and rents at newly completed properties may fluctuate depending on number of factors including market and

economic conditions resulting in lower than projected rental rates and corresponding lower return on our investment

complications including building moratoriums and anti-growth legislation in obtaining necessary zoning occupancy and

other governmental permits and

increased use restrictions by local zoning or planning authorities limiting our ability to develop and impacting the size of

developments

We face risks associated with property acquisitions

We have recently acquired properties and may in the ftiture continue to acquire properties and portfolios of properties including

large portfolios that would increase our size and potentially alter our capital structure Although we believe that the acquisitions that

we have completed and that we expect to undertake in the future have and will enhance our fithire financial performance the success

of such transactions is subject to number of factors including the risks that

we may not be able to obtain financing for acquisitions on favorable terms

acquired properties may fail to perform as expected

the actual costs of repositioning or redeveloping acquired properties may be higher than our estimates

acquired properties may be located in new markets where we may have limited knowledge and understanding of the local

economy an absence of business relationships in the area or unfamiliarity with local govemmental and permitting procedures

and

we may not be able to efficiently integrate acquired properties particularly portfolios of properties into our organization and

manage ew properties in way that allows us to realize cost savings and synergies

We acquired in the past and in the ftuture may acquire properties or portfolios of properties through tax deferred contribution

transactions in exchange for partnership interests in our Operating Partnership This acquisition structure has the effect among other

factors of reducing the amount of tax depreciation we can deduct over the tax life of the acquired properties and typically requires

that we agree to protect the contributors ability to defer recognition of taxable gain through restrictions on our ability to dispose of the

acquired properties and/or the allocation of partnership debt to the contributors to maintain their tax bases These restrictions on

dispositions could limit our ability to sell an asset or pay down partnership debt during specified time or on terms that would be

favorable absent such restrictions

Acquired properties nay subject its to known and unknown liabilities

Properties that we acquire may be subject to known and unknown liabilities for which we would have no recourse or only limited

recourse to the former owners of such properties As result if liability were asserted against us based upon ownership of an

acquired property we might be required to pay significant sums to settle it which could adversely affect our financial results and cash

flow Unknown liabilities relating to acquired properties could include

liabilities for clean-up of pre-existing disclosed or undisclosed environmental contamination

claims by tenants vendors or other persons arising on account of actions or omissions of the former owners of the properties

and

liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business
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We have agreed not to sell certain of our properties and to maintain indebtedness subject to guarantees

We agreed not to sell some of our properties for varying periods of time in transactions that would trigger taxable income to the

former owners and we may enter into similar arrangements as part of future property acquisitions These agreements generally

provide that we may dispose of the subject properties only in transactions that qualif5v as tax-free exchanges under Section 1031 of the

Internal Revenue Code or in other tax deferred transactions Such transactions can be difficult to complete and can result in the

property acquired in exchange for the disposed of property inheriting the tax attributes including tax protection covenants of the sold

property Violation of these tax protection agreements would impose significant costs on us As result we are restricted with respect

to decisions related to financing encumbering expanding or selling these properties

We have also entered into agreements that provide prior owners of properties with the right to guarantee specific amounts of

indebtedness and in the event that the specific indebtedness that they guarantee is repaid or reduced we would be required to provide

substitute indebtedness for them to guarantee These agreements may hinder actions that we may otherwise desire to take to repay or

refinance guaranteed indebtedness because we would be required to make payments to the beneficiaries of such agreements if we

violate these agreements

We may be unable to renew leases or re-lease space as leases expire certain leases may expire early

If tenants do not renew their leases upon expiration we may be unable to re-lease the space Even if the tenants do renew their leases

or if we can re-lease the space the terms of renewal or re-leasing including the cost of required renovations may be less favorable

than the current lease terms Certain leases grant the tenants an early termination right upon payment of termination penalty or if we

fail to comply with certain material lease terms Our inability to renew or release spaces and the early termination of certain leases

could affect our ability to make distributions to shareholders

We face significant competition from other real estate developers

We compete with real estate developers operators and institutions for tenants and acquisition and development opportunities Some of

these competitors may have significantly greater financial resources than we have Such competition may reduce the number of

suitable investment opportunities available to us may interfere with our ability to attract and retain tenants and may increase

vacancies which could result in increased supply and lower market rental rates reducing our bargaining leverage and adversely affect

our ability to improve our operating leverage In addition some of our competitors may be willing e.g because their properties may
have vacancy rates higher than those for our properties to make space available at lower rental rates or with higher tenant concession

percentages than available space in our properties We cannot assure you that this competition will not adversely affect our cash flow

and our ability to make distributions to shareholders

Property ownership through joint ventures may limit our ability to act exclusively in our interest

We develop and acquire properties in joint ventures with other persons or entities when we believe circumstances warrant the use of

such structures As of December 31 2010 we had investments in 17 unconsolidated real estate ventures Our net investments in the

17 unconsolidated real estate ventures aggregated approximately $84.4 million as of December 31 2010 We could become engaged

in dispute with one or more of our joint venture partners that might affect our ability to operate jointly-owned property Moreover

our joint venture partners may at any time have business economic or other objectives that are inconsistent with our objectives

including objectives that relate to the appropriate timing and terms of any sale or refinancing of property In some instances our

joint venture partners may have competing interests in our markets that could create conflicts of interest If the objectives of our joint

venture partners or the lenders to our joint ventures are inconsistent with our own objectives we may not be able to act exclusively in

our interests Furthermore if the current constrained credit conditions in the capital markets persist or deteriorate further the value of

our investments could deteriorate and we could be required to reduce the carrying value of our equity method investments if loss in

the carrying value of the investment is other than temporary decline pursuant to the accounting standard governing the equity

method of accounting for investments in common stock

Because real estate is illiquid we may not be able to sell properties when appropriate

Real estate investments generally and in particular large office and industrial/flex properties like those that we own often cannot be

sold quickly The capitalization rates at which properties may be sold are generally higher than historic rates thereby reducing our

potential proceeds from sale Consequently we may not be able to alter our portfolio promptly in response to changes in economic or

other conditions In addition the Internal Revenue Code limits our ability to sell properties that we have held for fewer than four ycars
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without potential adverse consequences to our shareholders Furthermore properties that we have developed and have owned for

significant period of time or that we acquired in exchange for partnership interests in our operating partnership often have low tax

basis If we were to dispose of any of these properties in taxable transaction we may be required under provisions of the Internal

Revenue Code applicable to REITs to distribute significant amount of the taxable gain to our shareholders and this could in turn

impact our cash flow In some cases tax protection agreements with third parties will prevent us from selling certain properties in

taxable transaction without incurring substantial costs In addition purchase options and rights of first reftisal held by tenants or

partners in joint ventures may also limit our ability to sell certain properties All of these factors reduce our ability to respond to

changes in the performance of our investments and could adversely affect our cash flow and ability to make distributions to

shareholders as well as the ability of someone to purchase us even if purchase were in our shareholders best interests

Some potential losses are not covered by insurance

We currently cany comprehensive all-risk property and rental loss insurance and commercial general liability coverage on all of

our properties We believe the policy specifications and insured limits of these policies are adequate and appropriate There are

however types of losses such as lease and other contract claims biological radiological and nuclear hazards and acts of war that

generally are nor insured We cannot assure you that we will be able to renew insurance coverage in an adequate amount or at

reasonable prices In addition insurance companies may no longer offer coverage against certain types of losses such as losses due to

earthquake terrorist acts and mold or if offered these types of insurance may be prohibitively expensive Should an uninsured loss or

loss in excess of insured limits occur we could lose all or portion of the capital we have invested in property as well as the

anticipated future revenue from the property In such an event we might nevertheless remain obligated for any mortgage debt or other

financial obligations related to the property We cannot assure you that material losses in excess of insurance proceeds will not occur

in the future If any of our properties were to experience catastrophic loss it could seriously disrupt our operations delay revenue

and result in large expenses to repair or rebuild the property Such events could adversely affect our cash flow and ability to make

distributions to shareholders If one or more of our insurance providers were to fail to pay claim as result of insolvency bankrnptcy

or otherwise the nonpayment of such claims could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations In

addition if one or more of our insurance providers were to become subject to insolvency bankruptcy or other proceedings and our

insurance policies with the provider were terminated or cancelled as result of those proceedings we cannot guarantee that we would

be able to find alternative coverage in adequate amounts or at reasonable prices In such case we could experience lapse in
any or

adequate insurance coverage with respect to one or more properties and be exposed to potential losses relating to any claims that may
arise during such period of lapsed or inadequate coverage

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may adversely impact our peiformance and may affect the markets on which

our securities are traded

Terrorist attacks against our properties or against the United States or our interests may negatively impact our operations and the

value of our securities Attacks or armed conflicts could result in increased operating costs for example it might cost more in the

future for building security property and casualty insurance and property maintenance As result of terrorist activities and other

market conditions the cost of insurance coverage
for our properties could also increase We niiglil not he able to

pass through the

increased costs associated with such increased security measures and insurance to our tenants which could reduce our profitability

and cash flow Furthermore any terrorist attacks or armed conflicts could result in increased volatility in or damage to the United

States and worldwide financial markets and economy Such adverse economic conditions could affect the ability of our tenants to pay

rent and our cost of capital which could have negative impact on our results

Our ability to make distributions is subject to various risks

Historically we have paid quarterly distributions to our shareholders Our ability to make distributions in the future will depend upon

the operational and financial performance of our properties

capital expenditures with respect to existing developed and newly acquired properties

general and administrative costs associated with our operation as publicly-held REIT

the amount of and the interest rates on our debt and

the absence of significant expenditures relating to environmental and other regulatory mattcrs
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Certain of these matters are beyond our control and any significant difference between our expectations and actual results could have

material adverse effect on our cash flow and our ability to make distributions to shareholders

Changes in the law nay adversely affect our cash flow

Because increases in income and service taxes are generally not passed through to tenants under leases such increases may adversely

affect our cash flow and ability to make expected distributions to shareholders Our properties are also subject to various regulatory

requirements such as those relating to the environment fire and safety Our failure to comply with these requirements could result in

the imposition of fines and damage awards and could result in default under some of our tenant leases Moreover the costs to

comply with any new or different regulations could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to make distributions Although we

believe that our properties are in material compliance with all such requirements we cannot assure you that these requirements will

not change or that newly imposed requirements will not require significant expenditures in order to be compliant

Potential liability for environmental contamination could result in substantial costs

Under various federal state and local laws ordinances and regulations we may be liable for the costs to investigate and remove or

remediate hazardous or toxic substances on or in our properties often regardless of whether we know of or are responsible for the

presence of these substances These costs may be substantial While we do maintain environmental insurance we can not be assured

that our insurance
coverage

will be sufficient to protect us from all of the aforesaid remediation costs Also if hazardous or toxic

substances are present on property or if we fail to properly remediate such substances our ability to sell or rent the property or to

borrow using that property as collateral may be adversely affected

Other laws and regulations govern indoor and outdoor air quality including those that can require the abatement or removal of

asbestos-containing materials in the event of damage demolition renovation or remodeling and also govern emissions of and

exposure to asbestos fibers in the air The maintenance and removal of lead paint and certain electrical equipment containing

polychlorinated biphenyls PCB5 and underground storage tanks are also regulated by federal and state laws We are also subject to

risks associated with human exposure to chemical or biological contaminants such as molds pollens viruses and bacteria which
above certain levels can be alleged to be connected to allergic or other health effects and symptoms in susceptible individuals We
could incur fines for environmental compliance and be held liable for the costs of remedial action with respect to the foregoing

regulated substances or tanks or related claims arising out of environmental contamination or human
exposure to contamination at or

from our properties

Additionally we develop manage lease and/or operate various properties for third parties Consequently we may be considered to

have been or to be an operator of these properties and therefore potentially liable for removal or remediation costs or other potential

costs that could relate to hazardous or toxic substances

An earthquake or other natural disasters could adversely affect our business

Some of our properties are located in California which is high risk geographical area for earthquakes or other natural disasters

Depending upon its magnitude an earthquake could severely damage our properties which would adversely affect our business We
maintain earthquake insurance for our California properties and the resulting business interruption We cannot assure you that our

insurance will be sufficient if there is major earthquake

Americans with Disabilities Act compliance could be costly

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 as amended ADA requires that all public accommodations and commercial

facilities including office buildings meet certain federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons Compliance with

ADA requirements could involve the removal of structural barriers from certain disabled persons entrances which could adversely

affect our financial condition and results of operations Other federal state and local laws may require modifications to or restrict

ftirther renovations of our properties with respect to such accesses Although we believe that our properties are in material compliance

with present requirements noncompliance with the ADA or similar or related laws or regulations could result in the United States

government imposing fines or private litigants being awarded damages against us In addition changes to existing requirements or

enactments of new requirements could require significant expenditures Such costs may adversely affect our cash flow and ability to

make distributions to shareholders
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Our status as REIT or any of our REIT subsidiaries is dependent on compliance with federal income tax requirements

If we or any of our REIT subsidiaries fail to qualify as REIT we or the affected REIT subsidiaries would be subject to federal

income tax at regular corporate rates Also unless the IRS granted us or our affected REIT subsidiaries as the case may be relief

under certain statutory provisions we or it would remain disqualified as REIT for four years following the year it first failed to

qualify If we or any of our REIT subsidiaries fails to qualify as REIT we or they would be required to pay significant income taxes

and would therefore have less money available for investments or for distributions to shareholders This would likely have material

adverse effect on the value of the combined companys securities In addition we or our affected REIT subsidiaries would no longer

be required to make any distributions to shareholders

Failure of the Operating Partnership or subsidiary partnership to be treated as partnership would have serious adverse

consequences to our shareholders If the IRS were to successfully challenge the tax status of the Operating Partnership or any of its

subsidiary partnerships for federal income tax purposes the Operating Partnership or the affected subsidiary partnership would be

taxable as corporation In such event we would cease to qualify as REIT and the imposition of corporate tax on the Operating

Partnership or subsidiary partnership would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution from the Operating Partnership to us

and ultimately to our shareholders

Even if we qualify as REIT we will be required to pay certain federal state and local taxes on our income and properties In

addition our taxable REIT subsidiaries will be subject to federal state and local income tax at regular corporate rates on their net

taxable income derived from management leasing and related service business If we have net income from prohibited transaction

such income will be subject to 100% tax

Failure to qualj/J as REIT would subject us to U.S federal income tax which would reduce the cash available for distribution to

our shareholders

We operate our business to qualify to be taxed as REIT for federal income tax purposes We have not requested and do not plan to

request ruling from the IRS that we qualify as REF and the statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not binding on the

IRS or any court As REIT we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on the income that we distribute currently to our

shareholders Many of the REIT requirements however are highly technical and complex The determination that we are REIT

requires an analysis of various factual matters and circumstances that may not be totally within our control For example to qualify as

REIT at least 95% of our gross income must come from specific passive sources such as rent that are itemized in the REIT tax

laws In addition to qualify as REIT we cannot own specified amounts of debt and equity securities of some issuers We also are

required to distribute to our shareholders with respect to each year at least 90% of our REIT taxable income excluding net capital

gains The fact that we hold substantially all of our assets through the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries further complicates

the application of the REIT requirements for us Even technical or inadvertent mistake could jeopardize our REIT status and given

the highly complex nature of the rules goveming REITs and the ongoing importance of factual determinations we cannot provide any

assurance that we will continue to qualify as REIT Furthermore Congress and the IRS might make changes to the tax laws and

iegulations and the uouits might issue new rulings that make it moxe difficult or impossible for us to remain qualified as REIT If

we fail to qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes and are able to avail ourselves of one or more of the statutory savings

provisions in order to maintain our REIT status we would nevertheless be required to pay penalty taxes of $50000 or more for each

such failure

If we fail to qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes and are unable to avail ourselves of certain savings provisions set forth

in the Intemal Revenue Code we would be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates on all of our income As taxable

corporation we would not be allowed to take deduction for distributions to shareholders in computing our taxable income or pass

through long term capital gains to individual shareholders at favorable rates We also could be subject to the federal altemative

minimum tax and possibly increased state and local taxes We would not be able to elect to be taxed as REIT for four years

following the year we first failed to qualify unless the IRS were to grant us relief under certain statutory provisions If we failed to

qualify as REIT we would have to pay significant income taxes which would reduce our net eamings available for investment or

distribution to our shareholders This likely would have significant adverse effect on our eamings and likely would adversely affect

the value of our securities In addition we would no longer be required to pay any distributions to shareholders

Failure of the Operating Partnership or subsidiary partnership to be treated as partnership would have serious adverse

consequences to our shareholders If the IRS were to successfully challenge the tax status of the Operating Partnership or any of its

subsidiary partnerships for federal income tax purposes the Operating Partnership or the affected subsidiary partnership would be

taxable as corporation In such event we would cease to qualify as REIT and the imposition of corporate tax on the Operating

Partnership or subsidiary partnership would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution from the Operating Partnership to us

and ultimately to our shareholders
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To maintain our REIT status we may be forced to borrow funds on short term basis during unfavorable market conditions

As REIT we are subject to certain distribution requirements including the requirement to distribute 900o of our REIT taxable

income that may result in our having to make distributions at disadvantageous time or to borrow ffinds at unfavorable rates

Compliance with this requirement may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits

We will pay some taxes even ifwe qualify as REIT which will reduce the cash available for distribution to our shareholders

Even if we qualif as REIT for federal income tax purposes we will be required to pay certain federal state and local taxes on our

income and property For example we will be subject to income tax to the extent we distribute less than 100o of our REIT taxable

income including capital gains Additionally we will be subject to nondeductible excise tax on the amount if any by which

dividends paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85 of our ordinary income 9500 of our capital gain net income

and 100c of our undistributed income from prior years Moreover if we have net income from prohibited transactions that income

will be subject to lOO0o penalty tax In general prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of property held primarily for

sale to customers in the ordinary course of business The determination as to whether particular sale is prohibited transaction

depends on the facts and circumstances related to that sale We cannot guarantee that sales of our properties would not be prohibited

transactions unless we comply with certain statutory safe-harbor provisions

In addition any net taxable income eamed directly by our taxable REIT subsidiaries or through entities that are disregarded for

federal income tax purposes as entities separate from our taxable REIT subsidiaries will be subject to federal and possibly state

corporate income tax In this regard several provisions of the laws applicable to REITs and their subsidiaries ensure that taxable

REIT subsidiary will be subject to an appropriate level of federal income taxation For example taxable REIT subsidiary is limited

in its ability to deduct certain interest payments made to an affiliated REIT In addition the REIT has to pay l00o penalty tax on

some payments that it receives or on some deductions taken by taxable REIT subsidiary if the economic arrangements between the

REIT the REITs customers and the taxable REIT subsidiary are not comparable to similararrangements between unrelated parties

Finally some state and local jurisdictions may tax some of our income even though as HEll we are not subject to federal income tax

on that income because not all states and localities follow the federal income tax treatment of REITs To the extent that we and our

affiliates are required to pay federal state and local taxes we will have less cash available for distributions to our shareholders

We face possible federal state and local tax audits

Because we are organized and qualify as REIT we are generally not subject to federal income taxes but are subject to certain state

and local taxes Certain entities through which we own real estate either have undergone or are currently undergoing tax audits

Although we believe that we have substantial arguments in favor of our positions in the ongoing audits in some instances there is no

controlling precedent or interpretive guidance on the specific point at issue There can be no assurance that these or future audits will

not have material adverse effect on our results of operations The Operating Partnership has been audited by the Internal Revenue

Service for its 2004 tax year The audit concerns the tax treatment of transaction in September 2004 in which we acquired

portfolio of properties through the acquisition of limited partnership On December 17 2010 the IRS proposed an adjustment to the

allocation of recourse liabilities allocated to the contributor of the properties The Operating Partnership intends to appeal the

proposed adjustment The proposed adjustment if upheld would not result in material tax liability for us However an adjustment

could raise question as to whether contributor of partnership interests in the 2004 transaction could assert claim against us under

the tax protection agreement entered into as part of the transaction

Comnpetition for skilled personnel could increase labor costs

We compete with various other companies in attracting and retaining qualified and skilled personnel We depend on our ability to

attract and retain skilled management personnel who are responsible for the day-to-day operations of our company Competitive

pressures may require that we enhance our pay and benefits package to compete effectively for such personnel We may not be able to

offset such added costs by increasing the rates we charge our tenants If there is an increase in these costs or if we fail to attract and

retain qualified and skilled personnel our business and operating results could be harmed

We are dependent upon our key personnel

We are dependent upon our key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed We are dependent on our executi\ officers for

strategic business direction and real estate experience Loss of their services could adversely affect our operations
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Although we have an employment agreement with Gerard Sweeney our President and Chief Executive Officer this agreement

does not restrict his ability to become employed by competitor following the termination of his employment We do not have key

man life insurance coverage on our exccutive officers

Certain limitations will exist wit/i respect to third party ability to acquire us or effe cUt ate change in control

Limitations imposed to protect our REIT status In order to protect us against the loss of our REIT status our Declaration of Trust

limits any shareholder from owning more than 9.8 in value of our outstanding shares subject to certain exceptions The ownership

limit may have the effect of precluding acquisition of control of us If anyone acquires shares in excess of the ownership limit we

may

consider the transfer to be null and void

not reflect the transaction on our books

institute legal action to stop the transaction

not pay dividends or other distributions with respect to those shares

not recognize any voting rights for those shares and

consider the shares held in trust for the benefit of person to whom such shares may be transferred

Limitation due to our ability to issue preferred shores Our Declaration of Tmst authorizes our Board of Trustees to cause us to issue

preferred shares without limitation as to amount and without shareholder consent Our Board of Trustees is able to establish the

preferences and rights of any preferred shares issued and these shares could have the effect of delaying or preventing someone from

taking control of us even if change in control were in our shareholders best interests

Limitation imposed by the Maryland Business Combination Law The Maryland General Corporation Law as applicable to Maryland

REITs establishes special restrictions against business combinations between Maryland REIT and interested shareholders or

their affiliates unless an exemption is applicable An interested shareholder includes person who beneficially owns and an affiliate

or associate of the trust who at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question was the beneficial owner of ten

percent or more of the voting power of our then-outstanding voting shares Among other things Maryland law prohibits for period

of five years merger and certain other transactions between Maryland REIT and an interested shareholder unless the board of

trustees had approved the transaction before the party became an interested shareholder The five-year period runs from the most

recent date on which the interested shareholder became an interested shareholder Thereafier any such business combination must be

recommended by the hoard of trustees and approved by two super-majority shareholder votes unless among nther conditions the

common shareholders receive minimum price for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as

previously paid by the interested shareholder for our shares or unless the board of trustees approved the transaction before the party in

question became an interested shareholder The business combination statute could have the effect of discouraging offers to acquire us

and of increasing the difficulty of consummating any such offers even if the acquisition would be in our shareholders best interests

Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act Maryland law provides that control shares of REIT acquired in control share

acquisition shall have no voting rights except to the extent approved by vote of two-thirds of the vote eligible to be cast on the

matter under the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act Control Shares means shares that if aggregated with all other shares

previously acquired by the acquirer or in respect of which the acquirer is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power except

solely by virtue of revocable proxy would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing trustees within one of the

following ranges of voting power one-tenth or mote but less than one-tlurd one-third om mote but less than majority or majority or

more of all voting power Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as result of having

previously obtained shareholder approval control share acquisition means the acquisition of control shares subject to certain

exceptions If voting rights or control shares acquired in control share acquisition are not approved at shareholders meeting then

subject to certain conditions and limitations the issuer may redeem any or all of the control shares for fair value If voting rights of

such control shares are approved at shareholders meeting and the acquirer becomes entitled to vote majority of the shares entitled

to vote all other shareholders may exercise appraisal rights Any control shares acquired in control share acquisition which are not

exempt under our Bylaws are subject to the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act Our Bylaws contain provision exempting from
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the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions by any person of our shares We cannot assure you that this provision will

not be amended or eliminated at any time in the future

Advance Notice Provisions for Shareholder Nominations and Proposals Our bylaws require advance notice for shareholders to

nominate persons for election as trustees at or to bring other business before any meeting of our shareholders This bylaw provision

limits the ability of shareholders to make nominations of persons for election as trustees or to introduce other proposals unless we are

notified in timely manner prior to the meeting

Many factors can have an adverse effect on the market value of our securities

number of factors might adversely affect the price of our securities many of which are beyond our control These factors include

increases in market interest rates relative to the dividend yield on our shares If market interest rates go up prospective

purchasers of our securities may require higher yield Higher market interest rates would not however result in more funds

for us to distribute and to the contrary would likely increase our borrowing costs and potentially decrease funds available for

distribution Thus higher market interest rates could cause the market price of our common shares to go down

anticipated benefit of an investment in our securities as compared to investment in securities of companies in other industries

including benefits associated with tax treatment of dividends and distributions

perception by market professionals of REITs generally and REITs comparable to us in particular

level of institutional investor interest in our securities

relatively low trading volumes in securities of REITs

our results of operations and financial condition and

investor confidence in the stock market generally

The market value of our common shares is based primarily upon the markets perception of our growth potential and our current and

potential future eamings and cash distributions Consequently our common shares may trade at prices that are higher or lower than

our net asset value
per common share If our future earnings or cash distributions are less than expected it is likely that the market

price of our common shares will diminish

Additional issuances of equity securities may be dilutive to shareholders

The interests of our shareholders could be diluted if we issue additional equity securities to finance future developments or

acquisitions or to repay indebtedness Our Board of Trustees may authorize the issuance of additional equity securities without

shareholder approval Our ability to execute our business strategy depends upon our access to an appropriate blend of debt financing

including unsecured lines of credit and other forms of secured and unsecured debt and equity financing including the issuance of

common and preferred equity

The Lcsuance ofpreferred securities may adversely affect the rights oJholders of our common shares

Because our Board of Trustees has the power to establish the preferences and rights of each class or series of preferred shares we may
afford the holders in any series or class of preferred shares preferences distributions powers and rights voting or otherwise senior to

the rights of holders of common shares Our Board of Trustees also has the power to establish the preferences and rights of each class

or series of units in Brandywine Operating Partnership and may afford the holders in any series or class of preferred units preferences

distributions powers and rights voting or otherwise senior to the rights of holders of common units

The acquisition of new properties or the development of new properties which lack operating hictory with us may give rise to

difficulties inpredicting revenue potential

We may continue to acquire additional properties and may seek to develop our existing land holdings strategically as warranted by

market conditions These acquisitions and developments could fail to perform in accordance with expectations If we fail to accurately
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estimate occupancy levels operating costs or costs of improvements to bring an acquired property or development property up to the

standards established for our intended market position the performance of the property may be below expectations Acquired

properties may have characteristics or deficiencies affecting their valuation or revenue potential that we have not yet discovered We
cannot assure you that the performance of properties acquired or developed by us will increase or be maintained under our

management

Our performance is dependent upon the economic conditions of the markets in which our properties are located

Our properties are located in Pennsylvania New Jersey Delaware Maryland Virginia Texas and Califomia Like other real estate

markets these commercial real estate markets have been impacted by the sluggish economic recovery from the recent recession and

any adverse changes in economic conditions in the future in any of these economies or real estate markets could negatively affect cash

available for distribution Our financial perfonTlance and ability to make distributions to our shareholders will be particularly sensitive

to the economic conditions in these markets The local economic climate which may be adversely impacted by business layoffs or

downsizing industry slowdowns changing demographics and other factors and local real estate conditions such as oversupply of or

reduced demand for office industrial and other competing commercial properties may affect revenues and the value of properties

including properties to be acquired or developed We cannot assure you that these local economies will grow in the fttture

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Property Acquisitions

On December 29 2010 we acquired 12-acre parcel of land in Gibbsboro New Jersey through the foreclosure of note receivable

amounting to $2.8 million under which the said property was encumbered and payment of transaction related costs of $0.3 million

The parcel of land is held for future development

On August 2010 we acquired Three Logan Square in Philadelphia together with related ground tenancy rights under long-term

ground lease from BAT Partners L.P third party unaffiliated with us Three Logan Square contains approximately 1.0 million of

net rentable square feet and is currently 67.2o leased We acquired Three Logan Square for approximately $129.0 million funded

through combination of $51.2 million in cash and 7111112 Class 2010 units The Class 2010 units do not accrue

dividend and are not entitled to income or loss allocations prior to August 2011 We funded the cash portion of the acquisition price

through an advance under the Credit Facility and with available corporate funds

Development and Redevelopment Properties Placed in Service

We placed in service the following office properties during the year ended December 31 2010

Month Placed of Rentable

in Service Propeity Portfolio Name Location nuildmgs Square Feet

Aug 10 tRS Philadelphia Campus Philadelphia PA 862692

Aug 10 Cira South Garage Philadelphia PA 553421

Api 10 Radnor Corporate Center Radnor PA 201980

Jan 10 300 nelaware Avenue Wilmington nL 298071

Total Properties Placed in Service 1916164

As of December 2010 two of our properties located in King of Prussia Pennsylvania were undergoing demolition and the

remaining land balances have been presented as land inventory in our consolidated balance sheets We have determined that there was

change in the estimated useful lives of the buildings resulting from the ongoing demolition causing an acceleration of depreciation

expense During ycar
ended December 31 2010 we recognized the remaining net book value of the two buildings aggregating to $2.7

million as depreciation with the land amounts of $1.1 million being reclassified to land inventory for potential future development

All related demolition costs are charged to earnings
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Property Sales

We sold the following office properties during the year ended December 31 2010

Month of of Rentable Square Occupancy Sales

Sale
Property/Portfolio

Name Location Bldgs Feet Acres at Oatc of Sale Price

in 000s

One and Two Grccntrce Centre 8000 Lincoln

0cc 10 Drive and Lake Center IV Marlton NJ 243195 76.lo 20915

Nov 10 Spyglass Point Austin TX 58576 l00.0o 13472

Sep-10 630 Clark Avenue King of Pmssia PA 50000 l00.0o 3610

Aug-10 479 Thomas Jones Way Lxton PA 49264 6J.0o 3780

Jan 10 1957 Westmoreland Plaza Richmond VA 121815 0.0o 10780

Total Office Properties Sold 522850 52557

Properties

As of December 31 2010 we owned 208 office properties 20 industrial facilities and four mixed-use properties that contain an

aggregate of approximately 25.6 million net rentable square feet The properties are located in or near Philadelphia Pennsylvania

Metropolitan Washington D.C Southern and Central New Jersey Richmond Virginia Wilmington Delaware Austin Texas and

Oakland Concord Carlsbad and Rancbo Bernardo Califomia As of December 31 2010 the Properties were approximately 85.6%

occupied by 1368 tenants and had an average age
of approximately 18.2 years The office properties are primarily suburban office

buildings containing an average of approximately 0.1 million net rentable square feet The industrial and mixed-use properties

accommodate variety of tenant uses including light manufacturing assembly distribution and warehousing We carry

comprehensive liability fire extended coverage and rental loss insurance covering all of the properties with policy specifications and

insured limits which we believe are adequate

As of December 31 2010 we were proceeding on one garage redevelopment with total projected costs of $14.8 million of which $0.8

million rcmained to be funded The
garage redevelopment project is expected to be completed in or around the fourth quarter of 2011

The following table sets forth information with respect to our core properties at December 31 2010
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PENNSYLVANIA SUBURBS SEGMENt

Average

Total Base Rent Annualized

Net Percottag ter the rwetse Rental Rate

Rentable Le ised as of Meeths End as ot

Square December 3t December 31 December 31
Feet 010 010b 000s 010tkeeertv Name

Yeur

Bnittl

Location State Renoveted

tDO Radner Chester Reed Radner PA 983 3406 992 97v 941

201 King of Prussa Read Radnur PA 2001 81434 tOO 0cc 6045 28.97

See Lancaster Avenne Radnor PA 973 241778 99.0c 890 789

Dne Radnet Corporate Center Radner PA 1998 201980 908Cc Oed 89

401 Ptynconth Read Pymonth Meeting PA 2001 20t883 79 9c v.087 33.30

tOt West Etnu Street Censheheckne PA 999 175009 95 3740 2061

Foer Radnnr Corporate Center Radner PA t99e 164723 90.7Cc 507 2e.60

Five Rednor Cerporate Center Radner PA 1998 164655 tOO Oec 4636 30 45

7e 761 Fifth Avenne King Df Prussia PA t967 178000 tOO 0cc e74 64

630 Allendulc Read King of Prussa PA 2000 teo000 76.0cc 3198 3.30

6401 recdnm Dnsness Center Kng Df Prussia PA t99t 32000 878cc 09 2423

hsvedesford Squire hast Whitetand Tsvp PA 988 3107 0.0cc 193

400 Bersvyn Park Bersvyn PA 999 24182 00 Oec 3049 961

4000 Chemical Read Plymouth Meeting PA 2007 20877 00.0cc 244 7.47

Three Radner Corporate Center Rudnor PA 998 19107 82 3cc .504 29

101 Lindensvood Drive Matvern PA 988 118 21 63 cc .186

300 Bnrsvyn Park Bercvyn PA 989 tOb.038 87.8c 38e 91

442 Creamery Way Ectnn PA 991 04700 00 Occ e95 5.71

Two Radnor Corporate Ccntcr Radnor PA 998 97936 e8.9e .272 24 lv

301 Lindensvoed Drive Matvern PA 984 97 615 87 109 07

West Flue Street Cnnshehucknn PA 1999 97737 00 0cc 76 27

eSe Cioton Road King of Prussia PA 1999 96909 90 .34 3054

cOO North Oniph Read King Of Prussia pa 979 9308 $43c .490 8.70

60 West Oernantusvn Pike Plynuonth Meeting PA 1990 90183 86 8c l44 .35

810 West Gene intecvn Pike Plynceuth Meetin PA 957 90 152 790 438

630 West iernuantesvn Pike Plymouth Meeting PA 958 h9 92 97 040 2791

cOO Wcsc iernuantecvn Pike Plyneinth Mcetnig 1386 83.681 53 21

630 reedum Business Center Kin8 01 Prnssia PA 1989 86685 768c .23 21.43

00 Swedesford Road Bersvyn PA 1994 866 870cc .368 941

620 Freedom Besine Center at King DI Prussia PA 1986 86.570 894cc 788 53

e95 East Susedestord Road Wayne PA 998 81890 00.0cc l.7O 23.86

050 Westlakes Drise Berwyn PA 1984 60000 00 Oc .984 2e.0

Dee Progress t3rive Bersham PA 1986 79204 00 0c 841 42

1060 irst Avenue King Of Pressia PA 1987 77718 tOO oc 13 21.4

741 rst Avenue King Of Prnssiu PA 1966 77184 00 oc 93

040 First \venee King Ot Prussia PA t98e 75488 796cc l._67 Oe

200 Bersvyn Park Bnrsvyn PA 1987 7502 1000 leO 77

0201 irst Avenue King Of Prussi PA 984 74.556 00.0cc .608 00

000 First Avenue King DI Prussia PA 1980 74 39 889cc .398 88

438 Crc uncry Way Cxtun PA 1991 72.300 000 31 14

130 Radnor Chester toad ttadner PA 1985 71349 1000 .1 IS
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PENNSYLVANIA SUBURBS SEGSIENT

Average

Total Base Rent Annualized

Percent ge tot the Tsvelve Rental Rate

Leased as ci Months Faded as of

December 31 December 31 December

2010 0100 000s 2010

Year Rentable

Boils Square

PreneriuNaine Location St.ite Rennv.ited Fret

Net

14 Campos Boulevard Nesvtosvtt Square PA 1990 09542 1000 lOts 25.00

170 Radnor Chester Road Radnor PA 1903 68143 00.0 1070 26 85

sOO Enterprise Road Ilorsham PA 1990 60751 100 412 9.70

s75 East bsvedesford Road Wayne PA 1985 6626e 100.0 1.230 865

429 Creuntery Way Eaton PA logo 63420 83.9 569 1447

010 freedom Business Center 14 King Of Prussia PA 1989 02001 827 6.89

925 ttarvesi Drive Blue Bell PA 1990 6957 933 913 19.OS

980 llervest Drive Blue Bell PA 1988 62.379 71 966 20 15

426 Lanuastur Avenue Devon PA 1900 61 102 100.0 tl3 20 29

1180 Ssnedesford Road Bersvyn PA 1987 60371 1000 1880 33.6e

1160 hsvedesford Rued Bunvyn PA 1986 60099 97 1685 2668

100 Benvyn Perk Bersvyn PA 1986 s7731 91 7u 51 20.90

440 Creamery Way Eston PA 1991 57218 100 813 1638

640 Allendale Road 10 King of Prussia PA 2000 56034 100 323 8.86

565 East Ssnedeslord Read Wayne PA 1984 es456 88 911 1955

650 Park Avenue King Di Prussia PA 1968 34.338 87.8 727 17.33

910 Ilareest Drise Blue Bell PA 1990 52611 100 Ou 1.040 2071

240 sO Butler Pike Plyniouih Meeting PA 1984 5229 00.0 014 21.94

920 Harvest Drive Blue Bell PA 1990 51875 746 822 21 54

486 Thomas Jones Way Eaten PA 1990 51372 70.9 6O 18 30

875 First Avcnue King Of Prussia PA 1966 50000 100.0 1038 64

620 Allendale Road King DI Prii sia PA 1961 50000 670 36 1605

IS Cenipus Boulevard Nesvtosvn Square 2002 49621 100.0 1063 25.77

17 Campus Boulevard Nesvtosrn Square PA 001 45565 100 841 19 07

II Campus Boulevard Nessiown Squ.ire PA 1998 .699 1000 2s6 s.90

436 Cream ay SVay Eaton 198 47604 100.0 371

585 Oust Ssvedeslord Road Wayne P5 1998 43683 100 771 804

1100 Casseti Road Bersvye PA 1997 43480 000 1106 31 95

467 Creaniery Way Eaten PA 1988 42000 100 603 19.08

1336 Enterprise Drive West Ogslien PA 1989 39330 518

600 Park Avenue King Of Prussia PA 1964 39000 100.0 s45 167

412 Creamery SVey Eaton PA 1999 3809h 860 671 654

18 Campus Boulesard Nesntosvu Sc Inure PA 1990 37374 100 Ui 90 23.90

457 Crc iniemy Way Eaton PA 1990 36019 100 Ui 401 15 29

100 Arraudalg Boulevard Eaton PA 1997 34.931 1000 4s6 17.75

300 Lindensvuud Driss Malvein PA 1991 33000 IOU 794 23.81

sno Butler Pihe Elynsouth Meeting PA 954 1.09 100 090 aa 54

ISO West Ourmnantosvn Pihe Plymouth Meeting PA 1984 30574 100.0 50 1.10

468 Thuntas Jones Way Oston P5 1990 28934 100 sso 2000

1700 Panlm Pike Malvern PA 000 hOOD 00
140 \Vest Oermunmosvn Pike Plynmooili Meeting P5 1954 2a.3s7 76.0 406

481 Iohn Young Way Laton PA 1997 19 1000 486

IOU indensugod Drmse Malvcio PA 1985 400 1000 363

200 Luidenssuud Dose Melvern PA 1984 .600 402 36
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PENNSYLVANIA SUBURBS SEGMENT

Average

Total Ease Rent Annaaltaad

Net Percentage for the Twelve Rental Rate

Rentable Leased as of Montbs Ended as of

Sqaara December 31 December 31 December31

Pent 200 2010 fbI 000s 2010Prnnertv Name

Year

BodLI

Loaatton State Renovated

299387

26840

264405

230389

223.054

93

100.0

100.0

98.8

96.8

8712

9085

8024

536

6864

210632

3406

31.76

31.19

30.89

32.60

180645

180611

180510

179176

173026

161 275

160173

158961

79.7

86.6

98.7

83

100

83

71

77

Ill Arrandale Road Exton PA 1996 10479 100.0 198 1949

SUBTOTALIWEIGHTED AVG PENNSYLVANIA SUBURBS SEGMENT 7026511 89 128.471 21 34

METEDPDLI FAN WASHINGTON D.C SEGMENT

1676 Itttarnatiottal Drtve MaLean VA 1999

13820 Sanrtse Valley Drtvn Ierndon VA 2007

2340 Dallas Corner Boalavard llnrndon VA 1987

291 Wood Dak Drtva Harndon VA 1999

7101 Wisconsin Avanan Bethesda MD 1975

1900 Calloo Road Vtanna VA 1989

330 Patrvtasv Park Drtva Falls Chorch VA 1999

3141 Patrvtnsv Park Drtvn Falls Charab VA 1988

2411 Dollas Career Park llantdon VA 1990

2355 Dallas Cornar Boalavard Harndon VA 1988

1880 Campos Cammoos Drtaa Reston VA 1985

2121 Cooparattva Way I4arndon VA 2000

6600 Rockladga Drtsa Bethesda MD 1981

8260 Graanshoro Drtva McLaan VA 1980

225 Corportta Park Drtva Hamdon VA 2000

115 Lan Jacksoto Matoortal ltghw.ty Fatrfas VA 198s

13880 Dallas Cootar Lana Harndoo VA 1997

8l Laasbarg P1k8
Vtanna VA 1984

273 Rasaarch Boolavard Rockvtlla MD 1999

227s Rasaarah Boalavard Rockvtlla MD 1990

201 Cooparitiva Way Faotdon VA 1990

2277 Rcsaarct lsoolavard Rockvilla Ml 1986

11781 Laa Jackson Maatoral tghway Fatrfa 198

11720 Baltsvdla Driva Baltsvtlla MD 1987

17825 Soorisa Villay Drtsa Ilaradan VA 1989

198 V.ttt Borcn Straat ldarndon VA 1996

196 Vtn Borne Straat Flarndon VA 199 97781 78.9 1673 3.63

11700 Bnltsvilla Drive Bnltsvdla MD 1981 96843 96 210 22.90

11710 Bnltsvtlla Drive Baltsvillo MD 1987 81281 89 1699 1727

440 Fair ikas Coort Fairlax VA 1988 55972 95 1438 2843

11740 Bnltsvtlln Drtva Baltsvtlle MD 1987 6783 100.0 140 760

SUBTOI SI WEIGh KID %VG METROPOLISAN SVASHI\GTON D.C SEGMEN 4857171 87 ll576 2958

PhIL SDI I.PFIIA CIID

dl Plttladalpltia

Phtladalphta

299 Arch Strant Philadelphia

101 Nordo 8th Stract Pltiladnlplsta

ISO Nortlt OtIt ktraat Plttladalphia

950 Chasten Stonot Phtladalphta

Phtladnlphii Marten natar sI Philadalphta 181 900 10111 III 59

SUBIOTAL/WEIGIIFLD AVG PHILADELPHIA CBD SLGMEN1 4658 65 91.0 70.13 ft

323

50 14

440

5530

873

3069

396

3165

3099

5073

397

678

275

4295

4127

3685

3360

137

1776

331

28.27

33.66

28.24

33.43

10.47

32.14

28.97

26.36

34.39

26.85

3645

27 48

30 69

2995

3260

24

26 76

73

25.61

1c8016

153255

151747

s0897

147689

47 6s0

138 806

137045

3093s

5903

104150

100 on

96s

100.0

69.1

984

100.00

85

100 00

93 30

57400

98934 100.00

1717 Arab Stroont

2970 Mirkat Strcnt

2866 3.4

PA 1990 1029415 67.2

PA 2010

PA 2005

PA 1988

PA 1989

PA 200

862692

729897

706288

59s041

s534

100

100 000

97 700

1000

93

4.8s5

6658

24 486

11102

.800

PA Vartoas

20.91

31.113

54

32.8

28 95

II 14
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Ye tr

Bsttltj

Lostton State Renovated

Average

Total Ba Rent Attnnalted

Net Persettttge or ito Tssels Rental Rate

Retttable etsed ts oi Mttttits Ended as sti

bqttare Decettther 31 Desettther 31 Deeetttber 31

________________________
IC BiB 550s tI Ce

NE%% JERSE V/Oh 0%V ORF 861611S

Ptenertv Nants

3BB Delaware Asenne Wiitotnttton DF 1989 298 B7l 747 v76 1651

9JB North Ktng Street Wtlottngten OF 1989 OS 3S 96 4v76 26 SB

IBBBB Mtdlentts Drtve Mt anrel NJ 1998 183 147 46 056 2a 27

BBS Lenn Drtse Lawrences tile NJ 999 hB 734 99 4.379 6.96

325 Ltnsoln Drtve West Mariton NJ 986 i6a9 94 -e g9 495

Matn Street Pla.a IBBB Voeritees NJ 988 lh.J64 33 1.19 16

4BB Cotont ron Drtse Nnsvath Di 1997 54B86 BB 3.32 16 B4

2BBB one Drise Lsvrenoes tile NJ BBB 122169 St a6B

437 iaddonteld Road Cherry itS NJ 99B 121 737 .125 4.87

JBBB Mtditttte Drtse Mt Lantel NJ 1989 6a8 B41 2B

7BB lest Gate Drtve Mt Lnrei NJ 1964 119272 885 .834 2498

989 ann Dt tve Lassrenses WIn NJ 984 Il 67 8B6 26 77

993 Lone. Drtve Ltssrenonvtll NJ 198 111.124 BB.B aa 28 79

BBB Iosvard Booiosard Mt Lanrel NJ 985 312 44 723 B9

One iSighter Parkssay dl Wtltotngton DC 1969 1B4 76 82 965 2282

BBB Atrtnto Way Mt L.tarei NJ 1989 99668 764 43B eS

997 ann Drtvn Lasrenoest lie NJ 1997 97.277 SB 2144 26.66

Tssa Ftghtar Farkssay Itotngtun DC DO Ossl4 901 086 45

12B Eeonttve isonlesard Mt tnrei Nt 1987 9oJS SB B3 3.17

BOB Mtdlantto Dose Mt Laorel NJ 199 84.956 966

22B Lake Drtve Fast Citerry itlI NJ 1988 h.B9 9s4 4.67

1288 Lone Drtse Lasvrencevtile NJ 2587 76.419 1327 9.JB

BB Lake Dove last Cherry 11th NJ 1989 7633 91 1161 267

litre kireentree Centre Marlton NJ 1994 69 3BB 87.1 SB

BB Coottoetoe Dttse Nsss ark DC 1998 68B34 IBB l.a27 2B

9858 Mtdlantte Drtve Nit Laotel NJ 1989 6799 742 39

Fast Clententoo Rotd Cithhshoro NJ 1980 6636 70 19

lOB Conttoerco Drtvc Nss tt Di 1989 6787 946 190

701 Fast Gale Inve Mt tatel NJ 1986 6194 h6 7h1

215 Lake Drtve Fast herry tll NJ 1986 65.604 89 531 23

358 ii.trpsr Drtve Mootestosvn NI 1976 9SOB 886 367 13 94

305 FeIlosvsht Dt ye Mt Caere NJ 1985 36 824 87 1.10

309 lellctssshtp Drtve Mt tttreI NJ 199 55911 772 79 .1.23

307 Felioss lttp Drtse Mt L.tarel NJ 1981 4h5 49 17 38

353 Fellosvslttp Drtso Mt Lattrel NJ 1979 s3763 63 17 23 SB

BOO Btsitops Gate Mt tarel NJ 2003 81 95 990 14

1000 Leans Drtso tsvrensevtll NJ 199 D_h4 lOBS 39 3034

101 Lenos Drtse assr000svtlle NJ 1991 Sll4 lOB Is

Foster Avntte Cthhshore NJ 1974 0.761 946 46

4000 Mtdlanlts Drtso Mt tttrol NJ 1998 40.94 150.0 60 39

Itse Lsos Dove vi tlton NI 1986 45 561 555 76

101 tttitot Dt ts Meant tstrol NJ 1967 II 739 110

Mattt Street Ptana Vooth Os NJ 1995 44 05 Os

SB tko Cotttor lStv Marlton NJ 1985 40257
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Year

Built

Location State Renovated

Average

Total Bose Rout Aneeatied

Net Percetttage Icr Ibe Twelve Rental Rate

Retttabln Leased as ef Meutlis Etided as ci

Square December 31 December 31 December 31

Feet 2010 2010 000s 2010

NESS JLRSLYDEL cxv cR6 SECMEN1

osteiAveiiue Gibbsboro

10 Foster Avenue Dibbsboro

Avenue Gibbsboro

oO Last Lleioenion Road Dibbsboro

lester Aveuoe Gtbttsboro

SIJBTOT SL/WEIC.fl lED AVG NEW .11 RSEV/DF LAWARL SEGMEN

Prereos Name

20 Cast Clentetttoit Itoad Dtbbsboro

ye Lves Drive

304 llarper Drire

Main Street Promenade

leer Eves Drive

SIs last Gate Drive

117 Last Ci tie Drive

Four Lves Drise

Foster As eeoc

Fester Aveitue

Mtrlteu

Metrestosro

Voorltees

Marlion

Mt Leerel

Mt Laerel

Marltoe

10 Cttbbsbere

Cibbshoro

NJ 1986

NJ 1987

NJ 1975

NJ 1988

NJ 1987

NJ 1986

NJ 1986

NJ t9h7

NJ 1972

NJ 1974

NJ 1983

NJ 1983

NJ 198

NJ 1986

NJ 1968

VA 1988

VA 1986

VA 1989

VA 1990

VA 1987

VA 1976

VA 000

VA 1994

VA 19b9

VS 1998

VA 1999

VA 001

VA J007

VA 1991

VA 1996

VA 1988

VA 1980

NC 198

VA 1986

VA 1988

VA 1988

VA lvne

VA 1994

VS 1983

VA 1985

VA 198

VA 1987

VA 1993

V.5 1991

VS 199

38260 68 1% 316 20.41

37.532 89.8cc 149 17.59

32978 4CC 472 2239

31445 800e 318 16.64

27011 1000cc 412 16.42

25500 65.1Cc 171 1797

2elel 100.0Cc 266 14J2

24687 1000 319 1685

24255 1000% III 4.65

23J7J 100.0G IS 7.56

22158 763CC 252 1964

18651 904CC 181 18.48

0000 1000% 24 500

3080 1000% 174 56.41

2.000 100.0Cc

4476160 784Cc 65318 22.06

212228 98c 1587 1845

144722 76.Ic .21 0.06

141717 2391 1614

136641 94.0cc 1777 8.90

IJ548 100 0Cc 686 675

128337 97eG 1762 1481

120.665 100.0Cc 2.569 J.4l

93143 I00.0c 789 18.94

85.860 74.5Cc 377 6.15

82706 60 cc 074 20 09

75218 I000CC 1514

74.991 72OCe 1652

74480 100.0CC 17cc 242

73.183 85 5CC 1924

60.867 100.0CC 777 1948

58445 862Cc 884 16.92

56984 lOO.OG 8I 1681

56601 I000C 1.113 2179

50400 100.0Cc 266 740

49542 100.0Cc 721 Ic 41

48012 84.Me e99 IS 15

.J5J 111110% G.e Gus

45250 1000Cc 237 674

42000 100 0Cc IS 6.83

41cSO 89.9Cc 04 796

11411 1000CC ..33 561

31271 100.0CC 57 II

22050 100 CG 97 II 61

10791 133Cc 11 701

20184 7.6 19 66

RICHMONI VA SFCSILNI

300 Arboretum Place

6800 Paragon Place

6802 Paragou Place

7101 Boulders View Drise

2s II Brttietts 1111 Read

100 2116 West Labctruatit Avenue

300 l8eaulout Springs Drise

1125 I5oCtlclers Parksvay

2Ol 2245 Feutlyen Street

7401 Beacifent Springs Drive

73 Beaulont Sprtugs Ditve

100 Ciatecvtv Ccuira Parlcssav

6806 Paragee ICI.ee

9011 ArbereiCtie P.Crlcsr.ty

4lOc Lake Brooke Drive

9100 St beretttttc Parksvay

62 Etiterysreed Parkway

4164 SeCtilt Alsicu Aveuue

77 Dabnay Read

9IIO Arbor Senc Perkssay

10 Aibeteteut Parksray

2224 autlyuu Siteei

2l 245 Dabuey Read

SI Dahitey Road

2161 2179 emlyuu Sited

s6 Dabcey Retd

46 1ahnev Ro.td

44 D..Icttey Read

tJ2 At heteittttt PtrI.tva

224 I2ahuey Read

Richmond

Rieltutond

Riettittoncl

Iticltiveud

It Ricltuteitd

Ricltmend

Richmond

Rieltieottd

Ricltuceitd

Rtclaieeual

Ricltmend

Rteltitteitd

Itichintetid

Ricleeeitd

Glen Allen

Riettitcutid

leurice

DCirltant

Richmond

RtcltntCcnd

Rieltitcund

tticltteettd

Riclteteitd

Rteltittend

Ittchtitteitd

lttcltteottd

Itiehmoud

It.eltitteual

Ittsl ettCtttal

Rtchitsttttd
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Average

Total Base Rent Anneatized

Net Percentage for the Twelve Rental Rate

Year Rentable Leased as of Months Ended as of

Butltl Sqeara Deeetober 31 December 31 December 31
Preperty Name Location State Renovated Feat 010 20 tO fb 000s 2010

RICHMOND VA NRCMRNT

2130 2146 Totolynu Street 1t7 Richmond VA 1988 9.700 576 194 14 11

2120 Tomlyn Street Richmond VA 1986 23850 tOO Oc 115 14

40 Dabnay Road 10 Richtnood VA 1984 15389 lOU 0. 139 l.04

SUBTOTAL/WEIGHTRD AVG RICHMONOVA SEGMENt 2363091 90 3. 30968 15.25

tUSTIN rx

1250 Capital of Texas llighsvay South Aosttn IX 1984 270711 82 7c .945 21.60

1301 Mopoc Feprasscvay Austin TX 2001 222580 99.87 4307 30.25

3711 South Mopac Expressway Aoson TX 2007 705195 97 7c o98 2796

1601 Mopae lnpressway Aostin TX 2000 195639 1000 2962 629

SOt Souttt Mopac Ecpresssvay Austin TX 999 95.324 100 0. 2.560 23 22

1221 Mopoe Copressway Austin fX 001 73302 990c 3257 2907

SUIt1 OTALJWRIGIITED SUSTIN IX SEGMENU 2675 95 8% 19629 26 16

CAl IlORNIA

155 Grand Avenue Dakland CA 1990 200996 71 I. 3932 29.35

Kaiser Land Daktand CA

Daklattd Lot Oakland CA

12O Concord Avenoo Concord CA 984 175.153 000% 3469 2274

00 Concord Avonee Concord CA 984 17010 100 Oc 448 2469

5780 5790 Eel Street Cerlshad CA 1999 l.381 77.0. .087 25.25

5990 o9oO La Place Coart Carlsbad CA 1988 80506 62 395 2s2t

6870 West Bereordo Once Raooho Barnardo CA 2002 68 08 S4.l II 99

5963 Li Place Court Carlsbad CA 987 61 587 560. 764 31 74

2075 CoBa dcl Nogal arlsb id CA 1991 o395 72 9c 623 17

5973 Avendia tneinas Carlsbad CA 986 5169 883. 1087 630
SUB WFIGIISID ALIIORNI% SEGMENT 989 III 81.8. 8887 4.59

IOTSL CORP PORtFOLIO 2o637.447 87 14981 2365

Calculated by dividing net rentable square feet included in leases signed on or before December 31 2010 at the property by the

aggregate net rentable square feet of the property

Total Base Rent for the twelve months ended December 31 2010 represents base rents earned during such period excluding

tenant reimbursements and deferred market rent adjustments calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles GAAP determined on straight-line basis

Average Annualized Rental Rate is calculated as follows for office leases written on triple net basis the sum of the

annualized contracted base rental rates payable for all
space

leased as of December 31 2010 plus the prorata 2010 budgeted

operating expense recoveries excluding tenant electricity and ii for office leases written on ftdl service basis the annualized

contracted base rent payable for all
space

leased as of December 31 2010 In both cases the annualized rental rate is divided by

the total square footage leased as of December 31 2010 without giving effect to free rent or scheduled rent increases that would be

taken into account under GAAP

These properties are subject to ground lease with third party

We hold our interest in Two Logan Square 100 North 18th Street through our ownership of second and third mortgages that arc

secured by this property and that are junior to first mortgage with third party Our ownership of these two mortgages currently

provides us with all of the cash flows from Two Logan Square after the payment of operating expenses and debt service on thc

first mortgage

34



These properties are industrial facilities

These are mixed-use properties

The following table shows information regarding rental rates and lease expirations for the Properties at December 31 2010 and

assumes that none of the tenants exercises renewal options or termination rights if any at or prior to scheduled expirations

Final Percentage

Rentable Final Annualized nf Totnl Final

Number nf Square Annualized Baac Rent Annualized

Year of Leasea Footage Bate Rent Per Square Bate Rent

Lease Expiring Subject In Under Foot Under Under

Expiration within the Expiring Expiring Expidng Expiring Cumulative

December Year Lcaaea Leases Leases Leases Total

2011 324 2210359 45814934 20.73 8.8u 8.8c

2012 310 2826334 68786205 24.34 l3.3 22.l

2013 218 2344110 46837279 19.98 9.000 3l.l

2014 187 2451204 55670270 22.71 l0.7u 4l.9

2015 187 2485688 56156913 22.59 l0.8 52.7c

2016 131 1543286 36493928 23.65 7.0u 59.8c

2017 So 2111282 56838758 26.92 11.000 70.7c

2018 46 1207241 35169498 29.13 6.8o 77.500

2019 35 932710 32894121 35.27 6.3s 83.9c

2020 26 818232 19491601 23.82 3.8u 87.6c

2021 and thereafter 47 3009356 64224192 21.34 12.4a lOO.0a

1596 21939802 518377699 23.63 l00.0

Final Annualized Base Rent for each lease scheduled to expire represents the cash rental rate of base rents excluding tenant

reimbursemçnts in the final month prior to expiration multiplied by 12 Tenant reimbursements generally include payment of

portion of real estate taxes operating expenses and common area maintenance and utility charges

At December 31 2010 our Properties were leased to l36g tenants that are engaged in variety of businesses The following table

sets forth information regarding leases at the Properties with the 20 tenants with the largest amounts leased based upon Annualized

Base Rent as of December31 2010

weighted Percent
tge

nf

\s erage Aggregate Percentage \nnualized Arcatc
Number Rematntng Leased of Aggregate Base Anonahed

of Lease Term Square Leased Rent In Base

Tenant Name Leases in Months Feet Square Feet 000 Rest

General 5ervices Adnoinistration U.S Govt 14 201 10107 710o 29477 4o

Northrop Grutnman Corporation 59 471789 2.2u 14137 3.10

wells Fargo Bank N.A 14 70 477900 1250

Pepper Bamtltnn LLP 47 312324 I.4 10960 .4o

Time Wanier Cable Inc 98 28864 I30o 9007 2.0

Lockheed Martta 33 556 84 2.o 8.769 1.90

Deehert LLP 106 218565 I.00o 7213

KPMG LLP 43 241828 7160 I.6o

Lincoln National Managentent Co II 19366 0.9c 08 .3
CA Inc 22774 1.0 5.772 .3
Blank Rome LLP 133 236903 10 N6 13 .2
Bewlen Packard nn 141339 0.000 3.911 0.9
Marsh USA Inc 31 I8090 0.6o 3831 0.S

Dcltek Systems Inc IS 11617 3790 0.8c

ATT 95 124603 0.6 3673 $u

Computer Sciences 39 6637 1.0 3643 0.8

\\ nodcock washburn LLC 13 109323 0.o 3608

Lotted Flealtltcare Sers tees 84 60 0.6c 3499 0.8o

Scitor Cerporattet IS 109 736 483

Drtaker Biddle Reath LLP 42 209.584 I.0 3449 0.8

Consolidated Total Weighted Aserage 73 98 60638 27.7c 148360 32.6
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The identified tenant includes affiliates in certain circumstances

Annualized Base Rent represents the monthly Base Rent excluding tenant reimbursements for each lease in effect at December

31 2010 multiplied by 12 Tenant reimbursements generally include payment of portion of real estate taxes operating expenses

and common area maintenance and utility charges

Real Estate Ventures

As of December 31 2010 we had an aggregate investment net of returns of investment of approximately $84.4 million in 17

unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures We formed these ventures with unaffiliated third parties to develop or manage office properties

or to acquire land in anticipation of possible development of office properties As of December 31 2010 15 of the Real Estate

Ventures owned 50 office buildings that contain an aggregate of approximately 6.5 million net rentable square feet one Real Estate

Venture owned three acres of undeveloped land and one Real Estate Venture developed hotel property that contains 137 rooms in

Conshohocken PA

We account for our investments in these Real Estate Ventures using the equity method Our ownership interests range from Yo tu

65% subject to specified priority allocations in certain of the Real Estate Ventures Our investments initially recorded at cost are

subsequently adjusted for our share of the Real Estate Ventures income or loss and contributions to capital and distributions unless

we have no intent or obligation to find losses in which case our investment would not go below zero

During November 2010 we acquired 25% interest in two partnerships which own One and Two Conimerce Square in Philadelphia

Pennsylvania The other partner holds the remaining 75% interest in each of the two partnerships

As of December 31 2010 we had guaranteed repayment of approximately $0.7 million of loans for the Real Estate Ventures We also

provide customary environmental indemnities and completion guarantees in connection with construction and permanent financing

both for our own account and on behalf of the Real Estate Ventures

Item Legal Proceedings

We are involved from time to time in legal proceedings including tenant disputes employee disputes disputes arising out of

agreements to purchase or sell properties and disputes relating to state and local taxes We generally consider these disputes to be

routine to the conduct of our business and management believes that the final outcome of such proceedings will not have material

adverse effect on our financial position results of operations or liquidity

Item Removed and Reserved
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Eqnity and Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the symbol BDN There is no established trading

market for the Class units or Class 2010 of the Operating Partnership On Febmary 16 2011 there were 691 holders of record

of our common shares 41 holders of record of the Class units in addition to Brandywine Realty Trust and one holder of the Class

2010 units On February 23 2011 the last reported sales price of the common shares on the NYSE was $11.92 The following

table sets forth the quarterly high and low sales price per common share reported on the NYSE for the indicated periods and the

distributions paid by us with respect to each such period

Share Price Share Price Distributions

High Low Paid Dudng Quarter

First Quarter2009 7.36 2.52 0.30

Second Quarter 2009 7.45 2.91 0.10

Third Quarter 2009 11.46 6.6t 0.10

FourthQuarter2009 11.85 9.48 0.10

First Quarter20l0 12.90 10.29 0.15

Second Quarter20lO 13.36 10.75 0.15

Third Quarter 2010 12.62 10.00 0.15

FourthQuarter20tO 12.99 10.22 0.15

For each quarter in 2010 and 2009 the Operating Partnership paid cash distribution per Class unit in an amount equal to the

dividend paid on common share for each such quarter

In order to maintain the status of Brandywine Realty Tntst as REIT we must make annual distributions to shareholders of at least

90% of our taxable income not including net capital gains Future distributions will be declared at the discretion of our Board of

Trustees and will depend on our actual cash flow financial condition and capital requirements the annual distribution requirements

under the REIT provisions of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986 and such other factors as our Board deems relevant

On December 2010 our Board of Trustees declared quarterly dividend distribution of $0.15 per common share that was paid on

January 20 2011 Our Board of Trustees has adopted dividend policy designed to match our distributions to our projected

normalized taxable income for 2011

On June 30 2010 we filed with the NYSE our annual CEO Certification and Annual Wrirten Affirmation pursuant to Section

303A 12 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual each certiQiing that we were in compliance with all of the listing standards of the

NYSE
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The following table provides information as of December 31 2010 with respect to compensation plans under which our equity

securities are authorized for issuance

Number of securities

remainiug available for

future issuance under

equity compensation

plans excluding securities

______________________________________________
reflected in column

6742239

6742239

Relates to our Amended and Restated 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan the 1997 Plan and 46667 options awarded prior to

adoption of the 1997 Plan In June 2010 our shareholders approved amendments to the 1997 Plan The amendments among other

things increased the number of common shares available for awards under the 1997 Plan by 6000000 of which 3600000 are

available solely for awards of options and share appreciation rights

The following table presents information related to our common share repurchases during the year ended December 31 2010

Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet Be

Total Numher of Average Price Paid Puhlicly Announced Purchased Under the

Period Shares Purchased per Share Plans or Programs Plans or Programs

in thousands

January Ito January31 14355 11.42 539200

February ito February 28 539200

Maich ito March 31 4846 12.30 39200

April ito April31 39200

May to May31 539200

June Ito June 30 39200

July Ito July31 539200

August to Auust 31 539200

September to September 31 39200

October to October 31 539200

Noveniber Ito November31 539200

December to December 31 539200

Total 19201

Relates to the remaining share repurchase availability
under the Parent Companys share iepuichase program

There is no expiration date on the share repurchase program The Parent Companys Boaid of Trustees initially

authorized this program in 1998 and has periodically replenished capacity under the program

Represents common shares cancelled by the Parent Company upon vesting of restricted common shares previously

awarded to Company employees in satisfaction of tax withholding obligations Such shares do not impact the total

number of shares that may yet be purchased under the share repurchase program

Number of securities to Weighted-average

be issued upon exercise of exercise price of

outstanding options outstanding options

warrants and rights warrants and rightsPlan category

Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders

Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders

Total

31 16611

3116611

14.56

14.56
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SHARE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

Total Return Performance

Index

Brandywine Realty Trust

SP 500

Russell 2000

NAREIT All Equity REIT Index

12/31/05 12131106 12131107 12131108

100.00 124.09 71.01

100.00 115.79 122.16

The Securities and Exchange Commission requires us to present chart comparing the cumulative total shareholder return on the

common shares with the cumulative total shareholder return of broad equity index and ii published industry or peer group

index The following chart compares the cumulative total shareholder return for the common shares with the cumulative shareholder

return of companies on the SP 500 Index ii the Russell 2000 and iii the NAREIT ALL-REIT Total Return Index as provided

by NAREIT for the period beginning December 31 2005 and ending December 31 2010
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12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09 12/31/10

Period Ending

12/31/09 12/31/10

100.00 118.37

100.00 135.06

3397

76.96

77.15

70.91

11651

113.87

55.38

9733

98.11

90.76

59.60

111.99

124.46

116.12
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and

related notes and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K The selected data have been revised to reflect disposition of all properties since January 2006 which have

been reclassified as discontinued operations for all periods presented in accordance with the accounting standard governing

discontinued operations

Brandywine Realty Trnst

in thousands except per common share data and number of properties

Year Ended December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Operating Resnits

Total revenue 566897 575058 580932 595.759 542.999

Income loss from continuing operatioos 29638 5339 662 6885 40003
Net income loss 17606 8089 38525 55335 10949

Income loss allocated to Common Shares 25578 245 28462 44124 332

Income loss from contiouing operations per Common Share

nasic 28 0.02 0.11 0.03 0.52
Diluted 0.28 0.02 0.11 0.03 0.52

Earnings per Common Share

nasic 0.19 0.32 0.50

Diluted 0.19 0.32 0.50

Cash distributions paid per Common Share 0.60 0.60 1.76 1.76 1.76

Balance sheet Data

Real estate investments net of

accumulated depreciation 4201410 4164992 4191367 4657333 4739726
Total assets 4690378 4663750 4742619 5213968 5508479

Total indebtedness 2430446 2454577 2741495 3081949 3133934
Total liabilities 2712604 2742010 3020121 3363759 3462272

Noneontiolling interest 128272 38.308 52961 84076 123630

nrandywineRealty Trusts equity 1849502 1883432 1669a37 1766133 I922a77

Other Data

Cash flows from

Operating activities 185127 220405 233867 224805 238299

Investing activities 171936 102a49 164046 39162 912813
Financing activities 1807 120213 399589 283746 692.7 19

Property Data

Number of properties owned at year end 233 245 248 757 313

Net rentable square feet owned at year end 25633 27563 26257 28.888 31764

During 2010 we recorded depreciation expense of $1.2 million related to projects completed in prior years that were not

closed out of our job cost system
in timely manner This resulted in the understatement of depreciation and amortization

expense in the prior years During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 depreciation expense was understated by

$0.9 million and $0.2 million respectively The remaining difference relates to other prior years
and was nominal As these

errors both individually and in aggregate were not material to prior years consolidated financial statements and the impact

of correcting this error in the current year
is not material to the our frill

year consolidated financial statements we recorded

the related adjustments in the current year
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Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P

in thousands except per common partnership unit data and number of properties

Year Ended December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Operating Results

Total revenue 566897 575058 580932 595759 542999

Income loss from continuing operatioos 29638 5339 662 6885 40003
Net income 17606 8089 38525 55335 10949

Income from continuing operations per

Common Partnership Unit

nasie 0.28 0.02 0.11 0.03 0.52
Diluted 0.28 0.02 0.11 0.03 0.52

Earnings per Common Partaership Units

Basic 0.19 0.32 0.50 0.02

Diluted 0.19 0.32 0.au 0.02

Cash distributions paid per Common 0.60 0.60 1.76 1.76 1.76

Partnership Unit

Balance Sheet Data

Real estate investments net of

accumulated depreciation 4201410 4164992 4191367 4657333 4739726
Total assets 4690378 4663750 4742619 5213968 5508479
Total indebtedness 2430446 2454577 2741495 3081949 3133935
Total liabilities 2712604 2742010 3020121 3363759 3462272
Redeemable limited paitnership units 132855 44620 54166 90151 96544

Non controlling interest 65 28 34414

Brandywine Operating Partnerships equity 1844919 1877055 1668332 1760030 1915249

Other Data

Cash flows fiom

Operating activities 185127 220405 233867 224805 238299

Investing activities 171936 102549 164046 39162 912813
Financing activities 1807 120213 399589 283746 692719

Property Data

Number of properties owned at year end 233 245 248 257 313

Net rentable squaie feet owned at year end 2663 25563 26257 8888 31764

During 2010 we recorded depreciation expense of $1.2 million related to projects completed in prior years that were not

closed out of our job cost system in timely manner This resulted in the understatement of depreciation and amortization

expense in the prior years During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 depreciation expense was understated by

$0.9 million and $0.2 million respectively The remaining difference relates to other prior years and was nominal As these

errors both individually and in aggregate were not material to prior years consolidated financial statements and the impact

of correcting this error in the current year is not material to the our fttll year consolidated financial statements we recorded

the related adjustments in the current year
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere herein and is

based primarily on our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

OVERVIEW

As of December 31 2010 we manage our portfolio within seven segments Pennsylvania Suburbs Philadelphia CBD
Metropolitan Washington D.C New Jersey/Delaware Richmond Virginia Austin Texas and California The

Pennsylvania Suburbs segment includes properties in Chester Delaware and Montgomery counties in the Philadelphia suburbs The

Philadelphia CBD segment includes properties located in the City of Philadelphia in Pennsylvania The Metropolitan Washington

D.C segment includes properties in Northem Virginia and suburban Maryland The New Jersey/Delaware segment includes properties

in Burlington Camden and Mercer counties and in New Castle county in the state of Delaware The Richmond Virginia segment

includes properties primarily in Albemarle Chesterfield Goochland and Henrico counties and Durham North Carolina The Austin

Texas segment includes properties in Austin The California segment includes properties in Oakland Concord Carlsbad and Rancho

Bemardo

We generate cash and revenue from leases of space at our properties and to lesser extent from the management of properties owned

by third parties and from investments in the Real Estate Ventures Factors that we evaluate when leasing space
include rental rates

costs of tenant improvements tenant creditworthiness current and expected operating costs the length of the lease vacancy levels and

demand for office and industrial space We also generate cash through sales of assets including assets that we do not view as core to

our portfolio either because of location or expected growth potential and assets that are commanding premium prices from third party

investors

Factors that May Influence Future Results of Operations

Global Market and Economic Conditions

In the U.S market and economic conditions have been unprecedented and challenging characterized by tighter credit conditions and

slower growth As result of these market conditions the cost and availability of credit has been and may continue to be adversely

affected by illiquid credit markets and wider credit spreads Concern about the stability of the markets generally and the strength of

counterparties specifically has led many lenders and institutional investors to reduce and in some cases cease to provide binding to

borrowers Continued volatility in the U.S and international markets and economies may adversely affect our liquidity and financial

condition and the liquidity and financial condition of our tenants If these market conditions continue they may limit our ability and

the ability of our tenants to timely refinance maturing liabilities and access the capital markets to meet liquidity needs

Real Estate Asset Valuation

General economic conditions and the resulting impact on market conditions or downtum in tenants businesses may adversely affect

the value of our assets Significantly challenging economic conditions in the U.S declining demand for leased office mixed use or

industrial properties and/or decrease in market rental rates and/or market values of real estate assets in our submarkets could have

negative impact on the value of our assets including the value of our properties and related tenant improvements If we were required

under GAAP to write down the carrying value of any of our properties to the lower of cost or fair value due to impairment or if as

result of an early lease termination we were required to remove or dispose of material amounts of tenant improvements that are not

reusable to another tenant our financial condition and results of operations would be negatively affected
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Leasing Activity and Rental Rates

The amount of net rental income generated by our properties depends principally on our ability to maintain the occupancy rates of

currently leased space and to lease currently available space newly developed or redeveloped properties and space available from

unscheduled lease terminations The amount of rental income we generate also depends on our ability to maintain or increase rental

rates in our submarkets Negative trends in one or more of these factors could adversely affect our rental income in future periods

Developnient and Redevelopment Programs

Historically significant portion of our growth has come from our development and redevelopment efforts We have proactive

planning process by which we continually evaluate the size timing costs and scope of our development and redevelopment programs

and as necessary scale activity to reflect the economic conditions and the real estate fundamentals that exist in our strategic

submarkets Given the economic conditions we do not intend to commence new development or redevelopment projects in the near

future We believe that portion of our future potential growth will continue to come from our newly developed or redeveloped

properties once current economic conditions normalize However we anticipate that the general economic conditions and the resulting

impact on conditions in our core markets will delay timing and reduce the scope of our development program in the near future which

will further impact the average development and redevelopment asset balances qualifying for interest and other carry cost

capitalization We cease capitalizing such costs once project does not qualify for interest and other carry cost capitalization under

GAAP

In addition we may be unable to lease committed development or redevelopment properties at expected rental rates or within

projected timeframes or complete development or redevelopment properties on schedule or within budgeted amounts which could

adversely affect our financial condition results of operations and cash flow

Financial and Operating Pertbrmance

Our financial and operating performance is dependent upon the demand for office industrial and other commercial space in our

markets our leasing results our acquisition disposition and development activity our financing activity our cash requirements and

economic and market conditions including prevailing interest rates

In seeking to increase revenue through our operating financing and investment activities we also seek to minimize operating risks

including tenant rollover risk ii tenant credit risk and iii development risk

Tenant Rollover Risk

We are subject to the risks that tenant leases upon expiration are not renewed that space may not be relet and that the terms of

renewal or reletting including the cost of renovations may be less favorable to us than the current lease terms Leases accounting for

approximately 8.8o of our aggregate final annualized base rents as of December 31 2010 representing approximately 8.6o of the net

rentable square feet of the properties expire without penalty in 2011 We maintain an active dialogue with our tenants in an effort to

maximize lease renewals Our retention rate for leases that were scheduled to expire in 2010 was 65.9 If we are unable to renew

leases or relet
space

under expiring leases at anticipated rental rates or if tenants terminate their leases early our cash flow would be

adversely impacted

Tenant Credit Risk

In the event of tenant default we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may incur substantial costs in

protecting our investment Our management regularly evaluates our accounts receivahle reserve policy in light of our tenant base and

general and local economic conditions Our accounts receivable allowance was $15.2 million or 12.0c of total receivables including

accrued rent receivable as of December 2010 compared to $16.4 million or 14.3 of total receivables including accrued rent

receivable as of December 31 2009

If economic conditions persist or deteriorate further we may experience increases in past due accounts defaults lower occupancy and

reduced effective rents This condition would negatively affect our future net income and cash flows and could have material

adverse effect on our financial condition

43



Development Risk

At December 31 2010 we were redeveloping one garage project located in Philadelphia with total projected costs of $14.8 million of

which $0.8 million then remained to be funded In addition we were completing the lease-up of five recently completed

developments aggregating 0.9 million square feet for which we expect to spend an additional $14.2 million in 2011 We are actively

marketing space at these projects to prospective tenants but can provide no assurance as to the timing or terms of any leases of space at

these projects

As of December 31 2010 we owned approximately 509 acres of undeveloped land As market conditions warrant we will seek to

opportunistically dispose of those parcels that we do not anticipate developing For the parcels of land that we ultimately develop we
will be subject to risks associated with development of this land including construction cost increases or overruns and construction

delays insufficient occupancy rates building moratoriums and inability to obtain necessary zoning land-use building occupancy and

other required governmental approvals

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMA TES

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discuss our consolidated financial

statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

GAAP The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting periods Certain accounting policies are considered to

be critical accounting policies as they require management to make assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the

estimate is made and changes in the accounting estimate are reasonably likely to occur from period to period Management believes

the following critical accounting policies reflect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our

consolidated financial statements For summary of all of our significant accounting policies see Note to our consolidated financial

statements included elsewhere in this report

Revenue Recognition

We recognize rental revenue on the straight-line basis from the later of the date of the commencement of the lease or the date of

acquisition of the property subject to existing leases which averages minimum rents over the terms of the leases Lease incentives

which are included as reductions of rental revenue are recognized on straight-line basis over the term of the lease Certain lease

agreements contain provisions that require tenants to reimburse
pro rata share of real estate taxes and common area maintenance

costs For certain leases in the portfolio there are significant assumptions and judgments made by management in determining the

lease term such as when termination options are provided to the tenant The lease term impacts the period over which minimum rents

are determined and recorded and also considers the period over which lease related costs are amortized In addition our rental revenue

is impacted by our determination of whether the improvements made by us or the tenant are landlord assets The determination of

whether an asset is landlord asset requires judgment and principally considers whether improvements would be utilizable by another

tenant upon move out by the existing tenant To the extent they are determined not to be landlord assets and we fund them they are

considered as lease incentives To the extent the tenant funds the improvements that we consider to be landlord assets we treat them

as deferred revenue which is amortized to revenue over the lease term

Real Estate Investments

Real estate investments are carried at cost We record acquisition of real estate investments under the acquisition method of

accounting and allocate the purchase price to land buildings and intangible assets on relative fair value basis Depreciation is

computed using the straight-line method over the useful lives of buildings and capital improvements to 55 years and over the

shorter of the lease term or the life of the asset for tenant improvements Direct construction costs related to the development of

Properties and land holdings are capitalized as incurred Capitalized costs include pre-construction costs essential to the development

of the property development and constructions costs interest property taxes insurance salaries and other project costs during the

period of development Estimates and judgments are required in determining when capitalization of certain costs such as interest

should commence and cease We expense routine repair and maintenance expenditures and capitalize those items that extend the

useful lives of the underlying assets
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Real Estate Ventures

When we obtain an economic interest in an entity we evaluate the entity to determine if the entity is deemed variable interest entity

VIE and if we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary in accordance with the accounting standard for the consolidation of

variable interest entities This accounting standard requires significant use ofjudgments and estimates in determining its application If

the entity is not deemed to be VIE and we serve as the general partner within the entity we evaluate to determine if our presumed

control as the general partner is overcome by the kick out rights and other substantive participating rights of the limited partners in

accordance with the same accounting standard

We consolidate entities that are VIEs and of which we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary and ii entities that are non-VIEs

which we control Entities that we account for under the equity method i.e at cost increased or decreased by our share of earnings or

losses less distributions include entities that are VIEs and of which we are not deemed the primary beneficiary entities that are

non-VIEs which we do not control but over which we have the ability to exercise significant influence and Hi entities that are non

VIEs which we control through our general partner status but the limited partners in the entity have the substantive ability to dissolve

the entity or remove us without cause or have substantive participating rights We continuously assess our determination of whether an

entity is VIE and who the primary beneficiary is and whether or not the limited partners in an entity have substantive rights more

particularly if certain events occur that are likely to cause change in original determinations

On periodic basis management assesses whether there are any indicators that the value of our investments in unconsolidated joint

ventures may be impaired An investment is impaired only if managements estimate of the value of the investment is less than the

carrying value of the investment and such decline in value is deemed to be other than temporary To the extent impairment has

occurred the loss shall be measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the investment over the fair value of the investment Our

estimates of value for each investment particularly in commercial real estate joint ventures are based on number of assumptions

that are subject to economic and market uncertainties including among others demand for space competition for tenants changes in

market rental rates and operating costs As these factors are difficult to predict and are subject to ftiture events that may alter

managements assumptions accordingly the values estimated by management in its impairment analyses may not be realized

Our Broadmoor Joint Venture owns an office park in Austin Texas which is currently leased to single tenant who is also partner in

the joint venture The said tenant is also the owner of the land which the joint venture currently leases under an existing ground lease

agreement The office buildings lease renewals are currently under negotiation Given the current circumstances we have performed

an impairment assessment of our investment in the venture using probability weighted scenarios that include varying outcomes We

believe that market participant would assess the probabilities of these outcomes in the same fashion In evaluating the scenarios we

have determined that the fair value of our investment marginally exceeded its carrying value and the investment is not impaired at

December 31 2010 However given the lease has not yet been executed and the negotiations of specific terms of the lease are

ongoing the ultimate outcome is uncertain and could cause an impairment of our investment that could be material

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable The review of recoverability is based on an estimate of the ftiture undiscounted cash flows excluding interest charges

expected to result from the long-lived assets use and eventual disposition These cash flows consider factors such as expected thture

operating income trends and prospects as well as the effects of leasing demand competition and other factors If impairment exists

due to the inability to recover the carrying value of long-lived asset an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the carrying

value exceeds the estimated fair-value of the property We are required to make subjective assessments as to whether there are

impairments in the values of the investments in long-lived assets These assessments have direct impact on our net income because

recording an impairment loss results in an immediate negative adjustment to net income The evaluation of anticipated cash flows is

highly subjective and is based in part on assumptions regarding ftiture occupancy rental rates and capital requirements that cnuld

differ materially from actual results in future periods There are also operating properties evaluated as they have been identified for

potential sale No impairment was determined however if actual cashflows or the estimated holding periods change an impairment

could be recorded in the future and it could be material Although our strategy is generally to hold our properties over the long-term

we will dispose of properties to meet our liquidity needs or for other strategic needs If our strategy changes or market conditions

otherwise dictate an earlier sale date an impairment loss may be recognized to reduce the property to the lower of the canying amount

or fair value less costs to sell and such loss could be material If we determine that impairment has occurred and the assets are

classified as held and used the affected assets must be reduced to their fair-value
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Where properties have been identified as having potential for sale additional judgments are required related to the determination as

to the appropriate period over which the undiscounted cash flows should include the operating cash flows and the amount included as

the estimated residual value Management determines the amounts to be included based on probability weighted cash flow This

requires significant judgment In some cases the results of whether an impairment is indicated are sensitive to changes in assumptions

input into the estimates including the hold period until expected sale At December 31 2010 we performed an impairment

assessment of our land holdings as management determined that sale scenario was the most likely source of future cash flows for

certain of the land parcels aggregating to total cost of $15.7 million which is included in land inventory This impairment assessment

required management to estimate the expected proceeds from sale at some point in the future to determine whether an impairment

was indicated This estimate requires significant judgment If our expectations as to the expected sales proceeds or timing of the

anticipated sale change based on market conditions or otherwise our evaluation of impairment could be different and such differences

could be material

During our impairment review for 2010 we determined that no impairment charges were necessary During the first quarter of 2009

we determined that one of our properties during our testing for impairment under the held and used model had historical cost

greater than the probability weighted undiscounted cash flows Accordingly an impairment on the property of $3.7 million was

recorded to reduce its carrying value to an amount equal to managements estimate of the then current fair value We sold this

property in the second quarter of 2009 We also recorded $6.85 million impairment charge on properties designated as held for sale

at June 30 2008 and sold these properties during the fourth quarter of 2008

We also entered into development agreements related to our two parcels of land under option for ground lease that require us to

commence development by December 31 2012 If we determine that we will not be able to start the construction by the date specified

or if we determine development is not in our best economic interest and an extension of the development period cannot be negotiated

we will have to write off all costs that we have incurred in preparing these parcels of land for development amounting to $7.7 million

as of December 31 2010

Income Taxes

Parent Company

The Parent Company has elected to be treated as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended the Code In addition the Parent Company has several subsidiary REITs In order to continue to qualift as REIT the

Parent Company and each of its REIT subsidiaries are required to among other things distribute at least 90 of their REIT taxable

income to their stockholders and meet certain tests regarding the nature of its income and assets As REITs the Parent Company and

its REIT subsidiaries are not subject to federal income tax with respect to the portion of their income that meets certain criteria and is

distributed annually to the stockholders Accordingly no provision for federal income taxes is included in the accompanying

consolidated financial statements with respect to the operations of these REITs The Parent Company and its REIT subsidiaries intend

to continue to operate in manner that allows them to continue to meet the requirements for taxation as REITs Many of these

requirements however are highly technical and complex If the Parent Company or one of its REIT subsidiaries were to fail to meet

these requirements they would be subject to federal income tax

The Parent Company may elect to treat one or more of its subsidiaries as TRS In general TRS may perform additional services for

our tenants and generally may engage in any real estate or non-real estate related business except for the operation or management of

health care facilities or lodging facilities or the provision to any person under franchise license or otherwise of rights to any
brand

name under which any lodging facility or health care facility is operated TRS is subject to corporate federal income tax The

Parent Company has elected to treat certain of its corporate subsidiaries as TRSs these entities provide third party property

management services and certain services to tenants that could not otherwise be provided

Operating Partnership

In general the Operating Partnership is not subject to federal and state income taxes and accordingly no provision for income taxes

has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements The partners of the Operating Partnership are required to

include their respective share of the Operating Partnerships profits or losses in their respective tax retums The Operating

Partnerships tax returns and the amount of allocable Partnership profits and losses are subject to examination by federal and state

taxing authorities If such examination results in changes to the Operating Partnership profits or losses then the tax liability of the

partners
would be changed accordingly
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The Operating Partnership has elected to treat several of its subsidiaries as REITs under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code Each

subsidiary REIT has met the requirements for treatment as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code and accordingly no

provision has been made for federal and state income taxes in the accompanying consolidated financial statements If any subsidiary

REIT fails to qualify as REIT in any taxable year that subsidiary REIT will be subject to federal and state income taxes and may not

be able to qualify as REIT for the four subsequent taxable years Also each subsidiary REIT may be subject to certain local income

taxes

The Operating Partnership has elected to treat several of its subsidiaries as taxable TRSs which are subject to federal state and local

income tax

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtftil accounts that represents an estimate of losses that may be incurred from the inability of tenants

to make required payments The allowance is an estimate based on two calculations that are combined to determine the total amount

reserved First we evaluate specific accounts where we have determined that tenant may have an inability to meet its financial

obligations In these situations we use our judgment based on the facts and circumstances and record specific reserve for that

tenant against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount that we expect to collect These reserves are re-evaluated and

adjusted as additional information becomes available Second reserve is established for all tenants based on range of percentages

applied to receivable aging categories If the financial condition of our tenants were to deteriorate additional allowances may be

required For accrued rent receivables we consider the results of the evaluation of specific accounts as well as other factors including

assigning risk factors to different industries based on our tenants SIC classification Considering various factors including assigning

risk factor to different industries these percentages are based on historical collection and write-off experience adjusted for current

market conditions

Deferred Costs

We incur direct costs related to the financing development and leasing of our properties Management exercises judgment in

determining whether such costs particularly intemal costs meet the criteria for capitalization or must be expensed Capitalized

financing fees are amortized over the related loan term on basis that approximates the effective interest method while capitalized

leasing costs are amortized over the related lease term Management re-evaluates the remaining useful lives of leasing costs as the

creditworthiness of our tenants and economic and market conditions change

Purchase Price Allocation

We allocate the purchase price of properties to net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired based on fair values Above-

market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties are recorded based on the present value using an interest rate

which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired ot the ditterence between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant

to the in-place leases and ii our estimate of the fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases measured over period

equal to the remaining non-cancellable term of the lease includes the below market fixed renewal period if applicable Capitalized

above-market lease values are amortized as reduction of rental income over the remaining non-cancellable terms of the respective

leases Capitalized below-market lease values are amortized as an increase of rental income over the remaining non-cancellable terms

of the respective leases including any fixed-rate renewal periods

Other intangible assets also include amounts representing the value of tenant relationships and in-place leases based on our evaluation

of the specific characteristics of each tenants lease and our overall relationship with the respective tenant We estimate the cost to

execute leases with terms similar to the remaining lease terms of the in-place leases include leasing commissions legal and other

related expenses This intangible asset is amortized to expense over the remaining term of the respective leases and any fixed-rate

bargain renewal periods We estimate fair value through methods similar to those used by independent appraisers or by using

independent appraisals Factors that we consider in our analysis include an estimate of the carrying costs during the expected lease-up

periods considering current market conditions and costs to execute similar leases We also consider information obtained about each

property as result of our pre-acquisition due diligence marketing and leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the tangible

and intangible assets acquired In estimating carrying costs we include real estate taxes insurance and other operating expenses and

estimates of lost rentals at market rates during the expected lease-up periods which primarily range
from three to twelve months

Characteristics that we consider in allocating value to our tenant relationships include the nature and extent of our business

relationship with the tenant growth prospects for developing new business with the tenant the tenants credit quality and expectations
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of lease renewals The value of tenant relationship intangibles is amortized over the remaining initial lease teim and expected

renewals but in no event longer than the remaining depreciable life of the building The value of in-place leases is amortized over the

remaining non-cancellable term of the respective leases and any fixed-rate renewal periods

In the event that tenant terminates its lease prior to the end of the lease term the unamortized portion of each intangible including

market rate adjustments in-place lease values and tenant relationship values would be charged to expense
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RESULTS OF OPERA lYONS

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31 2010 to the Year Ended Decemn her 31 2009

The table below shows selected operating information for the Same Store Property Portfolio and the Total Portfolio The Same

Store Property Portfolio consists of 223 properties containing an aggregate of approximately 22.3 million net rentable square feet that

we owned for the entire twelve-month periods ended December 31 2010 and 2009 This table also includes reconciliation from the

Same Store Property Portfolio to the Total Portfolio net income i.e all properties owned by us during the twelve-month periods

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 by providing information for the properties which were acquired under development including

lease-up assets or placed into service and administrative/elimination infomiation for the twelve-month periods ended December

2010 and 2009 in thousands

The Total Portfolio net income presented in the table is equal to the net income of Brandywine Realty Trust and Brandywine

Operating Partnership
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Total Revenue

Cash rents from the Total Portfolio decreased by $10.9 million from 2009 to 2010 primarily reflecting

decrease of$13.b million of rental income at the same store portfolio as result of the decrease in same store

occupancy of 320 basis points

decrease of $7.3 million due to the deconsolidation of three of our real estate ventures as result of the adoption of

the new accounting standard for the consolidation of variable interest entities beginning January 2010 during the

first quarter of2OlO This standard does not require retrospective adoption

decrease of $3.9 million of rental income due to the decrease in occupancy at three redevelopment properties that we

recently placed in service and

an offsetting increase of$ 13.9 million of rental income due to our acquisition of Three Logan Square and the

completion and placement in service of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage during the third

quarter of 2010

Straight-line rents at the Total Portfolio increased by $5.0 million due to $1.1 million of straight-line rents from the acquisition of

Three Logan Square during the third quarter of 2010 The remainder of the increase is due to leases that commenced during the year

of 2010 with free rent periods at our same store properties and at one of our redevelopment properties

Tenant reimbursements increased by $0.6 million from 2009 to 2010 primarily due to the significant number of leases which includes

base year operating expense recovery calculations that reached their base year amounts quicker in 2010 than in 2009 Lease structure

the significant northeast snowfall expenses in the first quarter of 2010 as well as the deferral to later months and timing of the repairs

and maintenance expenses in the second quarter of 2009 resulted in the base year leases achieving their base year amounts earlier in

2010 than in 2009 This is consistent with the increase in property operating expenses

Termination fees at the Total Portfolio increased $2.2 million from 2009 to 201 is mainly due to increased tenant move-outs during

2010 which is cOnsistent with the decrease in occupancy noted above

Third party management fees labor reimbursement and leasing decreased by $5.3 million from 2009 to 2010 mainly due to the

temination of third party management contracts during the course of 2009 totaling 4.3 million square feet This is consistent with the

decrease in third party management fees This decrease was off-set by the Company no longer eliminating third party management

fee income related to two of our real estate ventures of $0.4 million in 2010

Other Ineomc

Other Income increased by $1.0 million mainly as result of additional construction management fee income of $0.5 million from our

agreement with the GSA relating to the IRS Philadelphia Campus In addition we received $0.4 million of proceeds from bankruptcy

settlements with two of our former tenants and $0 million from new energy efficiency rebate program in 2010

Property Operating Erpenses

Property operating expenses increased by $5.0 million mainly due to our acquisition of Three Logan Square and the completion and

placement in service of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage during the third quarter of 2010 totaling $5.3 million

of additional expenses In addition we incurred higher snow removal and repairs and maintenance expenses totaling $2.1 million

during 2010 compared to 2009 This net increase nas off set by decrease of $2.7 million in bad debt
expense during 2010 as

compared to 2009

Real Estate Taxes

Real estate taxes decreased by $2.6 million mainly due to lower taxes assessed on our properties during 2010 compared to 2009 and

refunds related to prior years offset by additional real estate taxes due to our acquisition of Three Logan Square during the third

quarter of 2010
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General Administrative Expenses

General and Administrative Expense increased by $2.5 million primarily due to

an increase of $0.8 million in amortization of stock-based compensation as result of stock option and restricted

stock performance units granted in March 2010

an increase of $1.4 million in salaries bonus and recruiting fees due to new hires during 2010

$0.2 million one-time bonus payment made during 2010 and

net increase of $0.1 million as result of various corporate level expenses during 2010 none of which were

individually significant

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization increased by $6.9 million from 2009 to 2010 primarily due to our depreciation and amortization

expense on assets placed in service since 2009 particularly Three Logan Square and the IRS Philadelphia Campus which totaled $8.2

million of depreciation and amortization expense During 2010 we also recorded $1.2 million of depreciation related to 2009 and

prior years principally with respect to completed projects that were not closed out of our job cost system timely This net increase was

off-set by decrease in depreciation and amortization expense from assets written-off related to early move-outs and
ftilly

amortized

assets when comparing 2010 to 2009

Provision Jor Impairment on Real Estate

During our first quarter 2009 impairment review we determined that one of the properties tested for impairment under the held and

used model had historical cost greater than the probability weighted undiscounted cash flows Accordingly the recorded amount

was reduced to an amount based on managements estimate of its fair value

Where properties have been identified as having potential for sale additional judgments are required related to the determination as

to the appropriate period over which the undiscounted cash flows should include the operating cash flows and the amount included as

the estimated residual value Management determines the amounts to be included based on probability weighted cash flow This

requires significant judgment In some cases the results of whether an impairment is indicated are sensitive to changes in assumptions

input into the estimates including the hold period until expected sale

Inreresr Expense

The decrease in interest
expense of $3.1 million is primarily due to the following

decrease of$ 14.6 million resulting from our buybacks of various unsecured notes subsequent to 2009 The details

of the various purchases completed during 2010 are noted in the Loss gain on early extinguishment of debt section

below

decrease of $5.5 million resulting from the pay-off of an unsecured note at maturity during the fourth quarter
of

2009

decrease of $0.4 million resulting from lower weighted average interest rates on our $183.0 million term loan and

our three Preferred Trust borrowings Such borrowings have variable interest rates and portion of such borrowings

are swaps which matured early in the quarters and

an increase of$l.5 million in capitalized interest as result of the increase in cumulative spending on development

projects in 2010 compared to 2009
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The above described decrease of $22.0 million was offset by an increase of$14.3 million from the sale of $250.0 million of unsecured

notes in the third quarter of 2009 and net increase of $3.4 million resulting from higher outstanding mortgage notes payable

balance as of December 31 2010 compared to December 31 2009 We aNo had an increase of $0.5 million in interest
expense related

to the interest accretion of the Two Logan Square $2.9 million future liability expected to be settled in 2019 In addition there was

an increase of $0.6 million in interest
expense

related to the estimated equity interest payments as result of our partnership in the IRS

Philadelphia Campus

Deferred financing costs decreased by $2.1 million mainly due to the acceleration of such expenses incurred from greater debt

repurchase activities during the 2009 compared to the 2010 offset by deferred financing costs amortized relating to the forward

financing on the IRS Philadelphia Campus and Cira South Garage

Recognized hedge activity

During 2009 we recorded $1.1 million mark to market adjustment relating to two of our swaps that were applied to our September

2009 offering of $250.0 million 7.50% senior unsecured notes due 2015 The swaps no longer qualified for hedge accounting upon

completion of this offering as the hedging relationship was terminated Accordingly the changes in the fair value of the swaps were

reflected in our statement of operations until they were settled in cash in December 2009 We paid $5.1 million to terminate these

swaps We also recorded net $0.1 million of income related to the write-off of AOCI and the ineffective portion of certain of our

hedges

Equity in income of real estate ventures

The increase in equity in income of real estate ventures of $1.2 million from 2009 to 2010 is mainly duc to distribution in 2010 of

$0.6 million of sales proceeds that were held in escrow until resolution of certain contingencies arising from thc sale of the property

held by the Five Tower Bridge partnership The remainder of the increase is the result of normal operating activities at the partnership

level and includes $0.1 million of preferred retum pick-up from our ownership in newly created real estate venture with Thomas

Properties Group Commerce Square

Gain loss on early extinguishment of debt

During 2010 we repurchased $68.1 million of our $345.0 million 3.875o Exchangeable Notes ii $1.9 million of our $300.0

million 5.625 Guaranteed Notes due 2010 and iii $12.6 million of our $300.0 million 5.750 Guaranteed Notes due 2012 which

resulted in net loss on early extinguishment of debt of $2.2 million The nct loss was off-set by gain from thc write-off of the

remaining premium on the PMEC note at the time of pay-off of $0.1 million resulting in an aggrcgatc net loss on early cxtinguishment

of debt of $2.1 million

During 20u9 we repurchased $154.1 million of our $345.0 million 3.875o Exchangeable Notes $94.1 million of our 8275.0 million

4.500o Guaranteed Notes due 2009 $77.0 million of our $300.0 million 5.625c Guaranteed Notes due 2010 $112.2 million of our

$300.0 million 5.750o Guaranteed Notes due 2012 and $7.3 million of our $250.0 million 5.400c Guaranteed Notes due 2014 which

resulted in net gain on early extinguishment of debt of $23.2 million The gain on early extinguishment of debt is inclusive of

adjustments made to reflect our adoption of the new accounting standard for convertible debt instruments

Discontinued Operations

During 2010 we sold one property in Richmond VA one property in Exton PA one property in King of Prussia PA one property in

Austin TX and four properties in Marlton NJ These properties had total revenue of $6.4 million operating expenses of $3.3

million depreciation and amortization
expenses

of $2.0 million and gain on sale of $11.0 million

The December 2009 aniounts are reclassified to include the operations of the properties sold during the twelve months period

ended December 31 2010 as well as all properties that were sold through the year ended December 2009 Therefore the

discontinued operations amount for the twelve-months period ended December 2009 includes total revenue of $20.6 million

operating expenses of $10.6 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $4.9 million During the 2009 also recognized

provision for impairment of $3.7 million on property that was sold during the second quarter of 2009
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Net Income

Net income decreased by $25.7 million from the twelve-month period ended December 31 2009 as result of the factors described

above Net income is significantly impacted by depreciation of operating properties and amortization of acquired intangibles These

non-cash charges do not directly affect our ability to pay dividends Such charges can be expected to continue until lease intangibles

are ftilly amortized These intangibles are amortizing over the related lease terms or estimated duration of the tenant relationship

Earnings per Common Share

Loss per share basic and diluted were $0.19 for the twelve-month period ended December 31 2010 as compared to loss per share of

$0.00 for the twelve-month period ended December 31 2009 as result of the factors described above and an increase in the average

number of common shares outstanding The increase in the average number of common shares outstanding is primarily due to the

commencement of the continuous equity Offering Program in March 2010 and the result of the $242.3 million public equity offering

of 40250000 shares during the second quarter of 2009
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RESULTS OF OPERA liONS

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31 2009 to the Year Ended December 31 2008

The table below shows selected operating information for the Same Store Property Portfolio and the Total Portfolio The Same

Store Property Portfolio consists of 232 properties containing an aggregate of approximately 22.6 million net rentable square feet that

we owned for the entire twelve-month periods ended December 31 2009 and 2008 This table also includes reconciliation from the

Same Store Property Portfolio to the Total Portfolio net income i.e all properties owned by us during the twelve-month periods

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 by providing information for the properties which were acquired under development including

lease-up assets or placed into service and administrative/elimination information for the twelve-month periods ended December 31
2009 and 2008 in thousands

The Total Portfolio net income presented in the table is equal to the net income of Brandywine Realty Trust and Brandywine

Operating Partnership
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Total Revenue

Cash rents from the Total Portfolio increased by $2.5 million from 2008 to 2009 primarily reflecting

An additional $5.8 million from four development/redevelopment properties that we completed and placed in service

subsequent to 2008

An additional $1.0 million of rental income due to increased occupancy at nine development/redevelopment properties in 2009

in comparison to 2008

The increase was offset by the decrease of $4.9 million of rental income at our Same Store properties from 2008 to 2009 due to

decrease in occupancy of 380 basis points

Straight-line rents at the Total Portfolio decreased by $6.8 million primarily due to free rent converting to cash rent during 2009

Tenant reimbursements increased by $1.7 million from 2008 to 2009 primarily due to the increase in property operating expenses at

our Same Store Portfolio Tenant reimbursements increased by $1.6 million at our same store portfolio and the property operating

expenses including real estate taxes at those properties increased by $2.9 million

The decrease in termination fees of $1.2 million from 2008 to 2009 is mainly due to the recognition of $3.1 million termination fee

from one tenant during 2008 in comparison to $1.2 million termination fee received from one tenant at one of redevelopment

properties and $0.6 million termination fee received from one tenant at one of our same store properties in 2009

Third party management fees labor reimbursement and leasing decreased by $3.3 million from 2008 to 2009 as result of the

termination of the management fee contract on March 31 2008 that we entered into when we sold the 10 office properties located in

Reading and Harrisburg PA As the contract was terminated early approximately $0.8 million of unamortized deferred management

fees were taken into income during 2008 The decrease also resulted from the termination of other third party management contracts

totaling 4.3 million square feet subsequent to 2008

Property Operating Expenses

Property operating expenses including real estate taxes at the Total Portfolio increased by $7.4 million due to increased repairs and

maintenance expenses along with increased snow removal expenses during 2009 compared to 2008 We also incurred an additional

$4.7 million of expenses from four properties that we completed and placed in service subsequent to 2008 These increases were offset

by decrease in the bad debt expense of$1.4 million from 2008 to 2009

General Administrative Expenses

General administrative expenses decreased by $2.2 million from 2008 to 2009 mainly due to the severance costs of $2.4 million in

2008 that we did not have in 2009

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization increased by $6.5 million from 2008 to 2009 primarily due to $4.3 million of depreciation and

amortization expense recorded on the four properties completed and placed in service subsequent to 2008 An additional $4.3 million

of depreciation and amortization expense was recorded on portions of the nine development properties that were placed in service

subsequent to 2008 The increase was offset by the decrease of $1.6 million at the Same Store Portfolio for asset write-offs related to

early move-outs and ftilly amortized assets when comparing 2009 to 2008

Interest Income Expense

Interest income increased by approximately $0.7 million mainly due to the accretion of the $40.0 million non-interest bearing note

receivable from the sale of the five Northern California properties in the fourth quarter of 2008 The note receivable was recorded at

its present value on the date of sale of $37.1 million During 2009 we recognized $1.6 million of interest income related to this note

receivable and $0.2 million of interest income related to the $22.5 million note receivable from the sale of the two Trenton properties

during the fourth quarter of 2009 During 2008 we recognized $0.4 million of interest income related to the note receivable from the

sale of the five Northem California properties and $0.5 million of interest income received from certificate of deposit investment
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The decrease in interest expense of$l0.9 million is mainly due to the following

decrease of $4.9 million resulting from the payoff at maturity of our $113.0 million private placement notes in December 2008

decrease of $3.4 million resulting from lower
average

Credit Facility balance at the end of 2009 and lower weighted

average interest rate on such borrowings in 2009 compared to December 31 2008

decrease of $6.9 million resulting from lower weighted average interest rates on our $183.0 million Bank Term Loan and our

three Preferred Tmst borrowings Such borrowings have variable interest rates and portion of such borrowings are swapped

to fixed rate debt through our hedging program This decrease is offset by an increase of $5.7 million paid under these hedges

since the variable interest rates on such debt is lower than the swapped fixed rate on the hedges assigned to these borrowings

decrease of $17.5 million resulting from our buybacks of unsecured notes in 2009 The details of the repurchases completed

during the twelve months ended December 31 2009 and 2008 are noted in the Gain on early extinguishment of debt section

below This decrease is offset by an increase of $5.1 million of interest on issuance of new notes

The above explained net decrease of $21.9 million is offset by decrease in capitalized interest of $7.9 million as result of the

decrease in the average balance on open development and redevelopment projects $0.3 million of interest
expense

related to our tax

credit transactions and an increase of $2.6 million from higher outstanding mortgage notes payable balance as of December 31
2009 compared to December 31 2008

Amortization of deferred financing costs increased by $0.4 million due to the acceleration of such expenses incurred in the debt

repurchase activities of 2009

Provision for impairment on land inventory

As part of our review of long-lived assets in accordance with the accounting standard for long-lived assets during the quarter ending

December 31 2008 management determined that certain of the parcels in our land inventory considered at that time more likely to be

sold had historical carrying values in excess of the current estimate of their fair value Our impairment was recorded based on

managements estimate of the current fair value of the land inventory at that time

Provision for Impairment on Real Estate

During the quarter ended March 31 2009 impairment review we determined that one of the properties tested for impairment under the

held and used model had historical cost greater than the probability weighted undiscounted cash flows Accordingly the recorded

amount was reduced to an amount based on managements estimate of the current fair value During the nine months period ended

September 30 2008 we recorded provision of $6.85 million for impairment relating to the sale of the five Northem Califomia

properties classifies as held for sale

Where properties have been identified as having potential for sale additional judgments are required related to the determination as

to the appropriate period over which the undiscounted cash flows should include the operating cash flows and the amount included as

the estimated residual value Management determines the amounts to be included based on probability weighted cash flow This

requires significant judgment In some cases the results of whether an impairment is indicated are sensitive to changes in assumptions

input into the estimates including the hold period until expected sale

Recognized hedge activity

During 2009 we recorded $1.1 million mark to market adjustment relating to two of our swaps that were applied to our offering of

$250.0 million 7.50o senior unsecured notes due 2015 completed in September 2009 The swaps no longer qualified for hedge

accounting upon completion of this offering as the hedging relationship was terminated Accordingly the changes in the fair value of

the swaps were reflected in our statement of operations until they were cash settled in December 2009 We paid $5.1 million to

terminate these swaps During the year we also recorded net $0.1 million of income related to the write-off of AOCI and the

ineffective portion of certain of our hedges
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Equity in income of real estate ventures

The decrease in equity in income of real estate venture from 2008 to 2009 was mainly due to payout of $3.2 million that we received

for our interest in real estate venture that was sold during the fourth quarter of 2008 The remainder of the decrease is primarily

attributable to lower net income at the real estate venture properties

Gain on early extinguishment of debt

During 2009 we repurchased $154.1 million of our $345.0 million 3.875% Exchangeable Notes $94.1 million of our $275.0 million

4.500c Guaranteed Notes due 2009 $77.0 million of our $300.0 million 5.625% Guaranteed Notes due 2010 $112.2 million of our

$300.0 million 5.750% Guaranteed Notes due 2012 and $7.3 million of our $250.0 million 5.400% Guaranteed Notes due 2014 which

resulted in net gain on early extinguishment of debt of $23.2 million The gain on early extinguishment of debt is inclusive of

adjustments made to reflect our adoption of the new accounting standard for convertible debt instruments

During 2008 we repurchased $63.0 million of our $345.0 million 3.875% Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes $78.3 million of our

$275.0 million 4.500o Guaranteed Notes due 2009 and $24.5 million of our $300.0 million 5.625% Guaranteed Notes due 2010

which resulted in an $18.1 million gain that we reported for the early extinguishment of debt The gain on extinguishment of debt has

been retrospectively adjusted to reflect our adoption of the new accounting standard for convertible debt instruments

Discontinued Operations

During the twelve month period ended December 31 2009 we sold two properties in Exton PA one property in Moorestown NJ
one property in Bethesda MD two properties in Trenton NJ and condominium unit and an undivided interest in an office building

in Lawrenceville NJ These properties had total revenue of $13.5 million operating expenses of $6.4 million depreciation and

amortization
expenses

of $2.2 million and gain on sale of $1.2 million We determined that the sale of the two properties in Trenton

NJ should be accounted for using the Installment Sale Method As result we deferred the portion of the gain which exceeded the

calculated gain following the installment sale method These amounts will decrease in proportion with the paydown of the principal

balance on our note receivable from the buyer of the properties The buyer is not obligated to make any principal payments over the

next seven years If they do make principal payments in advance portion of these amounts that are deferred will be recognized as

gain on sale in the period that we receive the cash for the principal payments We also recorded $3.7 million loss provision during

the first quarter of 2009 in connection with the property in Bethesda MD sold during the second quarter of 2009 which reduced our

income from discontinued operations

The December 31 2008 amounts are reclassified to include the operations of the properties sold during the twelve months period

ended December 31 2009 as well as all properties that were sold through the year ended December 31 2008 Therefore the

discontinued operations amount for the twelve months period ended December 31 2008 includes total revenue of $60.8 million

operating expenses of $27.3 million depreciation and amortization expense of $13.4 million interest expense of $4.a million and

gains on sale of $28.5 million We also recorded $6.85 million loss provision in connection with the five Northem California

properties classified as held for sale during the second quarter of 2008 which reduced our income from discontinued operations

Net Income

Net income decreased by $30.4 million from the twelve-month period ended December 2008 as result of the factors described

above Net income is significantly impacted by depreciation of operating properties and amortization of acquired intangibles These

non-cash charges do not directly affect our ability to pay dividends Such charges can be expected to continue until lease intangibles

are fully amortized These intangibles are amortizing over the related lease terms or estimated duration of the tenant relationship

Earnings per Common Share

Loss per
share basic and diluted were $0.00 for the twelve-month period ended December 31 2009 as compared to earnings per

share of $0.33 for the twelve-month period ended December 31 2008 as result of the factors described above and an increase in the

average
number of common shares outstanding The increase in the

average
number of common shares outstanding is primarily the

result of $242.3 million public equity offering of 40250000 shares during the second quarter of 2009
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES OF THE PARENT COMPANY

The Parent Company conducts its business through the Operating Partnership and its only material asset is its ownership of the

partnership interests of the Operating Partnership The Parent Company other than acting as the sole general partner of the Operating

Partnership issues public equity from time to time and
guarantees

the debt obligations of the Operating Partnership The Parent

Companys principal funding requirement is the payment of dividends on its common stock and preferred stock The Parent

Companys principal source of funding for its dividend payments is the distributions it receives from the Operating Partnership

As of December 31 2010 the Parent Company owned 93.100 interest in the Operating Partnership The remaining 6.9 interest

consists of common units of limited partnership interest owned by non-affiliated investors As the sole general partner of the

Operating Partnership the Parent Company has full and complete authority over the Operating Partnerships day-to-day operations

and management

The Parent Companys principal source of capital is from the distributions it receives from the Operating Partnership The Parent

Company believes that the Operating Partnerships sources of working capital particularly its cash flows from operations and

borrowings available under its Credit Facility are adequate for it to make its distribution payments to the Parent Company which in

turn will enable the Parent Company to make dividend payments to its stockholders

The Parent Company receives proceeds from equity issuances from time to time but is required by the Operating Partnerships

partnership agreement to contribute the proceeds from its equity issuances to the Operating Partnership in exchange for partnership

units of the Operating Partnership The Parent Companys ability to sell common shares and preferred shares is dependent on among
other things general niarket conditions for REITs market perceptions about the Company as whole and the current trading price of

its shares The Parent Company regularly analyzes which source of capital is most advantageous to it at any particular point in time

In March 20 10 the Parent Company commenced continuous equity Offering Program under which it may sell up to an aggregate

amount of 15000000 common shares until March 10 2013 in amounts and at times to be determined by the Parent Company Actual

sales will depend on variety of factors to be determined by the Parent Company including market conditions the trading price of its

common shares and determinations by the Parent Company of the appropriate sources of funding In conjunction with the Offering

Program the Parent Company engaged sales agents who received compensation in aggregate of up to of the gross sales price per

share sold during the twelve months ended December 31 2010 Through December 2010 the Parent Company sold 5742268
shares under this program at an average sales price of $12.54 per share resulting in net proceeds of $70.8 million The Parent

Company contributed the net proceeds from the sales to the Operating Partnership

On December 2010 the Parent Company declared distribution of $0.15 per common share totaling $20.3 million which it paid

on Januaiy 20 2011 to its shareholders of record as of January 2011 In addition the Parent Company declared distributions on its

Series Preferred Shares and Series Preferred Shares to holders of record as of December 30 2010 These shares are entitled to

preferential return of 7.50 and 7.37500 respectively Distributions paid on January 18 2011 to holders of Series Preferred Shares

and Series Preferred Shares totaled $0.9 million and $1.1 million respectively

The Parent Company also maintains share repurchase program under which its Board of Trustees has authorized the Parent

Company to repurchase its common shares from time to time As of December 31 2010 there were approximately 0.5 million shares

remaining to be rcpurchased under this program The Parent Companys Board of Trustees has not limited the duration of the

program however it may be terminated at any time

Together with the Operating Partnership the Parent Company maintains shelf registration statement that has registered common

shares preferred shares depositary shares and warrants and unsecured debt securities Subject to the Companys ongoing compliance

with securities laws and if warranted by market conditions the Company may offer and sell equity and debt securities from time to

time under the shelf registration statement

The Parent Company also guarantees the Operating Partnerships secured and unsecured debt obligations which as of December 31

2010 amounted to $712.2 million and $1722.3 million respectively If the Operating Partnership were to fail to comply with its debt

requirements the Parent Company would be required to fulfill the Operating Partnerships commitments under such guarantees As of

December 31 201U the Operating Partnership was in compliance with all of its debt covenants

In order to maintain its qualification as REIT the Parent Company is required to among other things pay dividends to its

shareholders of at least 90 of its REIT taxable income The Parent Company has historically satisfied this requirement

Overall the liquidity of the Parent Company is dependent on the Operating Partnerships ability to make distributions to the Parent

Company However therc can be no assurance that the Operating Partnerships sources of capital will continue to be available to

meet its working capital needs including its ability to make distribution payments to the Parent Company In cascs here the

Operating Partnership is faced \vith working capital problems or would need to raise capital to fund acquisitions and dc elopments
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the Parent Company will have to consider alternative sources to increase liquidity including among other things equity issuances

through its existing Offering Program use of its available line of credit and potential sale of properties

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES OF THE OPERA TING PARTNERSHIP

General

The Operating Partnerships principal liquidity needs for the next twelve months are as follows

fund normal recurring expenses

fund capital expenditures including capital and tenant improvements and leasing costs

fund repayment of certain debt instruments when they mature

fund current development and redevelopment costs and

fund distributions to the Parent Company

The Operating Partnership believes that with the uncertain economic conditions it is likely that vacancy rates may continue to

increase effective rental rates on new and renewed leases may continue to decrease and tenant installation costs including

concessions may continue to increase in most or all of its markets in 2011 and possibly beyond As result the Operating

Partnerships revenue from the overall reduced demand for office space and its cash flow could be insufficient to cover increased

tenant installation costs over the short-term If this situation were to occur the Operating Partnership expects that it would finance

cash deficits through borrowings under our Credit Facility and other debt and equity financings

The Operating Partnership believes that its liquidity needs will be satisfied through cash flows generated by operations financing

activities and selective property sales Rental revenue expense recoveries from tenants and other income from operations are its

principal sources of cash used to pay operating expenses debt service recurring capital expenditures and the minimum distributions

required to maintain its REIT qualification The Operating Partnership seeks to increase cash flows from its properties by maintaining

quality standards for its properties that promote high occupancy rates and permit increases in rental rates while reducing tenant

turnover and controlling operating expenses The Operating Partnerships revenue also includes third-party fees generated by its

property management leasing development and constrnction businesses The Operating Partnership believes that its revenue

together with proceeds from property sales and debt financings will continue to provide funds for its short-term liquidity needs

However material changes in its operating or financing activities may adversely affect its net cash flows Such changes in turn would

adversely affect its ability to fund distributions to the Parent Company debt service payments and tenant improvements In addition

material adverse change in its cash provided by operations would affect the financial performance covenants under its Crcdit Facility

unsecured term loan and unsecured notes

Financial markets have experienced unusual volatility and uncertainty The Operating Partnerships ability to ftmd development

projects as well as its ability to repay or refinance debt maturities could be adversely affected by its inability to secure financing at

reasonable terms beyond those already completed It is possible in these unusual and uncertain times that one or more lenders in its

Credit Facility could fail to fund borrowing request Such an event could adversely affect its ability to access funds from its Credit

Facility when needed

The Operating Partnerships liquidity management remains priority The Operating Partnership is proactively pursuing new

financing opportunities to ensure an appropriate balance sheet position As result of these dedicated efforts the Operating

Partnership is comfortable with its ability to meet future debt maturities and development or property acquisition funding needs The

Operating Partnership believes that its current balance sheet is in an adequate position at the date of this filing despite the volatility in

the credit markets The following are the Operating Partnerships significant activities during 2010 affecting its liquidity

management

From the inception of the Parent Companys continuous equity Offering Program in March 2010 through December 31

2010 the Parent Company had contributed $70.8 million in net proceeds from the sale of 5742268 common shares to the

Operating Partnership in exchange for the issuance of 5742268 common partnership units to the Parent Company The

Operating Partnership used the net proceeds contributed by the Parent Company to reduce borrowings under the Credit

Facility and for general corporate purposes

In June 2010 the Operating Partnership through one of its wholly owned TRS entities received $27.4 million contribution

under the historic tax credit transaction entered into in 2008 with US Bancorp

On August 2010 the Operating Partnership issued 7111112 units of its newly-established Class 2010 Units in

connection with the acquisition of Three Logan Square The Class 2010 Units do not accrue dividend and are not
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entitled to income or loss allocations prior to the first anniversary of the closing They are also not convertible into the Parent

Companys common shares for that period For purposes of computing the total purchasc price of Three Logan Square the

Class 2010 Units were valued based on the closing market pricc of the Parent Companys common shares on the

acquisition date of $11.54 less the annual dividend rate per share of $0.60 to reflect that these units do not begin to accrue

dividend prior to the first anniversary of their issuance

On August 26 2010 the Operating Partnership receivcd $254.0 million of gross proceeds from $256.5 million forward

financing commitment that the Operating Partnership obtained on June 29 2009 The Operating Partnership paid $17.7

million commitment fee in connection with this commitment The loan proceeds together with the commitment fee had been

escrowed with an institutional tmstee pending the completion of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage as

well as the commencement of the leases at these facilities The financing consists of two separate loans $209.7 million

secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and $46.8 million secured by the Cira South Garage The lender held back $2.5

million of the loan proceeds pending the completion of certain conditions related to the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the

Cira South Garage As of December 2010 the Operating Partnership has received $2.1 million of the total amount held

back The loans are non-recourse and are secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage respectively

The loans bear interest at S.930o per annum with interest only through Septcmber 10 2010 and thereafter require principal

and interest monthly payments through its maturity in Septcmber 2030 The Operating Partnership used the loan proceeds to

reduce borrowings under its Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

The Operating Partnership uses multiple financing sources to fund its long-term capital needs It uses its Credit Facility for general

business purposes including the acquisition development and redevelopment of properties and the repayment of other debt It will

also consider other properties within its portfolio as necessary where it may be in its best interest to obtain secured mortgage

The Operating Partnerships ability to incur additional debt is dependent upon number of factors including its credit ratings the

value of its unencumbered assets its degree of leverage and borrowing restrictions imposed by its current lenders If more than one

rating agency were to downgrade its credit rating its access to capital in the unsecured debt market would be more limited and the

interest rate under its existing Credit Facility and the term loan would increase

The Operating Partnerships ability to sell its limited partnership and preferred units is dependent on among other things general

market conditions for REITs market perceptions about the Company and thc current trading price of the Parent Companys shares

The Parent Company contributes the proceeds it receives from its equity issuances to the Operating Partnership in exchange for

partnership units of the Operating Partnership in accordance ith the Operating Partnerships partnership agreement The Operating

Partnership uses the net proceeds from the sales contributed by the Parent Conipany to reducc borrowings under thc Credit Facility

and for general corporate purposes The Operating Partnership from time to time also issues its own partnership units as

consideration for property acquisitions and developments as shown in one of thc Operating Partnerships activities during 2010 above

The Operating Partnership will also consider sales of selected Propcrties as another source of managing its liquidity Asset sales

during 2009 and through 2010 havc been source of cash During 2010 it sold properties containing 0.5 million in net rentable

square feet for net cash proceeds of $50 million Since mid 2007 the Operating Partnership has used proceeds from asset sales to

repay existing indebtedness provide capital for its development activities and strengthen its financial condition There is no guarantee

that it will be able to raise similaror evcn lesser amounts of capital from future assct sales

Cash Flows

The following summary discussion of the Operating Partnerships cash flows is based on the consolidated statement of cash flows and

is not meant to be an all-inclusive discussion of the changes in our cash flows for the periods presented

As of December 2010 and 2009 the Opcrating Partnership maintained cash and cash equivalents of $16.6 million and $1.6

million respectively The following are the changes in cash flows from its activities for the years ended in thousands

Activity 2010 2009 2008

Operating 185127 220405 233867

Investing 71936 102549 164046

Financing 1807 120213 399589

Net cash flows 14998 2357 1676
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The Operating Partnerships principal source of cash flows is from the operation of its properties The Operating Partnership does not

restate its cash flow for discontinued operations

The net decrease of $35.3 million in cash flows from operating activities of the Operating Partnership during the year ended December

31 2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009 is primarily the result of the following

decrease in average occupancy from 89.3% during the year ended December 31 2009 to 87.6% during the year ended

December 31 2010

decrease in the number of operating properties due to dispositions We sold total of eight properties during the year ended

December 31 2010

timing of cash receipts from our tenants and cash expenditures in the normal course of operations

The net increase of $69.4 million in cash flows used in investing activities of the Operating Partnership during the
year

ended

December 2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009 is primarily attributable to the following

$50.7 million of net cash paid related to the acquisition of Three Logan Square $50.3 million and the parcel of land in

Gibbsboro New Jersey $0.4 million

decrease in cash of $1.4 million due to the deconsolidation of variable interest entities

receipt of funds placed in escrow during the last quarter of 2008 related to the Cira South Garage amounting to $31.4 million

which was also used to finance the development of the Cira South Garage during the first quarter of 2009

decrease in net proceeds from sales of properties from $101.3 million during the year ended December 31 2009 to $50.1

million during the year ended December 31 2010

decrease in cash distributions from unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures of$l0.9 million during the year ended December 31
2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009 This was offset by the $9.8 million decrease in contributions made to

unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures during the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the year ended December 31

2009

advances made for purchase of tenant assets net of repayment amounting to $1.7 million and

$0.8 million loan was provided to an unconsolidated Real Estate Venture partner

The net increase in cash used in investing activities was partially offset by the following transactions

receipt of $40.0 million of proceeds from repayment of notes receivable and

decreased capital expenditures for tenant and building improvements and leasing commissions by $28.9 million during the
year

ended December 31 2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009

The net decrease of $118.4 million in cash used in financing activities of the Operating Partnership during the year ended December

31 2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009 is mainly due to the following

an increase of$l06.3 million in proceeds from mortgage notes payable during the
year

ended December 31 2010 compared to

the year ended December 31 2009 primarily due to the receipt of the $256.1 million from the forward financing entered into

during 2009 In addition repayments of mortgage notes payable decreased from $84.1 million during the year ended December

31 2009 to $52.0 million during the year ended December 31 2010

decrease in repayments of the Credit Facility and unsecured notes of $808.0 million during the year endcd December

2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009 offset by the decrease in proceeds from the Credit Facility and

unsecured term loan borrowings of $665.0 million

63



net settlement of hedge transactions during the year ended December 31 2009 amounting to $5.0 million and

decrease in debt financing costs of $24.0 million during the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the year ended

December 31 2009 primarily due to the $17.7 million forward financing commitment fee paid in 2009

The above described net decrease in cash used in financing activities was partially offset by the following transactions

decrease in net proceeds received from the issuance of common shares of the Parent Company amounting to $171.5 million

during the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009 and

increase in distributions paid by the Parent Company to its shareholders and on non-controlling interests from $70.6 million

during the year ended December 31 2009 to $89.0 during the year ended December 31 2010

Capitalization

Indebtedness

The Operating Partnership is the issuer of our unsecured notes and the Parent Company has
fItlly

and unconditionally guaranteed the

payment of principal and interest on the notes During the year ended December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership repurchased

$82.7 million of its unsecured Notes as summarized in the table below

Repurchase Deferred Financing

Notes Amount Principal Loss Amortization

2010 5.625c Notes 2002 t942 37

2011 3.875c Notes 68741 68125 1762 281

2012 5.750c Notes 13333 12625 431 32

84076 82692 2230 316

On October 202011 the holders of the Guaraoteed Exchangeable Notes have the right to
request

the redemption of all or portion
of the

Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes they hold at price equal to 10000 of the principal amount plus accmed and unpaid interest

Accordingly the Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes have been
presented

with an October 20 2011
maturity

date

On August 26 2010 the Operating Partnership received $254.0 million of gross proceeds from $256.5 million forward financing

commitment the Operating Partnership obtained on June 29 2009 The Operating Partnership paid $17.7 million commitment fee in

connection with this commitment The loan proceeds together with the commitment fee had been escrowed with an institutional

trustee pending the completion of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage as well as the commencement of the leases

at these facilities The financing consists of two separate loans $209.7 million secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and $46.8

million secured by the Cira South Garage The lender held back $2.5 million of the loan proceeds pending completion of certain

conditions related to the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage As of December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership

has received $2.1 million of the amounts held back The loans are non-recourse and are secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and

the Cira South Garage respectively The loans bear interest at 5.93o with interest only through September 10 2010 and thereafter

require principal and interest monthly payments though its maturity in September 2030 The Operating Partnership used the loan

proceeds to reduce borrowings under its Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

As of December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership had approximately $2.4 billion of outstanding indebtedness The table below

summarixes the Operating Partnerships mortgage notes payahle its unsecured notes and its Credit Facility at Decemher 31 2010 and

December 31 2009
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December 31 December 31

2010 2009

dollars in thousands

Balance

Fixed rate includes variable swapped to fixed 1929962 2246375

Variable rate unhedged 504610 214836

Total 2434572 2461211

Percent of Total Debt

Fixed rate includes variable swapped to fixed 79.3 91.3%

Variable rate unhedged 20.7c 8.7c

Total 100o 10000

Weighted-average interest rate at period end

Fixed rate includes variable swapped to fixed 6.4o 5.900

Variable rate unhedged 1.6 2.6

Total 5.4c 5.6c

The variable rate debt shown above generally bears interest based on various spreads over LIBOR term selected by the Operating

Partnership

The Operating Partnership uses Credit Facility borrowings for general business purposes including the acquisition development and

redevelopment of properties and the repayment of other debt It has the option to increase the maximum borrowings under its Credit

Facility to $800.0 million subject to the absence of any defaults and its ability to obtain additional commitments from its existing or

new lenders

The interest rates incurred under our revolving Credit Facility and term loan are subject to modification depending on our rating status

with qualified agencies

As of December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership had $183.0 million of borrowings and $11.2 million of letters of credit

outstanding under the Credit Facility leaving $405.8 million of unused availability For the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2009

the Operating Partnerships weighted average interest rates including the effects of interest rate hedges discussed in Note to the

consolidated financial statements included herein and including both the new Credit Facility and prior credit facility were 1.03 and

2.08 per annum respectively

The Credit Facility contains financial and non-financial covenants including covenants that relate to the Operating Partnerships

incurrence of additional debt the granting of liens consummation of mergers and consolidations the disposition of assets and

interests in subsidiaries the making of loans and investments and the payment of dividends The restriction on dividends permits the

Operating Partnership to make distributions to the Parent Company based on the greater of an amount required for the Parent

Company to retain its qualification as REIT and ii 95o of the Operating Partnerships finds from operations The Credit Facility

also contains financial covenants that require the Operating Partnership to maintain an interest
coverage ratio fixed charge coverage

ratio an unsecured debt ratio and an unencumbered cash flow ratio above certain specified minimum levels to maintain net worth

above an amount determined on specified formula and to maintain leverage ratio and secured debt ratio below certain maximum

levels Another financial covenant limits the ratio of unsecured debt to unencumbered properties The Operating Partnership

continuously monitors its compliance with the covenants Certain of the covenants restrict the Operating Partnerships ability to obtain

alternative snurces of capital The Operating Partnership was in cnmpliance with all covenants as of Decemher 31 2010

The indenture under which the Operating Partnership issued its unsecured Notes contains financial covenants including leverage

ratio not to exceed 60 secured debt leverage ratio not to exceed 40 debt service coverage ratio of greater than .5 to 1.0

and an unencumbered asset value of not less than 15000 of unsecured debt The Operating Partnership was in compliance with all

covenants as of December 31 201

The Operating Partnership has mortgage loans that are collateralized by certain of its Properties Payments on mortgage loans aie

generally due in monthly installments of principal and interest or interest only The Operating Partnership intends to refinance or

repay
its mortgage loans as they mature through the use of proceeds from selective Property sales and secured or unsecured
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borrowings However in the current and future economic environment one or more of these sources may not be available on attractive

terms or at all

The Parent Companys charter documents do not limit the amount or form of indebtedness that the Operating Partnership may incur

and its policies on debt incunence are solely within the discretion of the Parent Companys Board of Trustees subject to financial

covenants in the Credit Facility indenture and other credit agreements

As of December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership had guaranteed repayment of approximately $0.7 million of loans on behalf of

one Real Estate Venture See Item Properties Real Estate Ventures The Operating Partnership also provides customary

environmental indemnities and completion guarantees in connection with construction and permanent financing both for its own

account and on behalf of certain of the Real Estate Ventures

Equity

On December 2010 the Operating Partnership declared distribution of $0.15 per Class common unit totaling $20.3 million

which was paid on January 202011 to unitholders of record as of January 62011

On December 2010 the Operating Partnership declared distributions on its Series Preferred Minor Units and Series Preferred

Minor Units to holders of record as of December 30 2010 These units are entitled to preferential retum of 7.50% and 7.375%

respectively Distributions paid on January 18 2011 to holders of Series Preferred Minor Units and Series Preferred Minor Units

totaled $0.9 million and $0.1 million respectively

From the inception of the Offering Program in March 2010 through December 31 2010 the Parent Company contributed net proceeds

of $70.8 million from the sale of 5742268 shares to the Operating Partnership in exchange for the issuance of 5742268 common

partnership units to the Parent Company The Operating Partnership used the net proceeds from the sales to reduce borrowings under

the Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

On August 2010 the Operating Partnership issued 7111112 Class 2010 units as part of its consideration for the acquisition of

Three Logan Square The Class 2010 units were valued based on the closing market price of the Parent Companys common
shares on the acquisition date of $11.54 less the annual dividend rate per share of $0.60 to reflect that these units do not begin to

accrue dividend prior to the first anniversary of their issuance The Class 2010 units are subject to redemption at the option of

holder after August 2011 The Operating Partnership may at its option satisfy the redemption either for an amount per unit of

cash equal to the market price of one Parent Company common share based on the five-day trading average ending on the date of the

redemption or for one Parent Company common share The Class 2010 units do not begin to accrue dividends and are not

entitled to income or loss allocations prior to August 2011 Thereafter the Class 2010 units will receive the same dividend that

the Parent Company pays on its common shares

The Parent Company did not purchase any shares during the year ended December 31 2010 and accordingly during the year ended

December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership did not repurchase any units in connection with the Parent Companys share repurchase

program

Together with the Operating Partnership the Parent Company maintains shelf registration statement that registered common shares

preferred shares depositary shares and warrants and unsecured debt securities Subject to the Companys ongoing compliance with

securities laws if warranted by market conditions the Company may offer and sell equity and debt securities from time to time under

the shelf registration statement

Short- and Long- Term Liquidity

The Operating Partnership believes that its cash flow from operations is adequate to fund its short-term liquidity requirements

excluding principal paynients under its debt obligations Cash flow from operations is generated primarily from rental revenues and

operating expense reimbursements from tenants and management services income from providing services to third parties The

Operating Partnership intends to use these funds to meet short-term liquidity needs which are to ftind operating expenses recurring

capital expenditures tenant allowances leasing commissions interest expense and the minimum distributions to the Parent Company

required to maintain the Parent Companys REIT qualification under the Internal Revenue Code The Operating Partnership expects to

meet short-term scheduled debt maturities through boiTowings under the Credit Facility and proceeds from asset dispositions As of

December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership has $1722.3 million of unsecured debt and $712.2 million of mortgage debt of which

$425.8 million and $128.5 million respectively are scheduled to mature through December 2011 The Operating Partnership

extended the maturity date of the $183.0 million Term Loan from October 18 2010 to June 29 2011 The Operating Partnership may
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extend the maturity dates of the Credit Facility and the term loan to June 29 2012 For the remaining debt maturities the Operating

Partnership expects to have sufficient capacity under its Credit Facility but it will also evaluate other listed sources to fund these

maturities

The Operating Partnership expects to meet its long-term liquidity requirements such as for property acquisitions development

investments in real estate ventures scheduled debt maturities major renovations expansions and other significant capital

improvements through cash from operations borrowings under the Credit Facility additional secured and unsecured indebtedness

the issuance of equity securities contributions from joint venture investors and proceeds from asset dispositions

Many commercial real estate lenders have substantially tightened underwriting standards or have withdrawn from the lending

marketplace Also spreads in the investment grade bond market remain wider than historic spreads These circumstances have

impacted liquidity in the debt markets making financing terms less attractive and in certain cases have resulted in the unavailability

of certain types of debt financing As result the Operating Partnership expects debt financings will be more difficult to obtain and

that borrowing costs on new and refinanced debt will be more expensive Moreover the volatility in the financial markets in general

will make it more difficult or costly for it to raise capital through the issuance of common stock preferred stock or other equity

instruments or through public issuances of debt securities from its shelf registration statement as it has been able to do in the past

Such conditions would also limit its ability to raise capital through asset dispositions at attractive prices or at all

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are not dependent on any off-balance sheet financing arrangements
for liquidity Our off-balance sheet arrangements are discussed

in Note to the financial statements Investment in Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures Additional information about the debt of

our unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures is included in Item Properties

Inflation

majority of the Operating Partnerships leases provide for tenant reimbursement of real estate taxes and operating expenses
either

on triple net basis or over base amount In addition many of its office leases provide for fixed base rent increases The Operating

Partnership believes that inflationary increases in expenses
will be partially offset by expense

reimbursement and contractual rent

increases

Commitments and Contingencies

The following table outlines the timing of payment requirements related to the Operating Partnerships contractual commitments as of

December 31 2010
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Payments by Period in thousands

Less than More than

Total Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years

Mortgage notes payable 712246 128544 112973 113357 357372

Revolving credit
facility 183000 183000

Unsecured tern loan 183000 183000

Unsecured debt 1356326 175200 742681 438445

Ground leases 298712 1818 5545 5727 285622

Interest expense 684842 122031 204038 191426 167347

Development contracts 5519 5519

Other liabilities 9221 9221

3432866 623912 497756 1053191 1258007

Amounts do not include unamortized discounts and/or premiums

Future minimum rental payments under the terms of all non-cancelable ground leases under which we are

the lessee are expensed on straight line basis regardless of when payments are due The table above does

not include the tbture minimum annual rental payments related to the ground lease that we assumed in connection

with the acquisition of Three Logan Square as the amounts cannot be determined at this time as discussed below

Represents contractual obligations for certain development projects and does not contemplate all costs expected to be incurred

to be incurred for such developments

Variable rate debt thture interest expense commitments are calculated using December 31 2010 interest rates

The Operating Partnership has ground tenancy rights under long term ground lease agreement through its acquisition of Three

Logan Square on August 2010 The annual rental payment under this giound lease is ten dollars through August 2022 which is

when the initial term of the ground lease will end After the initial term the Operating Partnership has the option to renew the lease

until 2091 The Operating Partnership also has the option to purchase the land at fair market value after providing written notice to

the owner The annual rental payment after 2022 will be adjusted at the lower of $3.0 million or the prevailing market rent at that time

until 2030 Subsequent to 2030 the annual rental payment will be adjusted at the lower of $4.0 million or the prevailing market rent at

that time until 2042 and at fair market value until 2091 The Operating Partnership believes that based on conditions as of the date the

lease was assigned August 2010 the lease will reset to market after the initial term Using the estimated fair market rent as of the

date of the acquisition over the extended term of the ground lease assuming the purchase option is not exercised the future payments

will aggregate $27.4 million The Operating Partnership has not included the amounts in the table above since such amounts are not

fixed and determinable

As part of the Operating Partnerships September 2004 acquisition of portfolio of properties from The Rubenstein Company which
the Operating Partnership refers to as the TRC acquisition the Operating Partnership acquired interest in Two Logan Square

706288 square foot office building in Philadelphia primarily through its ownership of second and third mortgage secured by this

property This property is consolidated as the borrower is variable interest entity and the Operating Partnership through its

ownership of the second and third mortgages is the primary beneficiary It currently does not expect to take title to Two Logan Square

until at the earliest September 2019 If the Operating Partnership takes fee title to Two Logan Square upon foreclosure of its

mortgage the Operating Partnership has agreed to pay an unaffiliated third party that holds residual interest in the fee owner of this

property an amount equal to $2.9 million On the TRC acquisition the Operating Partnership recorded liability of $0.7 million and

this amount will acerete up to $2.9 million through September 2019 As of December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership has

balance of $1.2 million for this liability in its consolidated balance sheet

The Operating Partnership has been audited by the Internal Revenue Service the IRS for its 2004 tax year The audit concems the

tax treatment of the TRC acquisition in September 2004 in which the Operating Partnership acquired portfolio of properties through

the acquisition of limited partnership On December 17 2010 the Operating Partnership received notice that the IRS proposed an

adjustment to the allocation of recourse liabilities allocated to the contributor of the properties The Operating Partnership intends to

appeal the proposed adjustment The proposed adjustment if upheld would not result in material tax liability for the Operating

Partnership However an adjustment could raise question as to whether contributor of partnership interests in the 2004 transaction

could assert claim against the Operating Partnership under the tax protection agreement entered into as part of the transaction
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As part of the Operating Partnerships 2006 Prentiss acquisition and the TRC acquisition in 2004 it agreed not to sell certain of the

properties it acquired in transactions that would trigger taxable income to the former owners In the case of the TRC acquisition the

Operating Partnership agreed not to sell acquired properties for periods up to 15 years from the date of the TRC acquisition as follows

at December 31 2010 One Rodney Square and 13011501170 Radnor Financial Center January 2015 and One Logan Square Two

Logan Square and Radnor Corporate Center January 2020 In the Prentiss acquisition the Operating Partnership assumed the

obligation of Prentiss not to sell Concord Airport Plaza before March 2018 The Operating Partnerships agreements generally provide

that we may dispose of the subject properties only in transactions that quali as tax-free exchanges under Section 1031 of thc Internal

Revenue Code or in other tax deferred transactions If the Operating Partnership was to sell restricted property before expiration of

the restricted period in non-exempt transaction it would be required to make significant payments to the parties who sold the

applicable property to the Operating Partnership for tax liabilities triggered to them

As part of the Operating Partnerships acquisition of properties from time to time in tax-deferred transactions it has agreed to provide

certain of the prior owners of the acquired properties with the right to guarantee its indebtedness If the Operating Partnership was to

seek to repay the indebtedness guaranteed by the prior owner before the expiration of the applicable agreement it will be required to

provide the prior owner an opportunity to guarantee qualifting replacement debt These debt maintenance agreements may limit its

ability to refinance indebtedness on terms that will be favorable to the Operating Partnership

In connection with the development of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage during 2008 the Operating

Partnership entered into historic tax credit and new markets tax credit arrangement respectively The Operating Partnership is

required to be in compliance with various laws regulations and contractual provisions that apply to its historic and new market tax

credit arrangements Non-compliance with applicable requirements could result in projected tax benefits not being realized and

therefore require refund to USB or reduction of investor capital contributions which are reported as deferred income in the

Operating Partnerships consolidated balance sheet until such time as its obligation to deliver tax benefits is relieved The remaining

compliance periods for its tax credit arrangements runs through 2015 The Operating Partnership does not anticipate that any material

refunds or reductions of investor capital contributions will be required in connection with these arrangements

The Operating Partnership invests in properties and regularly incurs capital expenditures in the ordinary course of its business to

maintain the properties The Operating Partnership believes that such expenditures enhance its competitiveness The Operating

Partnership also enters into construction utility and service contracts in the ordinary course of its business which may extend beyond

one year These contracts typically provide for cancellation with insignificant or no cancellation penalties

Interest Rate Risk and Sensitivity Analysis

The analysis below presents the sensitivity of the market value of the Operating Partnerships financial instruments to selected

changes in market rates The
range

of changes chosen reflects its view of changes which are reasonably possible over one-year

period Market values are the present value of projected future cash flows based on the market rates chosen

The Operating Partnerships tinancial instruments consist ot both tixed and variable rate debt As ot December 31 2010 its

consolidated debt consisted of $652.2 million in fixed rate mortgages $60.0 million of variable rate mortgages $183.0 million in

borrowings under its Credit Facility $183.0 million borrowings in an unsecured term loan and $1356.3 million in unsecured notes

before reduction of discounts of which $1277.7 million are fixed rate borrowings and $78.6 million are variable rate borrowings All

financial instruments were entered into for other than trading purposes and the net market value of these financial instruments is

referred to as the net financial position Changes in interest rates have different impacts on the fixed and variable rate portions of our

debt portfolio change in interest rates on the fixed portion of the debt portfolio impacts the net financial instrument position but has

no impact on interest incurred or cash flows change in interest rates on the variable portion of the debt portfolio impacts the interest

incurred and cash flows but does not impact the net financial instrument position

As of December 31 2010 based on prevailing interest rates and credit spreads the fair value of the Operating Partnerships unsecured

notes was $1.3 billion For sensitivity purposes 100 basis point change in the discount rate equates to change in the total fair value

of its debt including the Notes of approximately $12.7 million at December 31 2010

From time to time or as the need arises the Operating Partnership uses derivative instruments to nianage
interest rate risk exposures

and not for speculative purposes All of the Operating Partnerships interest rate swap agreements matured on October 18 2010

The total carrying value of the Operating Partnerships variable rate debt was approximately $444.6 million and $353.6 million at

December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 respectively The total fair value of the Operating Partnerships debt was approximately

$432.6 million and $341.2 million at December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 respectively For sensitivity purposes 100 bisis

point change in the discount rate equates to change in the total fair value of its debt of approximately $4.4 million at December
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2010 and 100 basis point change in the discount rate equates to change in the total fair value of its debt of approximately $1.5

million at December 31 2009

If market rates of interest were to increase by the fair value of the Operating Partnerships outstanding fixed-rate mortgage debt

would decrcase by approximately $33.4 million If market rates of interest were to decrease by the fair value of its outstanding

fixed-rate mortgage debt would increase by approximately $36.5 million

At December 31 2010 the Operating Partnerships outstanding variable rate debt based on LIBOR totaled approximately $444.6

million At December 31 2010 the interest rate on its variable rate debt was approximately 100 If market interest rates on its

variable rate debt change by 100 basis points total interest expense would change by approximately $1.1 million for the year ended

December 31 2010

These amounts were determined solely by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on the Operating Partnerships

financial instruments Due to the uncertainty of specific actions the Operating Partnership may undertake to minimize possible effects

of market interest rate increases this analysis assumes no changes in its applicable financial instruments or structure

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

See discussion in Managements Discussion and Analysis included in Item herein

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary financial data of Brandywine Realty Trust and Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P

and the reports thereon of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm with respect thereto are

listed under Item 15a and filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K See Item 15

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Nonc

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Controls and Procedures Parent Company

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure ontrols and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Parent Companys management including its principal executive officer and

principal financial officer the Parent Companys management conducted an evaluation of its disclosure controls and procedures as

such term is defined undcr Rule l3a-15e promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act
Based on this evaluation the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer of the Parent Company concluded that the

Parent Companys disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Parent Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule l3a-lSf

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Parent Companys management including its principal executive officer and

principal financial officer the Parent Companys management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the its intemal control

over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on this evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated

Framework the Parent Companys management concluded that the its internal control over financial reporting was effective as of

December 31 2010

Management of the Parent Company has excluded Three Logan Square from its assessment of intemal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2010 because it was acquired by the Parent Company in purchase business combination during 2010 Three
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Logan Square is whollyowned property of the Parent Company whose total assets and total revenue represent 2.7% and 1.3%

respectively of the Parent Companys consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year
ended December 31 2010

The effectiveness of the Parent Companys intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 has been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their reports which are included herein

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in the Parent Companys intemal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Rules

3a- 5f and Sd-i 5f under the Exchange Act during the fourth fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially

affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Parent Companys intemal control over financial reporting

Controls and Procedures Operating Partnership

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls anti Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Operating Partnerships management including its principal executive officer

and principal financial officer the Operating Partnerships management conducted an evaluation of its disclosure controls and

procedures as such term is defined under Rule l3a-lSe promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the

Exchange Act Based on this evaluation the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer of Operating Partnership

concluded that the Operating Partnerships disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by

this annual report

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Operating Partnership is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule l3a-l5f

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Operating Partnerships management including its principal executive officer

and principal financial officer the Operating Partnerships management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness its intemal

control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on this evaluation under the framework in Internal Control

Integrated Framework the Operating Partnerships management concluded that the its intemal control over financial reporting was

effective as of December 31 2010

Management of the Operating Partnership has excluded Three Logan Square from its assessment of internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2010 because it was acquired by the Operating Partnership in purchase business combination during

2010 Three Logan Square is wholly-owned property of the Operating Partnership whose total assets and total revenue represent

2.7 and 1.300 respectively of the Operating Partnerships consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended

December 31 2010

The effectiveness of the Operating Partnerships intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 has been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their reports which are included herein

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in the Operating Partnerships internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in

Rules 13a-lSffl and lSd-15f under the Exchange Act during the fourth fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially

affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Operating Partnerships internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed with respect to its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed with respect to its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters

Incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed with respect to its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed with respect to its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive proxy statement to be filed with respect to its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

and Financial Statements and Schedules

The financial statements and schedules of Brandywine Realty Trust and Brandywine Operating Partnership listed below are filed as

part of this annual report on the pages indicated
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Index to Financial Statements and Schedules

Report of independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Brandywine Realty Trust F-i

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P F-2

Financial Statements of Brandywine Realty Trust

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2010 and 2009 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Loss Income for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Beneficiaries Equity for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 F-6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 F-7

Financial Statements of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2010 and 2009 F-9

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2OO F-lu

Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Loss Income for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 F-il

Consolidated Statements of Partners Equity for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 F-l2

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 F-13

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Brandywine Realty Trust and Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P F-l5

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts Brandywine Realty Trust and Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P F-57

Schedule Ill Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation Brandywine Realty Trust and Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P F-58
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Exhibits

Exhibits No Description

3.1.1 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust amended and restated as of May 12

1997 previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated June 1997 and

incorporated herein by reference

3.1.2 Articles of Amendment to Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust September 1997 previously

filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form dated September 10 1997 and incorporated herein

by reference

3.1.3 Articles of Amendment to Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated June 1998 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.4 Articles Supplementary to Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust September 28 1998 previously

filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated October 13 1998 and incorporated herein by

reference

3.1.5 Articles of Amendment to Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust March 19 1999 previously filed

as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 1998 and

incorporated herein by reference

3.1.6 Articles Supplementary to Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust April 19 1999 previously filed

as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April 26 1999 and incorporated herein by

reference

3.1.7 Articles Supplementary to Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust December 30 2003 previously

filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-A dated December 29 2003 and incorporated herein

by reference

3.1.8 Articles Supplementary to Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust February 2004 previously

filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-A dated February 2004 and incorporated herein by

reference

3.1.9 Articles of Amendment to Declaration of Trust of Brandywine Realty Trust October 2005 previously

filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form dated October 2005 and incorporated herein by

reference

3.1.10 Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P the

Operating Partnership previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Foru dated

December 17 1997 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.11 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated December 17
1997 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.12 Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership Agreement of

Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K

dated April 13 1998 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.13 Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated May 14 1998

and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.14 Fourth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated October 13

1998 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.15 Fifth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Liniited Partnership of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form dated October 13

1998 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.16 Sixth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated October 13

1998 and incorporated herein by reference
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Exhibits No

3.1.17 Seventh Amendment to tile Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine

Operating Partnership L.P previously flied as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended December 31 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.18 Eighth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.19 Ninth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.20 Tenth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.21 Eleventh Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine

Operating Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended December 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.22 Twelfth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine

Operating Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended December 31 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.23 Thirteenth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine

Operating Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated

September 21 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.24 Fourteenth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine

Operating Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated

January 10 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.25 Fifteenth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine

Operating Partnership L.P previously flied as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated

August 18 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.26 Sixteenth Amendment to the Aniended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Brandywine

Operating Partnership L.P previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated

August 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

3.1.27 List of partners of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Brandywine Realty Trust previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine

Realty Trusts Fnrm dated June 2011 and incorporated herein by reference

Form of 7.50 Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Share Certificate previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-A dated December 29 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

4.2 Form of 7.375 Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Share Certificate previously filed as an exhibit

to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-A dated February 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

4.3.1 Indenture dated October 22 2004 by and among Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P Brandywine Realty

Trust certain subsidiaries of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P named therein and The Bank of New

York as Trustee previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated October 22

2004 and incorporated herein by reference

4.3.2 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 25 2005 by and among Brandywine Operating Partnership

L.P Brandywine Realty Trust certain subsidiaries of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P named therein

and The Bank of New York as Trustee previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K

dated May 26 2005 and incorporated herein by reference

4.3.3 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 2006 by and among Brandywine Operating Partnership

L.P Brandywine Realty Trust and the Bank of New York as Trustee previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Foml 8-K dated October 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

4.4 Form of $250000000 5.40c Guaranteed Note due 2014 previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty

Trusts Form 8-K dated October 22 2004 and incorporated herein by reference
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Exhibits No Description

4.5 Form of $300000000 aggregate principal amount of 5.75o Guaranteed Note due 2012 previously filed as an

exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated March 28 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

4.6 Form of $250.000.000 aggregate principal amount of6.00o Guaranteed Note due 2016 previously filed as an

exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated March 28 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

4.7 Form of 3.875o Exchangeable Guaranteed Notes due 2026 previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine

Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated October 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

4.8 Form of $300000000 aggregate principal amount of 5.70o Guaranteed Notes due 2017 previously filed as

an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April 30 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

4.9 Form of $250000000 aggregate principal amount of 7.50c Guaranteed Notes due 2015 previously filed as

an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated September 25 2009 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 29 2007 previously filed as an

exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated June 29 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

10.2 Term Loan Agreement dated as of October 15 2007 previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty

Trusts Form 8-K dated October 16 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

10.3 Contribution Agreement dated as of July 10 1998 with Donald Axinn previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated July 30 1998 and incorporated herein by reference

10.4 First Amendment to Contribution Agreement with Donald Axinn previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated October 13 1998 and incorporated herein by reference

10.5 Modification Agreement dated as of June 20 2005 between Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P and

Donald Axinn previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated June 21 2005

and incorporated herein by reference

10.6 Contribution Agreement dated August 18 2004 with TRC Realty Inc.-GP TRC-LB LLC and TRC Associates

Limited Partnership previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated August 19
2004 and incorporated herein by reference

10.7 Registration Rights Agreement previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated

September 21 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

10.8 Tax Protection Agreement previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K datcd

September 21 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

10.9 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 2005 previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine

Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated October 2005 and incorporated herein by reference

10.10 Letter to Cohen Steers Capital Management Inc relating to waiver of share ownership limit previously

filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2003 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.11 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 2006 relating to 3.875o Exchangeable Guaranteed

Notes due 2026 previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated October 2006

and incorporated herein by reference

10.12 Common Share Delivery Agreement previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K

dated October 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

10.13 Sales Agency Financing Agreement dated as of March 10 2010 with BNY Mellon Capital Markets LLC

previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated March 10 2010 and incorporated

herein by refetenee

10.14 Sales Agency Financing Agreement dated as of March 10 2010 with Citigroup Global Markets Inc

previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Fonii 8-K dated March 10 2010 and incorporated

herein by reference

10.15 Sales Agency Financing Agreement dated as of March 10 2010 with Deutsche Bank Securities Inc

previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated March 10 2010 and incorporatcd

herein by reference

10.16 Registration Rights Agreement previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated
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Exhibits No Description

August 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.17 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of February 2007 of Gerard Sweeney
previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated February 14 2007 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.18 Amended and Restated 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended effective June 2010 previously

filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Registration Statement on Form S-8 File No 333-167266 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.19 Amended and Restated Executive Deferred Compensation Plan effective March 25 2004 previously filed

as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2004 and incorporated

herein by reference

10.20 Amended and Restated Executive Deferred Compensation Plan effective January 2009 previously filed

as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2008 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.21 2007 Non-Qualified Employee Share Purchase Plan previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty

Trusts Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

10.22 Performance Share Award to Howard Sipzner previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty

Trusts Form 8-K dated December 12 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

10.23 2007 Performance Share Award to Gerard Sweeney previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty

Trusts Form 8-K dated February 14 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

10.24 Form of 2007 Performance Share Award to executive officers other than the President and Chief Executive

Officer previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated February 14 2007 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.25 Summary of Tnistee Compensation previously filed as an cxhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K

dated March 17 2006 and incorporated herein by reference

10.26 Form of Performance Share Award to the President and CEO and Executive Vice President and CFO
previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April 11 2008 and incorporated

herein by reference

10.27 Form of Performance Share Award to the executive officers other than the President and CEO and Executive

Vice President and CFO previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April

11 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.28 Form of Non-Qualified Share Option Agreement to the President and CEO and Executi\e Vice President and

CFO previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April 11 2008 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.29 Form of Non-Qualified Share Option Agreement to the executive officers other than the President and CEO
and Executive Vice President and CFO previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form

8-K dated April 11 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.30 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement to the President and CEO and Executive Vice President and CFO

previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April 11 2008 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.31 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement to the executive officers other than the President and CEO and

Executive Vice President and CFO previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K

dated April 11 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.32 Form of Restricted Share Award for Executive Officers previously tiled as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty

Trusts Form 8-K dated April 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.33 Form of Restricted Performance Share Unit and Dividend Equivalent Rights Award Agreement for Executive

Officers previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April 2009 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.34 2009-2011 Restricted Performance Share Unit Program previously filed as an exhibit to Brandy inc Realty

Trusts Form 8-K dated April 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.35 Forms of Non-Qualified Share Option Agreement for Executive Officers previously filed as an exhibit to
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Exhibits No Description

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.36 Forms of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for Executive Officers previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K dated April 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.37 Form of Amended and Restated Change of Control Agreement with Executive Officers previously filed as

an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K filed on February 2010 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.38 Employment Agreement dated February 2010 with Howard Sipzner previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K filed on February 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.39 Form of Restricted Share Award March 2010 for Executive Officers previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K filed on March 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.40 Form of Restricted Performance Share Unit and Dividend Equivalent Rights Award Agreement March 2010
for Executive Officers previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K filed on March

2010 and incnrpnrated
herein hy reference

10.41 Forms of Incentive Stock Option Agreement March 2010 for Executive Officers previously filed as an

exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K filed on March 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.42 Forms of Non-Qualified Share Option Agreement March 2010 for Executive Officers previously filed as

an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K filed on March 2010 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.43 2010-20 12 Restricted Performance Share Unit Program previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty

Trusts Form 8-K filed on March 2010 and incorporated herein by reference

10.44 Letter to RREEF America LLC relating to waiver of share ownership limit previously filed as an exhibit to

Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 and incorporated herein

by reference

12.1 Statement re Computation of Ratios of Brandywine Realty Trust

12.2 Statement re Computation of Ratios of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P

14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics previously filed as an exhibit to Brandywine Realty Trusts Form 8-K

dated December 22 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

21 List of subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP relating to financial statements of Brandywine Realty Trust

23.2 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP relating to financial statements of Brandywine Operating

Partnership L.P

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Brandywine Realty Trust pursuant to 13a-14 under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Brandywine Realty Trust pursuant to l3a-l4 under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

1.3 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Brandywine Realty Trust in its capacity as the general partner

of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P pursuant to 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

31.4 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Brandywine Realty Trust in its capacity as the general partner

of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P pursuant to 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Brandywine Realty Trust pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Brandywine Realty Trust pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as

Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.3 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Brandywine Realty Trust in its capacity as the general partner

of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.4 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Brandywine Realty Trust in its capacity as the general partner

of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to
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Exhibits No Description

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.1 Material Tax Consequences

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Financial Statement Schedule See Item 15 and above
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this report

to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Date February 25 2011

BRANDYWJNE REALTY TRUST

By Is Gerard Sweeney

Gerard Sweeney

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on

behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title

Is Walter DAlessio

Walter DAlessio

Chairman of the Board and Trustee February 25 2011

Is Gerard Sweeney

Gerard Sweeney

President Chief Executive Officer and Trustee

Principal Executive Officer

February 25 2011

Is Howard Sipzner

Howard Sipzner

Executive Vice President and ChiefFinancial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

February 25 2011

Is Gabriel Mainardi

Gabriel Mainardi

Is Pike Aloian

Pike Aloian

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

Trustee

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

Is Wyche Fowler

Wyche Fowler

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

Date

Is Michael Joyce

Michael Joyce

Is Anthony Nichols Sr

Anthony Nichols Sr

Is Charles Pizzi

Charles Pizzi

Trustee

Trustee

Trustee

Trustee
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this report

to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Date February 25 2011

BRANDYWINE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP L.P

By Brandywine Realty Trust its General Partner

By Is Gerard Sweeney

Gerard Sweeney

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on

behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Title Date

Is Walter DAlessio

Walter DAlessio

Chairman of the Board and Trustee February 25 2011

Is Gerard Sweeney

Gerard Sweeney

President Chief Executive Officer and Trustee

Principal Executive Officer

February 25 2011

Is Howard Sipzner

Howard Sipzner

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

February 25 2011

Is Gabriel Mainardi

Gabriel Mainardi

Vice President and ChiefAccounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

February 25 2011

Is Pike Aloian

Pike Aloian

Trustee February 25 2011

Is Wyche Fowler

Wyche Fowler

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

Is Michael Joyce

Michael Joyce

Is Anthony Nichols Sr

Anthony Nichols Sr

Is Charles Pizzi

Charles Pizzi

Trustee

Trustee

Trustee

Trustee
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Tmstees and Shareholders of Brandywine Realty Trust

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item l5al present fairly in all material

respects the financial position of Brandywine Realty Trust and its subsidiaries the Company at December 31 2010 and 2009 and

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in our opinion the financial statement

schedules listed in the index appearing under Item 5a2 present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained in all

material respects effective intemal control over financial reporting as of December 2010 based on criteria established in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The

Companys management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedules for maintaining effective

intemal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included

in Managements Report on Intemal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express

opinions on these financial statements on the financial statement schedules and on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company

Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective intemal control over

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of intemal control over

financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed risk Our

audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessaiy in the circumstances We believe that our audits

provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys intemal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance ofrecords that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessaiy to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect

on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

As described in Managements Report on lntemal Control Over Financial Reporting management has excluded Three Logan Square

from its assessment of intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 because it was acquired by the Company in

purchase business combination during 2010 We have also excluded Three Logan Square from our audit of internal control over

financial reporting Three Logan Square is wholly-owned property whose total assets and total revenue represent 2.7% and 1.3%

respectively of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year
ended December 31 2010

is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

February 25 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Partners of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 5a present fairly in all material

respects the financial position of Brandywine Operating Partnership L.P and its subsidiaries the Partnership at December 31
2010 and 2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three

years
in the period ended December 31

2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in our opinion the

financial statement schedules listed in the index appearing under Item 5a2 present fairly in all material respects the information

set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Partnership

maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO The Partnerships management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedules

for maintaining effective intemal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting included in Managements Report on Intemal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A Our

responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements on the financial statement schedules and on the Partnerships

intemal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective intemal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on

test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of intemal control

over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed

risk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect

on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

As described in Managements Report on Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting management has excluded Three Logan Square

from its assessment of intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 because it was acquired by the Partnership in

purchase business combination during 2010 We have also excluded Three Logan Square from our audit of intemal control over

financial reporting Three Logan Square is wholly-owned property whose total assets and total revenue represent 2.7% and 1.3%

respectively of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the
year

ended December 31 2010

is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

Febmary 25 2011
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BRANDYWINE REALTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except share and per share information

December 31 December 31

2010 2009

ASSETS

Real estate investments

Rental properties

Accumulated depreciation ________________________ _______________________

Operating real estate investments net

Constmction-in progress

Land inventory ______________________ ______________________

Total real estate investments net

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Accrued rent receivable net

tnvestment in real estate ventures at equity

Deferred costs net

Intangible assets net

Notes receivable

Other assets
___________________________ ___________________________

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND BENEFICIARIES EQUITY
Mortgage notes payable

Borrowing under credit facilities

Unsecured term loan

Unsecured senior notes net of discounts

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Distributions payable

Deferred income gains and rent

Acquired lease intangibles net

Other liabilities
________________________ _______________________

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies Note 22

Brandywine Realty Trusts equity

Preferred Shares shares authorized 20000000

7.50 Series Preferred Shares $0.01 par value issued and outstanding-

2000000 in 2010 and 2009 respectively

7.375% Series Preferred Shares $0.01 par value issued and outstanding-

2300000 in 2010 and 2009 respectively

Common Shares of Brandywine Realty Trusts beneficial interest $0.01 par value shares

authorized 200000000 134601796 and 128849176 issued in 2010 and 2009 respectively

and 134485117 and 128597412 outstanding in 2010 and 2009 respectively 1343

Additional paid-in capital 2671217

Deferred compensation payable in common stock 5774

Common shares in treasury at cost 116679 and 251764 in 2010 and 2009

respectively 3074
Common shares in grantor trust 291281 in 2010 and 255700 in 2009 5774
Cumulative eamings 483439

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 1945
Cumulative distributions 1301521 _______________________

Total Brandywine Realty Tmsts equity 1849502

Non controlling interests 128.272
_______________________

Total equity ________________________ _______________________

Total liabilities and equity
________________________ _______________________

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

4834111

776078
4058033

33322

110055

4201410

16565

16009

95541

84372

106117

97462

18205

54697

4690378

711789

183000

183000

352o57

72235

22623

121552

29233

36515

2712604

4512618

716956
3795662

271962

97368

4164992

1567

10934

87173

75458

106097

105163

59008

53358

4663750

551720

92000

183000

1o2757
88599

21799

103367

37087

36581

2742010

20

23

1286

2610421

5549

7205
5549

501384

9138
tl213359

1883432

38308

1921740

4663750

20

23

1977774

4690378
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BRANDYWINE REALTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
in thousands except share and per share information

Years ended December 31

_______________________
2009

Revenue

Rents

Tenant reimbursements

Termination fees

Third party management fees labor reimbursement and leasing

Other
_______________________ _______________________

Total revenue

Operating Expenses

Property operating expensea

Real estate taxes

Third party management expenses

Depreciation and amortization

General and admioistrative expenses

Provision for impaimient on land inventory ______________________ ______________________

Total operating expenses _______________________ _______________________

Operating income

Other Income Expense
toterest income

Interest expense

Interest expense amortization of deferred fioaoeiog costs

Recogoi7ed hedge activity

Equity io income of real estate ventures

Loss gain oo early extinguishment of debt

Income loss from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Ioeome from discontinued operations

Net loss gab on disposition of diseootioued operations

Provision for onpainrient

Total discontinued operations ______________________ ______________________

Net income loss

Net income loss from discontinued operations attributable to non

controlling interests LP units

Net income attributable to non controlliog ioterests partners share

of consolidated real estate ventures

Net income loss from eontinuiog operatioos attributable to

non cootrolliog interests LP units

Net income loss attributable to non-controlling interests

Net income loss attributable to Brandywine Realty Trust

Distribution to Preferred Shares

Amount allocated to unvested restricted shareholders

Net income loss attributable to Common Shareholders of

Brandywine Realty Trust

Basic earnings per Common Share

Continuiog operations

Diseootioued operatioos _________________________ _________________________

Diluted earnings per Common Share

Cootiouiog operations

Discontinued operations ______________________ ______________________

Basic weighted average shares outstanding

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding

Net income loss attributable to Brandywine Realty Trust

Income loss from eontiouiog operatiooa

Income loss from discontinued operations

Net income loss

2010 2008

466199

78774

5766

11830

4328

472770

78197

3601

17151

3339

476249

76617

4800

20401

2865

566897 575058 580932

170151

54444

5866

12775

165171

57093

7996

05 263

158073

57561

8965

199447

23306 20821 23002

10841

466542 456944 457889

100355 118114 123043

3222

132640

3770

305
2110

2499

135740

5864
916

4069

23177

1839

146646
450

8447

18105

29638 5339 662

1021

11011

5212

1238

3700

17564

28473

6850

12032 2750 39187

17606 8089 38525

2s 45

30

1478

127

787 12 297

S32 63 1302

17074 8026 37217

7992 7992 7992
512 279 763

5578 245 28462

0.28 0.02 0.11
0.09 0.02 0.43

0.19 0.32

0.28 0.02 0.11
0.09 0.0 0.43

u.l9 u.32

131743275 111898045 8774423

131743275 113251291 87583163

28851 5321 492
11.777 270 37709

17074 8026 3721

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BRANDY WINE REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

in thousands

Years ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net income loss 17606 8089 38525

Comprehensive income

Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments 7320 7395 15288

Ineffectiveness of the hedges 125

Reclassification of realized gains/losses on derivative financial

instruments to operations net 28 184 80
Unrealized gain loss on available-for-sale securities 24

Total comprehensive income 7348 7086 15120

Comprehensive income loss 10258 15175 23405

Comprehensive income loss attributable to non-controlling interest 377 63 1308

Comprehensive income loss attributable to Brandywine Realty Trust 9881 15112 22097

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BRANDYWINE REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

Years ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss 17606 8089

Adjsistmcnts to reconcile net income loss to net cash from operating activities

Depreciation 163169 160039 158234

Amortization

Deferred financing costs 3770 5864 5450

Amortization of debt discountlpremium net 831 3495 6843

Deferred leasing costs 21516 18037 16561

Acquired above below market leases net 5960 6661 8104
Assumed lease intangibles 30091 32387 40663

Deferred compensation costs 4814 5200 4522

Recognized hedge activity
916

Straight-line rent income 13705 9116 16543

Straight line ground rent expense 1647 1473 1519

Prosision for doubtful accounts 2479 5371 6769

Provision for impairment on land inventory 10841

Provision for impainncnt on discontinued operations 3700 6850
Real estate vcntsire income in excess of cumulative distributions 4648 2512 808
Net loss gain on sale of interests in real estate 11011 1237 28473
Loss gain on early extinguishment

of debt 2110 23176 18105
Camulative interest accretion of repayments of unsecured notes 3433 5009 435

Contributions from historic tax credit transaction net of deferred costs 27396 23763 79s2

Contribsitions from new market tax credit transaction net of deferred costs 8965

Changes in assets aisd liabilities net of acquisitions

Accounts reccisablc 4173 3746 1631
Other assets 2782 2373 3683

Accounts payable
and accmcd

expenses 7980 10067 2491

Deferred income gains and rents 6412 309 1164
Other liabilities 5014 671 10738

Net cash from operating activities 185127 220405 233867

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of properties 50681
Sales of properties net 50089 101305 370087

Proceeds from repayment of mortgage notes receivable 40000

Capital expenditureS 180943 211892 146583
Advances for

purchase
of tenant assets net of repayments 1715

Loan provided to an unconsolidated Real Estate Venture
partner 826

tnvestment in unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures 5180 14980 934
Escrosvcd cash 31385 31385
Cash distributions from unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures in excess of cumulative cqsuty income 220z 13062 2311

Decrease in cash due to the deconsolidation ofvanable interest entities 1382

Leasing costs 23503 21429 29450
Net cash used in

investing
activities 171936 102549 164046

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from Credit Facility borrossings 6s000 800fl 514000

Repayments of Credit
Facility borrowings 474000 1044000 491727

Proceeds from mortgage notes payable 256104 149800

Repayments of mortgage notes payable 966 84102 25155

Proceeds from unsecured term loan 33000
Proceeds from unsecured notes 247030

Repayments of uissecurcd notes 276270 514004 260088

Net settlement of of hedge transactions 5044
Debt

financuig costs 595 24620 278
Retumnd of deferred financing costs related to forward commitment 1659

Net proceeds from issuance of shares 70867 242332

Exercise of stock
optmomss

37

Distributions
paid

to shareholders 87345 68914 162882
Distributions to nuncontrolling

interest 1684 1691 6459
Net cash from used in financing activities 1807 120213 399s89

Increase decrease in cash and cash
equivalents 14998 2357 1676

Cash and cash
equivalents at beginning

of
period 1567 3924 5600

Cash and cash cquis alcnts at end of period 6sos s67 3924

F-7



Supplemental disclosure

Cash paid for interest net of capitalized interest during the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 of $10385 $8893 and $16746 respectively 135206 139636 178725

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activity

Note receivable issued in the Northern California transaction at its present value 37100

Note receivable issued related to the sale of the two Trenton properties net of$l2.9 million deferred gain 9600
Settlement of note receivable thmugh foreclosure of parcel of land 2795
Debt assumed by the purchaser in the Northern California transaction 95300
Proceeds from mortgage notes payable retained by lender and included in other assets see Note 396

Change in capital expenditures financed through accounts payable at period end 5126 7086 9029

Change in
capital expenditures financed thmugh retention payable at period end 2066 5862 928

Change in unfunded tenant allowance 5986

Change in real estate investments due to the deconsolidation of variable interest entities 37126

Change in mortgage notes payable due to the deconsolidation of variable interest entities 42877

Change in non-controlling interest from issuance of limited partnership units see Note 77733

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BRANDYWINE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP L.P

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except unit and per unit information

December 31 December 31

2010 2009

ASSETS

Real estate investments

Operating properties

Accumulated depreciation __________________________ __________________________

Operating real estate investments net

Construction in-progress

Land inventory ______________________ ______________________
Total real estate investments net

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Accrued rent receivable net

Investment in real estate ventures at equity

Deferred costs net

Intangible assets net

Notes receivable

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Murtgagc nutcs payable

Borrowing under credit facilities

Unsecured term loan

Unsecured senior notes net of discounts

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Distributions payable

Deferred income gains and rent

Acquired lease intangibles net

Other liabilities
__________________________ __________________________

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies Note 22
Redeemable limited partnership units at redemption value

9902752 and 2809108 issued and outstanding in 2010 and 2009 respectively 132855

Brandywine Operating Partnerships equity

7.50% Series Preferred Mirror Units issued and outstanding-

2000000 in 2010 and 2009 respectively

7.375c Series Preferred Mirror Units issued and outstanding-

2300000 in 2010 and 2009 respectively

General Partnership Capital 134601796 and 128849176 units issued in 2010

and 2009 respectively and 134485117 and 128597412 units outstanding

in 2010 and 2009 respectively

AccumulatLd uther cumprehcnsivc loss

Total Brandywine Operating Partnerships equity

Non controlling interest consolidated real estate ventures

Total Equity

Total liabilities and partners equity

2080

1844919

1844919

4690378

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

4834111

776078
4058033

33322

110055

4201410

16365

16009

95541

84372

106117

97462

18205

54697

4690378

711789

183000

183000

1352657

72235

22623

121552

29233

36515

2712604

4512618

716956
3795662

271962

97368

4164992

1367

10934

87173

75458

106097

105163

59008

53358

4663750

551720

92000

183000

1627857

88599

21799

103367

37087

36581

2742010

47912

55538

1743549

44620

47912

55538

1783033

9428

1877055

65

1877120

4663Th0
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BRANDY WINE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP L.P

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in thousands except unit and per unit information

Revenue

Rents

Tenant reimbursements

Termination fees

Third party management fees labor reimbursement and
leasing

Other
_____________________ _____________________

Total revenue

Operating Expenses

Property operating expenses

Real estate taxes

Third party management expenses

Depreciation and amortization

General administrative expenses

Provision for impairment on land inventory

Total operating expenses ______________________ ______________________

Operating income

Other Income Expense
Interest income

Interest expense

Interest expense Amortization of deferred financing costs

Recognized hedge activity

Equity in income of real estate ventures

Lnss Gain on early extinguishment nf debt

Income loss from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net loss gain on disposition of discontinued operations

Provision for impairment
______________________ ______________________

Net income loss

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests
________________________ ________________________

Net income loss attributable to Brandywine Operating Partnership

Distribution to Preferred share dividends

Amount allocated to unvested restricted unitholders
________________________

Net income loss attributable to Common Partnership Unitholders

Brandywine Operating Partnership
_____________________ _____________________

Basic earnings loss per Common Partnership Unit

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations ______________________ ______________________

Diluted earnings loss per Common Partnership Unit

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations
______________________ ______________________

Basic weighted average common partnership units outstanding

Diluted weighted average common partnership units outstanding

Net income loss attributable to Brandywine Operating Partnership

Income loss from continuing operations

Income loss from discontinued operations ________________________ ________________________

Net income loss
________________________ ________________________

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

For the year ended December 31

2010

466199

2009

472770

2008

476249

78774 78197 76617

5766 3601 4800

11830 17151 20401

4328

566897

3339

75058

2865

580932

170151 165171 158073

54444 57093 57561

5866 796 8965

212775 205863 199447

23306 20821 23002

466542

100355

456944

118114

10841

457889

123043

3222 2499 1839

132640 135740 146646

3770 5864 5450
916

5305 4069 8447

2llt

29638

7t77

5339

l.StttS

662

1021 5212 17564

11011 1238 28473

12032

3700
2750

8089

6850
39187

3852517606

30

8059

127

3839817606
7992 7992 7992

5l2t 279

212

0.02
0.02

0.00

0.02
0.02

0.00

763

29643

0.11

0.43

0.32

0.11
0.43

0.32

26110

0.28
0.09

0.19

0.28
0.09

0.19

137454796

137454796

29638
12032

17606

114712869 90391044

116066115 90399784

5309

2750

8059

789
39187

38398
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BRANDYWINE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP L.P

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

in thousands

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net income loss

Comprehensive income

Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments

Ineffectiveness of the hedges

Reclassification of realized gains/losses on derivative financial

instruments to operations net

Unrealized gain loss on available-for-sale securities

Total comprehensive income

Comprehensive income loss

Comprehensive income loss attributable to non-controlling interest

Comprehensive income loss attributable to Brandywine

Operating Partnership

7395

125

28 184 80
248

7348 7086 15120

10258 15175 23405

30 127

10258 15145 23278

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

17606 8089 38525

7320 15288
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BRANDYW1NE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP L.P

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

For the year ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss 17606 8089 38525

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash from
operating

activities

Depreciation 163169 160039 158234
Amortization

Deferred financing cotta 3770 5864 5450

Amortization of debt discountlpremium net 831 3495 6843

Deferred leasing coats 21516 18037 16561

Acquired above below market leases net 5960 6661 8104
Assumed lease intangibles 30091 32387 40663

Deferred compensation costa 4814 5200 4522

Recognized hedge activity 916

Straight line rent income 13705 9116 16543

Straight-line ground rent expense 1647 1473 1519

Provision for doubtful accounts 2479 5371 67o9

Provision for impairment on land inventory 10841

Provision for impairment on discontinued operations 3700 6850

Real estate venture income in excess of cumulative distributions 4648 2512 808
Net lost gain on sale of interests in real estate 11011 1237 28473

Loss gain on early extinguishment of debt 2110 23176 18105

Cumulative interest accretion of repayments of unsecured notes 3433 5009 435
Contributions from historic tax credit transaction net of deferred coats 27396 23763 7952

Contributions from new market tax credit transaction net of deferred coats 8965

Changes in assets and liabilities net of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 4173 3746 1631
Other assets 2782 2373 3683

Accounts payable and acemed expenses 7980 10067 2491

Deferred income gains and rents 6412 3059 1164
Other liabilities 5014 671 10738

Net cash from operating activities 185127 220405 233867

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition
of

properties 50681
Sales of properties net 50089 101305 370087

Proceeds from repayment of mortgage notes receivable 40000

Capital expenditures 180943 211892 146583

Advances for purchase of tenant assets net of repayments 1715
Loan provided to an unconsolidated Real Estate Venture

partner 826

Investment in unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures 5180 14980 934
Eacrowed cash 31385 31385

Cash distributions from unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures in excess of cumulative equity
income 2205 13062 2311

Decrease in cash due to the deconsolidation of variable interest entities la52
Leasing costa 23503 21429 29450

Net cash used in investing activities 171936 102549 164046

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from Credit
Facility borrowings 565000 983000 514000

Repayments of Credit Facility borrowings 474000 1044000 491727
Proceeds from mortgage notes payable 256104 149800

Repayments of mortgage notes payable 51966 84102 25155

Proceeds from unsecured term loan 33000

Proceeds from unsecured notes 247030

Repayments of unsecured notes 276270 514004 260088
Net settlement of of hedge transactions 5044

Debt financing costs 595 24620 278
Refund of deferred financing coats related to forward commitment 1659

Net proceeds from issuance of operating
units 70867 242332

Exercise of unit options
37

Distributions
paid to preferred

and common partnership
unitholdera 89029 70605 169341

Net cash from used in financing activities 1807 120213 399589

Increase decrease in cash and cash
equivalents 14998 2357 1676

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1567 3924 600

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period l665 1567 1924
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Supplemental disclosure

Cash paid for interest net of capitalized interest during the
years

ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 of$10385 $8893 and $16746 respectively 135206 139636 178725

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activity

Note receivable issued in the Northem Califomia transaction at its
present

value 37100
Note receivable issued related to the sale of the two Trenton properties net of$12.9 million deferred gain 9600

Settlement of note receivable through foreclosure of parcel of land 2795
Debt assumed by the purchaser in the Northem California transaction 9300
Proceeds from mortgage notes payable retained by lender and included in other assets see Note 396

Change in capital expenditures financed through accounts payable at period end 5126 7086 9029

Change in capital expenditures financed through retention payable at period end 2066 5862 928
Change in unfunded tenant allowance 986

Chaisge in real estate investments due to the deconsolidation of variable interest entities 37126

Change in mortgage notes payable due to the deconsolidation of variable interest entities 42877

Change in non-controlling interest from issuance of limited
partnership

units see Note 77733

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BRANDYWINE REALTY TRUST AND BRANDYWINE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP L.P

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 AND 2008

ORGANIZATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND THE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP

The Parent Company is self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust REIT that provides leasing property

management development redevelopment acquisition and other tenant-related services for portfolio of office and industrial

properties The Parent Company owns its assets and conducts its operations through the Operating Partnership and subsidiaries of the

Operating Partnership The Parent Company is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and as of December 31 2010

owned 93.l0o interest in the Operating Partnership The Parent Companys common shares of beneficial interest are publicly traded

on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol BDN

As of December 31 2010 the Company owned 208 office properties 20 industrial facilities and four mixed-use properties

collectively the Properties containing an aggregate of approximately 25.6 million net rentable
square

feet The Company also has

garage property under redevelopment Therefore as of December 31 2010 the Company owned 233 properties containing an

aggregate of 25.6 million net rentable
square

feet In addition as of December 31 2010 the Company owned economic interests in 17

unconsolidated real estate ventures that contain approximately 6.5 million net rentable square feet collectively the Real Estate

Ventures As of December 31 2010 the Company also owned approximately 509 acres of undeveloped land The Properties and the

properties owned by the Real Estate Ventures are located in or near Philadelphia Pennsylvania Metropolitan Washington D.C
Southern and Central New Jersey Richmond Virginia Wilmington Delaware Austin Texas and Oakland Concord Carlsbad and

Rancho Bemardo California In addition to managing properties that the Company owns as of December 31 2010 the Company was

managing approximately 7.8 million net rentable square feet of office and industrial properties for third parties and Real Estate

Ventures

All references to building square footage acres occupancy percentage and the number of buildings are unaudited

The Company conducts its third-party real estate management services business primarily through six management companies

collectively the Management Companies Brandywine Realty Services Corporation BRSCO BTRS Inc BTRS
Brandywine Properties Limited Inc BPI BDN Brokerage LLC BBL Brandywine Properties Management L.P BPM
and Brandywine Brokerage Services LLC BBS Each of BRSCO BTRS and BPI is taxable REIT subsidiary As of December

31 2010 the Operating Partnership owns directly and indirectly 10000 of each of BRSCO BTRS BPI BBL and BPM

As of December 31 2010 the Management Companies were managing properties containing an aggregate of approximately 33.4

million net rentable square feet of which approximately 25.6 million net rentable square feet related to Properties owned by the

Company and approximately 7.8 million net rentable square feet related to properties owned by third parties and Real Estate Ventures

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ReclassifIcations

Certain amounts have been reclassified in prior years to conform to the current year presentation with no effect to previously reported

net income and equity The reclassifications are primarily due to the treatment of sold properties as discontinued operations on the

statement of operations for all periods presented Effective December 2010 the Company is reflecting all deferred income gains

and rents that will be amortized to revenue as separate line item in the consolidated balance sheets and all liabilities that are expected

to cash settle including security deposits as other liabilities to conform to the current year presentation The change in the groupings of

the liabilities combined deferred rents and income of $50.0 million and $47.4 million respectively as of December 31 2009 to the

new line item Deferred income gains and rents in the consolidated balance sheets The change in the groupings of the liabilities also

increased other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets by $2.6 million as of December 31 2009

In addition the Company changed $5.6 million from leasing costs to capital expenditures in the investing section of the statement of

cash flows for the year ended December 31 2009 This change had no effect on the subtotals within the consolidated statement of

cash flows
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Principles of Consolidation

When the Company obtains an economic interest in an entity the Company evaluates the entity to determine if the entity is deemed

variable interest entity VIE and if the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary in accordance with the accounting

standard for the consolidation of variable interest entities When an entity is not deemed to be VIE the Company considers the

provisions of the same accounting standard to determine whether general partner or the general partners as group controls

limited partnership or similarentity when the limited partners have certain rights The Company consolidates entities that are VIEs

and of which the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary and ii entities that are non-VIEs which the Company controls

and the limited partners neither have the ability to dissolve the entity nor remove the Company without cause nor any substantive

participating rights Entities that the Company accounts for under the equity method i.e at cost increased or decreased by the

Companys share of eamings or losses plus contributions less distributions and impairments include entities that are VIEs and of

which the Company is not deemed to be the primary beneficiary ii entities that are non-VIEs which the Company does not control

but over which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence and iii entities that are non-VIEs that the Company
controls through its general partner status but the limited partners in the entity have the substantive ability to dissolve the entity or

remove the Company without cause or have suhstantive participating rights The Company will reconsider its determination of

whether an entity is VIE and who the primary beneficiary is and whether or not the limited partners in an entity have substantive

rights if certain events occur that are likely to cause change in the original determinations The portion of these entities not owned

by the Company is presented as non-controlling interest as of and during the periods consolidated All intercompany accounts and

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the

reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates Management makes significant estimates regarding revenue

valuation of real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities useful lives of fixed assets impairment of long-lived assets equity

method investments allowance for doubtful accounts and deferred costs

Operating Properties

Operating properties are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses The cost of operating

properties reflects their purchase price or development cost Pursuant to the Companys adoption of the accounting standard for

business combinations as of January 2009 acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred Prior to the adoption of the accounting

standard acquisition costs were capitalized when incurred Costs incurred for the renovation and betterment of an operating property

are capitalized to the Companys investment in that property Ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred major

replacements and betterments which improve or extend the life of the asset are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful

lives Fully-depreciated assets are removed from the accounts

Purchase Price Allocation

The Company allocates the purchase price of properties to net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired based on fair values

Above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties are recorded based on the present value using an

interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired of the difference between the contractual amounts to be

paid pursuant to the in-place leases and ii the Companys estimate of the fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases

measured over period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of the lease includes the below market fixed renewal period

Capitalized above-market lease values are amortized as reduction of rental income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the

respective leases Capitalized below-market lease values are amortized as an increase to rental income over the remaining non-

cancelable terms of the respective leases including any below market fixed-rate renewal periods

Other intangible assets also include amounts representing the value of tenant relationships and in-place leases based on the Companys
evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenants lease and the Companys overall relationship with the respective tenant The

Company estimates the cost to execute leases with terms similar to the remaining lease terms of the in-place leases including leasing

commissions legal and other related expenses This intangible asset is amortized to expense over the remaining term of the respective

leases and any fixed-rate bargain renewal periods Company estimates of value are made using methods similar to those used by

independent appraisers or by using independent appraisals Factors considered by the Company in this analysis include an estimate of
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the carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions and costs to execute similar leases In

estimating carrying costs the Company includes real estate taxes insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals

at market rates during the expected lease-up periods which primarily range from three to twelve months The Company also considers

information obtained about each property as result of its pre-acquisition due diligence marketing and leasing activities in estimating

the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired The Company also uses the information obtained as result of its pit-

acquisition due diligence as part of its consideration of the accounting standard governing asset retirement obligations and when

necessary will record conditional asset retirement obligation as part of its purchase price

Characteristics considered by the Company in allocating value to its tenant relationships include the nature and extent of the

Companys business relationship with the tenant growth prospects for developing new business with the tenant the tenants credit

quality and expectations of lease renewals among other factors The value of tenant relationship intangibles is amortized over the

remaining initial lease term and expected renewals but in no event longer than the remaining depreciable life of the building The

value of in-place leases is amortized over the remaining non-cancelable term of the respective leases and any fixed-rate renewal

periods

In the event that tenant terminates its lease the unamortized portion of each intangible including in-place lease values and tenant

relationship values is charged to expense and market rate adjustments above or below are recorded to revenue

Depreciation and Amortization

The costs of buildings and improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method based on the following useftil lives buildings

and improvements five to 55 years and tenant improvements the shorter of the lease term or the life of the asset

During 2010 the Company recorded depreciation expense
of $1.2 million related to projects completed in prior years that were not

closed out of the Companys job cost system in timely manner This resulted in the understatement of depreciation expense in the

prior years During the
years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 depreciation expense was understated by $0.9 million and $0.2

million respectively As these errors both individually and in aggregate were not material to prior years consolidated financial

statements and the impact of correcting this error in the current year
is not material to the Companys ftill

year
consolidated financial

statements the coiupany recorded the related adjustments in the current year

Construction in Progress

Project costs directly associated with the development and construction of real estate project are capitalized as construction in

progress Construction in progress also includes costs related to ongoing tenant improvement projects In addition interest real estate

taxes and other expenses that are directly associated with the Companys development activities are capitalized until the property is

placed in service Internal direct construction costs totaling $3.4 million in 2010 $3.9 million in 2009 $5.2 and million in 2008 and

interest totaling $10.4 million in 2010 $8.9 million in 2009 and $16.7 million in 2008 were capitalized related to development of

certain Properties and land holdings

In2pairment or Disposal of Lonz-Lived Assets

The accounting standard for property plant and equipment provides single accounting model for long-lived assets as held-for-sale

broadens the
scope

of businesses to be disposed of that qualify for reporting as discontinued operations and changes the timing of

recognizing losses on such operations

The Company reviews long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the canying amount of an asset

may not be recoverable The review of recoverability is based on an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows excluding interest

charges expected to result from the long-lived assets use and eventual disposition These cash flows consider factors such as

expected future operating income trends and prospects as well as the effects of leasing demand competition and other factors If

impairment exists due to the inability to recover the carrying value of long-lived asset an impairment loss is recorded to the extent

that the canying value exceeds the estimated fair-value of the property The Company is required to make subjective assessments as to

whether there are impairments in the values of the investments in long-lived assets These assessments have direct impact on its net

income because recording an impairment loss results in an immediate negative adjustment to net income The evaluation of

anticipated cash flows is highly subjective and is based in part on assumptions regarding future occupancy rental rates and capital

requirements that could differ materially from actual results in ftiture periods Although the Companys strategy is generally to hold its

properties over the long-term the Company will dispose of properties to meet its liquidity needs or for other strategic needs If the
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Companys strategy changes or market conditions otherwise dictate an earlier sale date an impairment loss may be recognized to

reduce the property to the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell and such loss could be material If the Company
determines that impairment has occurred and the assets are classified as held and used the affected assets must be reduced to their fair

value

Where properties have been identified as having potential for sale additional judgments are required related to the determination as

to the appropriate period over which the undiscounted cash flows should include the operating cash flows and the amount included as

the estimated residual value Management determines the amounts to be included based on probability weighted cash flow This

requires significant judgment In some cases the results of whether an impairment is indicated are sensitive to changes in assumptions

input into the estimates including the hold period until expected sale

During the Companys impairment review for the year ended December 31 2010 the Company determined that no impairment

charges were necessary For the year ended December 31 2009 the Company determined that one of its properties during testing for

impairment under the held and used model had historical cost greater than the probability-weighted undiscounted cash flows

Accordingly the recorded amount was reduced to an amount equal to managements estimate of the then current fair value This

property was sold in the second quarter of the prior year The Company also recorded an impairment charge on properties designated

as held for sale at June 30 2008 of $6.85 million these properties were sold during the last quarter of 2008

The Company entered into development agreements related to two parcels of land under option for ground lease that require the

Company to commence development by December 31 2012 If the Company determines that it will not be able to start the

construction by the date specified or if the Company determines development is not in its best economic interest and an extension of

the development period cannot be negotiated the Company will have to write off all costs that it has incurred in preparing these

parcels of land for development amounting to $7.7 million as of December 31 2010

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less The Company maintains cash

equivalents in financial institutions in excess of insured limits but believes this risk is mitigated by only investing in or through major

financial institutions

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of cash held as collateral to provide credit enhancement for the Companys mortgage debt cash for property

taxes capital expenditures and tenant improvements Restricted cash is included in other assets as discussed below

Accounts Receivable and Accrued Rent Receivable

Leases with tenants are accounted for as operating leases Minimum annual rentals under tenant leases are recognized on straight-

line basis over the term of the related lease The cumulative difference between lease revenue recognized under the straight-line

method and contractual lease payment terms is recorded as accmed rent receivable net on the accompanying balance sheets

Included in current tenant receivables are tenant reimbursements which are comprised of amounts recoverable from tenants for

common area maintenance expenses and certain other recoverable expenses that are recognized as revenue in the period in which the

related expenses are incurred As of December 31 2010 and 2009 no tenant represented more than 1000 of accounts receivable and

accmed rent receivable

Tenant receivables and accrued rent receivables are carried net of the allowances for doubtful accounts of $3.7 million and $11.6

million in 2010 respectively and $4.2 million and $12.2 million in 2009 respectively The allowance is an estimate based on two

calculations that are combined to determine the total amount reserved First the Company evaluates specific accounts where it has

detennined that tenant may have an inability to meet its financial obligations In these situations the Company uses its judgment

based on the facts and circumstances and records specific reserve for that tenant against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the

amount that the Company expects to collect These reserves are reevaluated and adjusted as additional information becomes available

Second reserve is established for all tenants based on range of percentages applied to receivable aging categories for tenant

receivables For accrued rent receivables the Company considers the results of the evaluation of specific accounts and also considers

other factors including assigning risk factors to different industries based on its tenants SIC classification Considering various factors

including assigning risk factor to different industries these percentages are based on historical collection and write-off experience

adjusted for culTent market conditions which requires managements judgments
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Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures

The Company accounts for its investments in unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures under the equity method of accounting as it is not

the primary beneficiary for VIEs and the Company exercises significant influence hut does not control these entities under the

provisions of the entities governing agreements pursuant to the accounting standard for the consolidation of variable interest entities

These investments are recorded initially at cost as Investments in Real Estate Ventures and subsequently adjusted for equity in

earnings cash contributions less distributions and impairments

On periodic basis management assesses whether there are any indicators that the value of the Companys investments in

unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures may be other than temporarily impaired An investment is impaired only if the value of the

investment as estimated by management is less than the carrying value of the investment and the decline is other than temporary To

the extent impairment has occurred the loss shall be measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the investment over the value

of the investment as estimated by management The determination as to whether an impairment exists requires significant

management judgment about the fair value of its ownership interest

The Companys Broadmoor Joint Venture owns an office park in Austin Texas which is currently leased to single tenant who is also

partner in the joint venture The said tenant is also the owner of the land which the joint venture currently leases under an existing

ground lease agreement The office buildings lease renewals are currently under negotiation Given the current circumstances the

Company performed an impairment assessment of its investment in the venture using probability weighted scenarios that include

varying outcomes The Company believes that market participant would assess the probabilities of these outcomes in the same

fashion In evaluating the scenarios the Company has determined that the fair value of its investment marginally exceeded its

carrying value and the investment is not impaired at December 31 2010 However given the lease has not yet been executed and the

negotiations of specific terms of the lease are ongoing the ultimate outcome is uncertain and could cause an impairment of the

Companys investment that could be material

To the extent that the Company acquires an interest in or contributes assets to Real Estate Venture project the difference between

the Companys cost basis in the investment and the value of the Real Estate Venture or asset contributed is amortized over the life of

the related assets intangibles and liabilities and such adjustment is included in the Companys share of equity in income of

unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures For purposes
of cash flow presentation distributions from unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures

are presented as part of operating activities when they are considered as retum on investments Distributions in excess of the

Companys share in the cumulative unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures earnings are considered as return of investments and are

presented as part of investing activities in accordance with the accounting standard for cash flow presentation

Deferred Costs

Costs incurred in connection with property leasing are capitalized as deferred leasing costs Deferred leasing costs consist primarily of

leasing commissions and internal leasing costs that are amortized using the straight-line method over the life of the respective lease

which generally ranges from one to 15 years Management re-evaluates the remaining useful lives of leasing costs as economic and

market conditions change

Costs incurred in connection with debt financing are capitalized as deferred financing costs and charged to interest expense over the

terms of the related debt agreements Deferred financing costs consist primarily of loan fees which are amortized over the related loan

term on basis that approximates the effective interest method

Other Assets

Other assets is comprised of the following as of December 31 2010
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Deeember 31

2010 2009

Prepaid Ground Rent 7704 7733

Prepaid Real Estate Taxes 7648 7492

Rent inducentnts net 6262 6680

Cash surrender value of life insuranee 8128 6498

Restricted cash 4029 5632

Marketable securities 2614 2798

Prepaid insurance 2432 2747

Furniture fixtures and equipment 1613 2664

Deposits on fUture settlentnts 2035 1108

Others 12232 10006

Total 54697 53358

Notes Receivoble

As of December 31 2010 notes receivable included $7.4 million purchase money mortgage with 20
year

amortization period that

bears interest at 8.5o and $22.9 million including accrued but unpaid interest seven year purchase money mortgage due 2016
that bears interest at approximately cash pay/7.64 accrual The $22.9 million notes receivable is related to the sale of the two

Trenton properties in the prior year and is presented net of the $12.9 deferred gain in accordance with the accounting standard for

installment sales the Trenton Note The Company expects to receive $27.8 million at maturity of the Trenton Note including the

difference between the cash payments and the stated accrual rate See Note for additional information regarding the sale and the

Trenton Note In December 2010 the Company also extended loan to one of its unconsolidated Real Estate Venture partners The

said loan bears interest at l0 and will be due including the accrued interest in 2015

As of December 31 2009 notes receivable included $2.8 million purchase money mortgage with 20 year
amortization period that

bears interest at 8.5c $7.5 million purchase money mortgage with 20 year amortization period that bears interest at 8.5% and

$22.5 million seven year purchase money mortgage due 2016 that bears interest at approximately 6% cash pay7.64o accrual See

related discussion about the Trenton Note above

The Company periodically assesses the collectibility of the notes receivable in accordance with the accounting standard for loan

receivables On December 29 2010 the Company foreclosed on one of its note receivables amounting to $2.8 million See Note for

related discussion Except for the foreclosed note receivables in the current year there were no other collectibility issues noted as of

December 31 2010 and 2009

Revenue Recostuition

Rental revenue is recognized on the straight-line basis from the later of the date of the commencement of the lease or the date of

acquisition of the property subject to existing leases which averages minimum rents over the terms of the leases The straight-line rent

adjustment increased revenue by approximately $10.9 million in 2010 $6.4 million in 2009 and $14.0 million in 2008 Deferred rents

on the balance sheet represent rental revenue received prior to their due dates and amounts paid by the tenant for certain improvements

considered to be landlord assets that will remain as the Companys property at the end of the tenants lease temv The amortization of

the amounts paid by the tenant for such improvements is calculated on straight-line basis over the term of the tenants lease and is

component of straight-line rental income and increased revenue by $2.8 million in 2010 $2.7 million in 2009 and $2.5 million in

2008 Lease incentives which are included as reductions of rental revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

are recugiliLed uu sttaight-line basis over the term of the lease Lease incentives decreased revenue by $1.5 million in 2010 $1.8

million in 2009 and $0.8 million in 2008

Leases also typically provide for tenant reimbursement of portion of common area maintenance and other operating expenses to the

extent that tenants pro rata share of expenses exceeds base year level set in the lease or to the extent that the tenant has lease on

triple net basis For certain leases significant assumptions and judgments are made by the Company in determining the lease term

such as when termination options are provided to the tenant The lease term impacts the period over which minimum rents are

determined and recorded and also considers the period over which lease related costs are amortized Tennination fees received from

tenants bankruptcy settlement fees third party management fees labor reimbursement and leasing income are recorded when earned
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No tenant represented greater than 10% of the Companys rental revenue in 2010 2009 or 2008

Income Taxes

Parent Company

The Parent Company has elected to be treated as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended the Code In order to continue to qualify as REIT the Parent Company is required to among other things distribute at

least 90% of its annual REIT taxable income to its shareholders and meet certain tests regarding the nature of its income and assets As

REIT the Parent Company is not subject to federal and state income taxes with respect to the portion of its income that meets certain

criteria and is distributed annually to its shareholders Accordingly no provision for federal and state income taxes is included in the

accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to the operations of the Parent Company The Parent Company intends

to continue to operate in manner that allows it to meet the requirements for taxation as REIT If the Parent Company fails to

qualify as REIT in any taxable year it will be subject to federal and state income taxes and may not be able to qualify as REIT for

the four suhsequent tax years The Parent Company is
subject to certain local income taxes Provision for such taxes has been included

in general and administrative
expenses

in the Parent Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

The tax basis of the Parent Companys assets was $4.5 billion as of December 31 2010 and $4.6 billion as of December 31 2009

The Parent Company is subject to 4% federal excise tax if sufficient taxable income is not distributed within prescribed time limits

The excise tax equals 4% of the annual amount if any by which the sum of 85% of the Parent Companys ordinary income and

95% of the Parent Companys net capital gain exceeds cash distributions and certain taxes paid by the Parent Company No excise tax

was incurred in 2010 2009 or 2008

The Parent Company has elected to treat several of its subsidiaries as taxable REIT subsidiaries each TRS TRS is subject to

federal state and local income tax In general TRS may perform non-customary services for tenants hold assets that the Parent

Company as REIT cannot hold directly and generally may engage in any real estate or non-real estate related business

Operating Partnership

In general the Operating Partnership is not subject to federal and state income taxes and accordingly no provision for income taxes

has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements The partners of the Operating Partnership are required to

include their respective share of the Operating Partnerships profits or losses in their respective tax returns The Operating

Partnerships tax returns and the amount of allocable Partnership profits and losses are subject to examination by federal and state

taxing authorities If such examination results in changes to the Operating Partnership profits or losses then the tax liability of the

partners would be changed accordingly

The tax basis of the Operating Partnerships assets was $4.5 billion as of December 31 2010 and $4.6 billion as of December 31
2009

The Operating Partnership is subject to federal excise tax if sufficient taxable income is not distributed within prescribed time

limits The excise tax equals 4o of the annual amount if any by which the sum of 85 of the Operating Partnerships ordinary

income and 95% of the Operating Partnerships net capital gain exceeds cash distributions and certain taxes paid by the Operating

Partnership No excise tax was incurred in 2010 2009 or 2008

The Operating Partnership has elected to treat several of its subsidiaries as REITs under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code Each

subsidiary REIT has met the requircments for treatment as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code and accordingly no

provision has been made for federal and state income taxes in the accompanying consolidated financial statements If any subsidiary

REIT fails to qualify as REIT in any taxable year that subsidiary REIT will be subject to federal and state income taxes and rnay not

be able to qualify as REIT for the four subsequent taxable years Also each subsidiary REIT rnay be subject to certain local income

taxes

The Operating Partnership has elected to treat several of its subsidiaries as taxable TRSs which are subject to federal state and local

income tax
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per
share is calculated by dividing income allocated to common shares by the weighted-average number of shares

outstanding during the period Diluted earnings per share includes the effect of common share equivalents outstanding during the

period

Treasury Shares

The Company accounts for its treasury share purchases using the cost method Since repurchase shares have been reissued at an

amount less than their cost basis The losses on reissuances are charged to the cumulative earnings of the Company using the FIFO

basis As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the total number of treasury shares outstanding was 116679 shares and 251764 shares

respectively

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Parent Company maintains shareholder-approved equity-incentive plan known as the Amended and Restated 1997 Long-Term

Incentive Plan the 1997 Plan The 1997 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Parent Companys Board of

Trustees Under the 1997 Plan the Compensation Committee is authorized to award equity and equity-based awards including

incentive stock options non-qualified stock options restricted shares and performance-based shares On June 2010 the Parent

Companys shareholders approved amendments to the 1997 Plan that among other things increased the number of common shares

available for future awards under the 1997 Plan by 6000000 of which 3600000 shares are available solely for options and share

appreciation rights As of December 31 2010 6.7 million common shares remained available for future awards under the 1997 Plan

including those shares available solely for options and share appreciation rights Through December 31 2010 all options awarded

under the 1997 Plan had one to ten-year term

The Company incurred stock-based compensation expense of $4.t million during 2010 of which $1.3 million was capitalized as part

of the Companys review of employee salaries eligible for capitalization The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense

of $4.5 million in 2009 of which $0.8 million had been capitalized and $4.6 million in 2008 The expensed amounts are included in

general and administrative expense on the Companys consolidated income statement in the respective periods

Com prehensive Income

Comprehensive income or loss is recorded in accordance with the provisions of the accounting standard for comprehensive incomc

The accounting standard establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income and its components in the financial statements

Comprehensive income includes unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and the effective portions of changes in

the fair value of derivatives

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company accounts for its derivative instruments and hedging activities in accordance with the accounting standard for derivative

and hedging activities The accounting standard requires the Company to measure every derivative instrument including certain

derivative instruments embedded in other contracts at fair value and record them in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability

See disclosures below related to the Companys adoption of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures

For derivatives designated as fair value hedges the changes in fair value of both the derivative instrument and the hedged item are

recorded in earnings For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges the effective portions of changes in the fair value of the

derivative are reported in other comprehensive income while the ineffective portions are recognized in earnings During the year

ended December 2009 the Company recorded 1.1 million fair value adjustment in its consolidated statcments of operations

related to two of its interest swaps in which the hedging relationship ceased due to the issuance of its unsecured notes on September

25 2009 The ineffective portions of the hedges are recognized in earnings During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company

recognized gain of $0.1 million for the ineffective portion of its forward starting swaps prior to the termination of the hedging

relationship See Note

The Company actively manages its ratio of fixed-to-floating rate debt To manage its fixed and floating rate debt in cost cffcctive

manner the Company from time to time enters into interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedgcs under which it agrccs to

exchange various combinations of fixed and/or variable interest rates based on agreed upon notional amounts
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Fair Value Measurements

The Company estimates the fair value of its outstanding derivatives and available-for-sale-securities in accordance with the accounting

standard for fair value measurements and disclosures The accounting standard defines fair value as the exchange price that would be

received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability

in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date It also establishes fair value hierarchy which requires

an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value The

standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value Financial assets and liabilities recorded on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets are categorized based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as follows

Level inputs are quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the

ability to access

Level inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level that are observable for the asset or liability either

directly or indirectly Level inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets as well as

inputs that are observable for the asset or liability other than quoted prices such as interest rates foreign exchange rates

and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals and

Level inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability which is typically based on an entitys own assumptions as

there is little if any related market activity or information

In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy

the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety The Companys assessment of the significance of particular input to the fair

value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability

The following table sets forth the Companys financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on recurring basis

as of December 31 2010

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting

Date Ilsinu

Description

Recurring

Assets

Available-for-Sale Securities

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Otlser Unobservable

December 31 Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs

2010 Level Level Level

248 $248

The following table sets forth the Companys financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on recurring basis

as of December31 2009
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting

Date Usine

Description

Recurring

Assets

Availahle-fnr-Sale Securities

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Other Unobservable

December 31 Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs

2009 Level Level Level

431 $431

7320 7320

Non-financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on non-recurring basis to which the Company would apply the accounting

standard where measurement was required under fair value would include

Liabilities

Interest Rate Swaps
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Non-financial assets and liabilities initially measured at fair value in an acquisition or business combination that are not

remeasured at least annually at fair value

Long-lived assets measured at fair value due to an impairment in accordance with the accounting standard for the impairment

or disposal of long-lived assets

Equity and cost method investments measured at fair value due to an impairment in accordance with the accounting standard

for investments

Notes receivable adjusted for any impairment in its value in accordance with the accounting standard for loan receivables and

Asset retirement obligations initially measured at fair value under the accounting standard for asset retirement obligations

There were no items that were accounted for at fair value on non-recurring basis as of December 31 2010

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted During 2010

In January 2010 the FASB issued new accounting standard for distributions to stockholders with components of stock and cash The

guidance clarifies that in calculating earnings per share an entity should account for the stock portion of the distribution as stock

issuance and not as stock dividend The new standard is effective for fiscal years and interim periods ending after December 15

2009 and should be applied on retrospective basis The Companys adoption of the new standard did not have material impact on

its consolidated financial position or results of operations as no distributions were paid with stock

In January 2010 the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures The

amendment clarifies and provides additional disclosure requirements related to recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements

Specifically the guidance revises two disclosure requirements concerning fair value measurements and clarifies two others It requires

separate presentation of significant transfers into and out of Levels and of the fair value hierarchy and disclosure of the reasons for

such transfers Also it requires the presentation of purchases sales issuances and settlements within Level on gross basis rather

than on net basis The amendments clarify that disclosures should be disaggregated by class of asset or liability and that disclosures

about inputs and valuation techniques should be provided for both recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements This

amendment is effective for fiscal
years and interim periods ending after December 15 2009 The Companys adoption of the new

standard did not have material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations

In December 2009 the FASB issued new accounting standard goveming transfer of financial assets This new standard is revision

to the existing accounting standard for the transfer and servicing of financial assets and amends the guidance on accounting for

transfers of financial assets including securitization transactions where entities have continued exposure to risks related to transferred

financial assets The new accounting standard also expands the disclosure requirements for such transactions This amendment is

effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15 2009 The Companys adoption of the new standard did not have material

impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations

In June 2009 the FASE issued an amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for the consolidation of VIEs The

elimination of the concept of qualifting special-purpose entity QSPE removes the exception from applying the consolidation

guidance within this amendment This amendment requires an enterprise to perform qualitative analysis when determining whether

or not it must consolidate VIE The amendment also requires an enterprise to continuously reassess whether it must consolidate

VIE Additionally the amendment requires enhanced disclosures about an enterprises involvement with VIEs and any significant

change in risk exposure due to that involvement as well as how its involvement with VIEs impacts the enterprises financial

statements Finally an enterprise will be required to disclose significant judgments and assumptions used to determine whether or not

10 consolidate VIE This arnendirient was adopted un January 2010 and applied prospectively

As result of the adoption of the amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for the consolidation of VIEs the

Company has determined that it will no longer consolidate three of the VIEs that it has previously consolidated In reaching its

conclusion the Company considered the requirements provided by the accounting standard to qualitatively assess if the Company was

the primary beneficiary of the VIEs based on whether the Company had the power to direct those matters that most significantly

impacted the activities of the VIE and ii the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could

potentially be significant to the VIE The Companys consideration included an assessment of each of the entities with which it has

involvement and review of applicable documents such as but not limited to applicable partnership agreements real estate enture

agreements LLC agreements management and leasing agreements As of January 2010 the Company held interests in 17 real
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estate ventures 15 of which are unconsolidated and two of which the Company continues to consolidate The Companys basis in

reaching its conclusion for these entities is provided below

Previously Consolidated

Four Tower Bridge and Six Tower Bridge Ventures

Each of the Four Tower Bridge and Six Tower Bridge Real Estate Ventures was formed as limited partnership to own and manage

an office property located in Conshohocken Pennsylvania The Company entered into these ventures with two other partners during

1997 and 1998 respectively The other partner in Four Tower Bridge owns 3500 interest in the partnership entity and the other

partner in Six Tower Bridge owns 37c interest in the partnership entities These Real Estate Ventures were determined to be VIEs

and were previously consolidated in the Companys financial statements in accordance with the amended accounting standard for the

consolidation of ViEs The Real Estate Ventures were determined to be VIEs due to insufficient equity at the latest reconsideration

event However upon the Companys adoption of the new accounting standard on January 2010 the Company has determined that

it will no longer consolidate these Real Estate Ventures aftcr it was determined that the partners have shared power in the ventures and

no related party considerations were identified All significant decisions are approved by both partners in the venture Accordingly

based on the Companys analysis the Company deconsolidated these two Real Estate Ventures in accordance with the new accounting

standard

Coppell Associates

Coppell Associates is Real Estate Venture that owns one property in Austin Texas The Company entered into this venture with

another partner which owns 5000 interest in the partnership This Real Estate Venture is VIE and was previously consolidated in

the Companys financial statements in accordance with the amended accounting standard for the consolidation of VIEs The venture

was determined to be VIE due to insufficient equity at the latest reconsideration event However upon the Companys adoption of

the new accounting standard on January 2010 the Company has determined that it will no longer consolidate this Real Estate

Venture after it concluded that the partners have shared power in the venture All significant decisions are approved by both partners

in the venture Accordingly based upon the Companys analysis the Company deconsolidated this Real Estate Venture in accordance

with the new accounting standard

VIEs that Continpe to be Consolidated

Projects Related to the Company Tax Credit Transactions

During 2008 the Company closed two transactions with US Bancorp IJSB related to the historic rehabilitation of thc 30th Street

Post Office now known as the Internal Revenue Service IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage both located in

Philadelphia Pennsylvania The real estate ventures created to facilitate the tax credit transactions were considered as VIEs because

the equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entities to receive the tax credits without the financial support from IJSB or

because the rights to determine the significant decisions are not vested in the equity The Company has also concluded that it is the

primary beneficiary of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage based on the contractual arrangements that obligate

the Company to deliver tax benefits and provide other guarantees to USB and that entitle the Company through fee arrangements to

receive substantially all available cash flow from the said entities and accordingly by design has substantially all the risks of the

entities Please refer to Note 18 for detailed discussion of these transactions as well as the amount of deferred income related to

these VIEs that the Company has included in its consolidated balance sheets There were no other significant amounts included in the

Companys consolidated balance sheet related to these entities as the related amounts were eliminated during consolidation

Other VIEs

PJP VII

The Company holds 25c interest in Real Estate Venture that it entered into with two other partners One of the other partners

holds 500o interest in the venture while the other partner holds 25 interest This venture is considered VIE due to the fact that at

the last reconsideration event it entered into construction loan to ftind the building construction of the property and it was

determined that there was insufficient equity in the joint venture In addition this loan has not been refinanced as of December

2010 and the Company guarantees $0.7 million or 8.75% of the total construction note It is expected that this entity will remain

VIE until the venture refinanees the construction loan into permanent financing It was determined that the Company does not ha\

the power to direct the significant economic activities of the Real Estate Venture in accordance with the standard and as result is not

the primary beneficiary of this real estate venture
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Residence Inn Hotel

The Company holds 5000 interest in Real Estate Venture that owns Residence Inn Hotel located in Conshohocken Pennsylvania

This Real Estate Venture has two other partners one of which holds 46.4% interest and the other holds 3.6o interest The Real

Estate Venture was considered as VIE in accordance with the amended accounting standard for the consolidation of VIEs due to the

participating rights of the non-equity holder hotel manager However the Company has determined that the partners have shared

power in the venture All significant decisions are approved by all partners in the venture Accordingly this Real Estate Venture was

not consolidated in the financial statements of the Company Upon the adoption of the new accounting standard the Company still

has the same determination that it does not have the power to control the business of the Real Estate Venture and that it is still

appropriate to account for this venture under the equity method of accounting

GI VI Interchange Office LLC

The Company holds 20% interest in Real Estate Venture that owns portfolio of 29 office properties located in Montgomery

Bucks and Lehigh counties in Pennsylvania The other partner in this venture holds an 8000 ownership interest The Real Estate

Venture was considered as VIE in accordance with the amended accounting standard for the consolidation of VIEs The venture

continues to be determined VIE due to the disproportionate voting rights The Company has determined that it is not the primary

beneficiary of the venture Accordingly this Real Estate Venture was not consolidated in the financial statements of the Company

Upon the adoption of the new accounting standard the Company still has the same determination that it does not have the power to

control the business of the Real Estate Venture and that it is still appropriate to account for this venture under the equity method of

accounting

Seven Tower Bridge

The Company has 10% direct limited partnership ownership interest and 20 ownership in REIT that has 50% ownership in

Real Estate Venture that anticipates developing suburban office building in Conshohocken Pennsylvania There are three other

partners in this venture holding ownership interests of 500o 20 and 20% respectively This venture is considered VIE as the

property is under development and there is insufficient equity to fhnd the construction The Company has determined that it is not the

primary beneficiary of the venture Accordingly this Real Estate Venture was not consolidated in the financial statements of the

Company Upon the adoption of the new accounting standard the Company still has the same determination that it does not have the

power to control the business of the Real Estate Venture and that it is still appropriate to account for this venture under the equity

method of accounting

Other Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures

In accordance with the Companys adoption of the accounting standard for the consolidation of VIEs it was determined that the

Company would not consolidate the Real Estate Ventures below based on the evaluation of the substantive participating rights of the

partners in each venture under the voting interest model

Two Tower Bridge Company as co-General Partner with 35 Ownership Interest

Eight Tower Bridge Company as Limited Partner with Preferred Equity Interest

PJP Real Estate Ventures Company as Operating Member with 25 to 30 Ownership Interest

Macquarie BDN Office LLC Company as Operating Member with 20 Ownership Interest

Broadmoor Joint Venture Company as co-Managing Venturer with 50 Ownership Interest

1000 Chesterbrook Company as co-General Partner with 50% Ownership Interest

The other unconsolidated real estate ventures described above are not VIEs as the other partners in the ventures have either the

substantive participating rights in the entities normal business operations or the power to direct the activities is shared amongst the

partners As result of the Companys review it has concluded that it is appropriate to account for these entities as unconsolidated

Real Estate Ventures under the equity method of accounting

Additional Considerations

The supporting real estate venture agreements of the entities listed above provided straightforward determination of whether the

Company has control to direct the business activities of the entities Where the Company has concluded that control is shared it is

generally because of at least one other partner and the Company must agree on decisions that are considered significant The

Company has also determined that it is not the primary beneficiary in these entities as it does not have the power to direct the activities

that most significantly impact the economic performance of these entities Also if shared control was determined and the Company

was considered to be related party the Company is not the party deemed to be the most closely associated with the business For

entities that the Company has determined to be VIEs but for which it is not the primary beneficiary its maximum exposure to loss is
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the canying amount of its investments as the Company has not provided any guarantees other than the guarantee described for PJP

VII which was approximately $0.7 million at December 31 2010 Also for all entities determined to be VIEs the Company does not

provide financial support to the real estate ventures through liquidity arrangements guarantees or other similar commitments other

than perhaps through its general partner standing

In accordance with the Companys adoption of the accounting standard as discussed in detail above the Companys consolidated

balance sheet as of January 2010 has been reduced by the following amounts as result of deconsolidating the three VIEs in

thousands

Balance Sheet

Assets

Real estate investments net

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables net

Deferred casts net

Other assets

Tatal assets

Liabilities

Lang-term debt

Accaunts payable and accmed expenses

Other liabilities

Tatal liabilities

Equity

Campanys equity

Nancontralling interests

Tatal Liabilities and Equity

Cambined nalance sheets

nfDecansalidated VtEsAs_Repartcd

4t64992 37288

1567 1438

8107 1627

106097 1662

292987 2644

4663750 44659

1883432

38308

4663750

The difference between the net amount removed from the Companys consolidated balance sheet and the amount of the Companys
retained interestin the deconsolidated VIEs amounting to $1.4 million was recognized as cumulative effect of accounting change to

cumulative earnings in the Companys consolidated balance sheets

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the
gross carrying value of the Companys Properties was as follows

December 31

Land

Building and improvements

Tenant improvements

2010

697724

3693579

442808

4834111

2009

690441

3393498

428679

4512618

Acquisitions and Dispositions

2010

On August 2010 the Company acquired 53 story Class office tower at 1717 Arch Street Three Logan Square in

Philadelphia Pennsylvania together with related ground tenancy rights under long-term ground lease from BAT Partners L.P

Three Logan Square contains approximately 1.0 million of net rentable square
feet and is currently 672a leased The Company

acquired Three Logan Square for approximately $129.0 million funded through combination of $51.2 million in cash and the

issuance of 7111112 units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership designated as Class 2010 Units The

Class 2010 units rank on parity with the Operating Partnerships Class units as to distributions but do not begin to accrue

distributions and are not entitled to allocations of income or loss prior to August 2011 Thereafter the Class 2010 units will be

entitled to receive the same distributions that the Parent Company pays on its common shares Total cash paid after the assumption of

security deposit obligations of existing tenants in the property of $0.9 million amounted to $50.3 million The Company funded thc

After Deconsalidatian

af VIEs

4127704
129

n648o

104435

290343

4619091

2454577
88599

198834

2742010

43027

367

682

44076

2411550
88232

198152

2697934

583 1882849

________
38308

44659 4619091
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cash portion of the acquisition price through an advance under its $600.0 million Credit Facility the Credit Facility and with

available corporate funds The assumed security deposit obligation is included in other liabilities in the Companys consolidated

balance sheets

For purposes
of computing the total purchase price the Class 2010 Units were valued based on the closing market price of the

Parent Companys common shares on the acquisition date of $11.54 less the annual dividend rate per
share of $0.60 to reflect that

these units do not begin to accrue dividend prior to August 52011 The Class 2010 Units issued are subject to redemption at the

option of the holder after the first anniversary of the acquisition The Operating Partnership may at its option satisfy the redemption

either for an amount per unit of cash equal to the market price of one of the Parent Companys common shares based on the five-day

trading average ending on the date of the exchange or for one of the Parent Companys common shares

The Company accounted for the acquisition using the acquisition method of accounting As discussed in Note the Company utilized

number of sources in making estimates of fair values for purposes of allocating the purchase price to tangible and intangibles assets

acquired and intangible liabilities assumed The purchase price is allocated as follows

August

Building and tenant improvements

Intangible assets acquired

Below market lease liabilities assumed

Total

2010

98188

28856

683
126361

Intangible assets acquired and intangible liabilities assumed consist of the following in thousands

Intangible assets

In-place lease value

Tenant relationship value

Above market tenant leases acquired

Below market ground lease acquired

Total

Intangible liabilities

Below market leases acquired

Weighted Average

August Amortization Period

2010 in years

13584

8870

895

5507 82

28856 23

683
_________________

The Company also recognized tenant and other receivables of $1.1 million and prepaid real estate taxes of $1.5 million from the

acquisition and both are included as part of the accounts receivable and the other asset sections respectively of the Companys
consolidated balance sheets

The Company recognized $0.4 million of acquisition related costs which are included as part of general and administrative expenses

of the Companys consolidated statements of operations

The operating results of the acquired property are included in the Companys results of operations from the acquisition date and are

presented below in thousands
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Revenue

Rents

Tenant Reimbursements

Other

Total revenue

Loss from operations includes depreciation

and intangible asset amortization

For the period from August

to December 31 2010

6347

933

45

7325

3602

The unaudited pro forma information below summarizes the Companys combined results of operations for the years ended December

31 2010 and 2009 as though the acquisition of Three Logan Square was completed on January 2009 The supplemental pro forma

operating data is not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations would have been assuming the transaction had been

completed as set forth above nor do they purport to represent the Companys results of operations for future periods in thousands

except
for

per share amounts

December 31

2010 2009

unaudited

Earnings per common share from continuing operations

Basic-- as reported

Basic-- as pro forma

Diluted as reported

Diluted as pro forma

Earnings per common share

Basic-- as reported

Basic-- as pro forma

Diluted as reported

Diluted as pru furmu

0.28

0.28

0.28

0.28

0.19

0.19

0.19

0.19

0.02

0.02

0.02

0.02

As of December 31 2010 two of the Companys building properties located in King of Prussia Pennsylvania are currently

undergoing demolition and the remaining land balances are presented as land inventory in the Companys consolidated balance sheets

The Company has determined that there was change in the estimated useful lives of the buildings resulting from the ongoing

demolition causing an acceleration of depreciation expense During year
ended December 31 2010 the Company recognized the

remaining net book value of the two buildings aggregating to $2.7 million as depreciation with the land amounts of $1.1 million being

reclassified to land inventory for potential fhture development All related demolition costs are charged to earnings

On December 29 2010 the Company acquired 12 acre parcel of land in Gibbsboro New Jersey through the foreclosure of note

receivable amounting to $2.8 million under which the said property was encumbered The Company paid transaction related costs of

$0.3 million which was capitalized as part of land inventory in the Companys consolidated balance sheets The parcel of land is held

for ftiture development

On December 23 2010 the Company sold four office properties One and Two Greentree Centre 8000 Lincoln Drive and Lake

Center IV containing total of 243195 net rentable square feet in Marlton New Jersey for an aggregate sales price of $20.9 million

These properties were 76.lo occupied at the date of sale

On November 22 2010 the Company sold Spyglass Point 58576 net rentable square feet office property located in Austin Texas

for sales price of $13.5 million This property was ftilly occupied at the date of sale

Pro forma revenues 582642 604440

Pro forma income loss from continuing operations 29000 7890

Pro forma net income loss available to common shareholders 24940 2306
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On September 20 2010 the Company sold 630 Clark Avenue 50000 net rentable square feet office property located in King of

Prussia Pennsylvania for sales price of $3.6 million This property was fully occupied at the date of sale

On August 18 2010 the Company sold 479 Thomas Jones Way 49264 net rentable square feet office property located in Exton

Pennsylvania for sales price of $3.8 million This property was 63.OUo occupied at the date of sale

On January 14 2010 the Company sold Westmoreland Plaza 121815 net rentable square feet office property located in Richmond

Virginia for sales price of$l0.8 million This property was vacant at the date of sale

2009

The Company did not complete any acquisitions during the year ended December 31 2009

On October 13 2009 the Company sold condominium unit consisting of 40508 square feet and an undivided interest in an office

building in Lawrenceville New Jersey for sales price of $7.9 million This condominium unit was occupied at the dale of sale

On October 2009 the Company sold two office properties totaling 473658 net rentable square feet in Trenton New Jersey for

stated sales price of $85.0 million The Company provided to the buyer $22.5 million seven-year approximately 6.00% cash

pay/7.64o accrual second mortgage loan This sale was recorded using the installment sales method of accounting for real estate sales

which requires each cash payment received including the buyers payments under its first mortgage to be apportioned in the same

ratio as total cost and total profit bear to sales value as basis for profit recognition Accordingly the Company recognized gain on

sale of $2.7 million upon receipt of cash from the buyer in 2009 and expects to recognize the remaining gain of $12.9 million

substantially upon the repayment of the second mortgage in 2016 The buyer has the option to extend the maturity date of the second

mortgage for an additional three
years subject to certain conditions under the loan agreement Interest income on the second mortgage

is recognized as it is received In addition the Company was engaged to manage the properties sold during the term of the second

mortgage and is entitled for management fee equal to 2.5 of all gross receipts from the operation of the properties and will be

reimbursed for all management related expenses These properties were 96.5 occupied at the date of sale

On April 29 2009 the Company sold 7735 Old Georgetown Road 122543 net rentable square feet office property located in

Bethesda Maryland for sales price of $26.5 million This property was fully occupied at the date of sale

On March 16 2009 the Company sold 305 Harper Drive 14980 net rentable square feet office property located in Moorestown

New Jersey for sales price of $1.1 million This property was vacant at the date of sale

On February 2009 the Company sold two office properties totaling 66664 net rentable square feet in Exton Pennsylvania for an

aggregate sales price of $9.0 million These properties were 85.7% occupied at the date of sale

All sales presented abo\ arc included within discontinued operations see Note 10

INVESTMENT IN UNCONSOLIDATED VENTURES

As of December 31 2010 the Company had an aggregate investment of approximately $84.4 million in its 17 actively operating

unconsolidated Real Estatc Ventures The Company formed these ventures with unaffiliated third parties or acquired them to develop

or manage office properties or to acquire land in anticipation of possible development of office properties As of December 31 2010
15 of the Real Estate Ventures own 50 office buildings that contain an aggregate of approximately 6.5 million net rentable squarc feet

one Real Estate Venture owns three acres of undeveloped land and one Real Estate Venture developed hotel property that contains

137 rooms in Conshohocken PA

The Company accounts for its unconsolidated interests in its Real Estate Ventures using the equity method The Companys
unconsolidated interests range from to 65 subject to specified priority allocations in certain of the Real Estate Ventures

The amounts reflected in the following tables except for the Companys share of equity and incomc are based on thc historical

financial information of the individual Real Estate Ventures One of the Real Estate Ventures acquired in connection with thc Prentiss

Properties Trust mergcr in 2006 had negative equity balance on historical cost basis as result of historical depreciation
and

distribution of excess financing proceeds The Company reflected its acquisition of this Real Estate Venture interest at its relati\ tLUr

value as of the date of the purchase of Prentiss The difference between allocated cost and the underlying equity in the net assets of the

investee is accounted for as if the entity were consolidated i.e allocated to the Companys relative share of assets and liabilities nith
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an adjustment to recognize equity in earnings for the appropriate depreciation/amortization The Company does not record operating

losses of the Real Estate Ventures in excess of its investment balance unless the Company is liable for the obligations of the Real

Estate Venture or is otherwise committed to provide financial support to the Real Estate Venture

The Companys investment in Real Estate Ventures as 0f December 31 2010 and the Companys share of the Real Estate Ventures

income loss for the year ended December 31 2010 was as follows in thousands

Ownership percentage represents the Companys entitlement to residual distributioos after payments of priority returns where

applicable

The loan allows picpaymcnt in April 2011 withoot penalty The loan matuies in 2023 and is subject to an intcicst increase in April 2011

over the fivc
ycai ticasury spicad and intcicst only throogh matoiity The loan is expected to close in the second quarter of2O II

The real estate venture is currently finah7ing new five year loan for an expected amount of $60.0 million with an interest of4.5s

and intciest only payments through maturity The loan is expected to close in the second quarter of 2011

Duung November 2010 the Company acquired 25s inteiesi in two partnerships vshich own one and rsvo Commerce Squaic

buildings in Philadelphia PA The other paitner holds the remaining 75s interest in each of the two partnerships

As result of the adoption of the new accounting standard for the consolidation of sariable interest entities the Company

deconsolidated these thiec real estate ventures as of January 12010

This loan was replaced with new financing ofSl million on Febmary 82011 The ness loan features 3.2c rate

and 10-year term with 30 year amortization schedule

Consists of SI 1.9 million fixed rate mortgage with 5.72s interest iate and May 2013 maturity date also includes $3.3 million municipal

and state borrowings with nominal interest iatcs 1c and maturity dates from to 10 years

Compiised ol tsvo fixed rate mortgages $7.0 million and $1.0 million Both mature in Febmary 2013 and aeen.ie inteiest at fixed rate of

3s through Febiuary 2011400 thiough Febiuaiy 2012 and So through Febiuary 2013 The total loan amount ofSto.6 million as presented

above also includes Js fixed rate loan inierest only through maitirity with balance of S0.o million as of Decembei 31 2010 This loan

can be increased up to $1.3 million through its matuiity date of September 2025 The iemaining $2.0 million of the total amount features

4s fixed rate svith interest only through its maturity date of Febmary 2014

Proceeds received by the Company from the sale of an 80s ownership stake in the pioperties exceeded the histomieal cost of those

properties Accordingly no investment in the ieal estate ventuie svas ictiected on the balance sheet at period end

Compi ised of tsvo fixed rate mortgages senior fixed rate note ol $16600 at 750 that matures in Maieh 2016 and junior fixed

rate note of $2462 at 6.89s that matures in December2013 3.89s is the blended rate

Companys Share

of 2010 Real Real Estate Current

Ownership Carrying Estate Venture venture Interest

Broadmoor Austin Associates

Percentage Amount Income Loss Debt at 10000 Rate

50c 65953 1867 80541 5.79s

Maequarie BDN Christina LLC 20c 7709 918 59000 8.00c

One Commerce Square 25s 2533 33 130000 5.67s

Two Commerce Square 25s 2533 33 107612 6.30c

Four Tower Bndge 65 1824 519 9981 6.62

1000 Chesterbrook Blvd 50o 1516 194 24934 6.88s

Tsvo Tosver Bridge 35o 1145 322 15166

Residence ton Tower Bridge 30 873 310 14480 3.63

PJP VII 25s 383 205 8295 Ll.5s
PJPfi 30s 282 109 4490 6.12s

PJPV 25s 244 91 5949 6.47c

Seven Tosver Bridge 20o 105 10603

PJP VI 25o 75 72 9031 6.08c

Six Tower Bridge 63c 64 77 13097 7.79s

G1 Interchange Office LLC DRA PA 2fl 935 184000 5.78c

Eight Tower Bridge 3.4 31 52500 L5.00%

Coppell Associates 50c 867 159 18708

Five Tower Bridge 631

tovesco L.P

Debt

Maturity

Apr-2023

June 2011e
Dec-15

May 13

Feb 111
Dee-Il

Feb-16

Nov-13

Nov-23

Aug-19

Apr-23

Aug 12

Jan 15

Jtio-12

303

84372 3305 748387
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The following is summary of the financial position of the unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures in which the Company had

investment interests as of December 31 2010 and 2009 in thousands

December

2010 2009

Net property 804705 503932

Other assets 105576 96643

Other Liabilities 44509 37774

Debt 748387 470232

Equity 117385 92569

Companys share of equity Companys basis 84372 75458

Includes the three real estate ventures that were deconsolidated upon the adoption of

the new accounting standard for the consolidation of VIEs

The following is summary of results of operations of the unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures in which the Company had interests as

of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 in thousands

Years ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Revenue 118923 105236 105844

Operating expenses 44942 38691 38036

Interest expense net 37505 30858 30585

Depreciation and amortization 32703 36700 32057

Net income 3773 1012 416
Companys share of income Companys basis 5305 4069 8447

Includes the three real estate ventures that were deeonsolidated upon the adoption of

the new accounting standard for the consolidation of VIEs

As of December 31 2010 the aggregate principal payments of recourse and non-recourse debt payable to third-parties are as follows

in thousands

2011 179268

2012 71877

2013 142160

2014 8774

2015 301509

Thereafter 44799

748387

As of December 31 2010 the Company had guaranteed repayment of approximately $0.7 million of loans on behalf of certain Real

Estate Venture The Company also provides customary environmental indemnities in connection with constmction and permanent

financing both for its own account and on behalf of its Real Estate Ventures

DEFERRED COSTS

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Companys deferred costs were comprised of the following in thousands
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Leasing Costs

Financing Costs

Total

December 31 2010

Accumulated Deferred Costs

Total Cost

123724

Amortization

43930

net

79794

37257

160981

10934
54864

26323

106117

Leasing Costs

Financing Costs

Total

Total Cost

124391

42965

167356

December31_2009

Accumulated

Amortization

50643

10616
61259

During 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company capitalized internal direct leasing costs of $6.2 million $5.3 million and $7.9 million

respectively in accordance with the accounting standard for the capitalization of leasing costs

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Companys intangible assets/liabilities were comprised of the following in thousands

In place lease value

Tenant relationship value

Above market leases acquired

Total

uclov market leases acquired

Dc cember3 12010

Total Cost

Accumulated

Amortization

Dc fcrred

net

Costs

10846

95385

18319

222160

63010
52113

9575

124698

45446

43272

8744

97462

67198 3796 29233

Total Cost

Deferred Costs

net

In place lease value

Tenant relationship value

Above market leases acquired

Total

12346

97566

15674

236696

71402

49374
10757

131533

52054

48192

4917

105163

Below market leases acquired 7532 38238 37087

For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company wrote off through the acceleration of amortization

approximately $1.5 million $2.4 million and $1.7 million respectively of intangible assets as result of tenant move-outs prior to the

end of the associated lease term For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company accelerated amortization of nominal amount

of intangible liabilities as result of tenant move-outs For the years ended December 2009 and 2008 the Company acceleratcd

amortization of approximately $0.4 million and $0.1 million respectively of intangible liabilities as result of tenant move-outs

As of December 31 2010 the Companys annual amortization for its intangible assets/liabilities is as follows in thousands assumes

no early terminations

Deferred Costs

net

73748

32349

106097

December 312009

Accunu latcd

Amortization
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Assets Liabilities

2011 30041 7224

2012 22155 6473

2013 13447 5930

2014 10210 4348

2015 7249 2141

Thereafter 14360 3117

Total 97462 29233

The Parent Company guarantees the debt obligations of the Operating Partnership but does not by itself hold any indebtedness
except

only for the mortgage debt on the Libertyview property which is included in the table below All other debt is held directly or

indirectly by the Operating Partnership

The following table sets forth information regarding the Companys consolidated debt obligations outstanding at December 31 2010

and 2009 in thousands

December 31

Property Location 2010
______________ ________________ ___________

Plymouth Meeting Exec

Four Tower Bridge

Arboretum II III 20386

Midlantie Drive/Lenox DriveDCC 56514

Research Office center 39145

Cuncurd Airpurt Plaza 34494

Six Tower Bridge

Newtown Square Berwyn Park Libertyview 58102

Coppell Associates II

Southpoint III 2597

Tysons Corner 96507

Coppell Associates

Two Logan Square 89800

One Logan Square 60000

IRS Philadelphia Campus 208366

Cira South Garage 46335

712246

457 ______________

711789 ____________

DEBT OBLIGATIONS

MORTGAGE DEBT
Effective

Interest

Rate

Maturity

Date

December

2009

42042

10158

21046

58215

39999

35594

13557

59557

2711

3255

98056

16600

89800

60000

550590

1130

551720

198545

183000

92000

127960

187825

242681

250000

250000

300000

270n2

25774

25774

t9l062t

4327

3437
1902857

2454577

7.00 ab Dee-tO

6.62c Feb-It

7.59 Jul-11

8.05 Oct-11

5.30 Oct-ti

5.55 Jan-12

7.79 Aug-12

7.25 May-13

6.89c Dec-13

7.75o Apr-14

5.36o Aug15
5.75 Feb-16

7.57 Apr-16

4.50 Jul-16

6.95 Sep-30

7.11 Sep-30

5.61c Dee 10

LIBOR0.800 Jun-li

LIBOR0.725 Jun-il

5.50o Oct-11

5.73o Apr-12

5.53c Nov-14

7.77 May-15

5.95 Apr-16

5.68 May-17

LIBOR 1.25 Mar-35

LIBOR 1.25 Apr-35

LIBOR 1.25 Jul-35

Principal balance outstanding

Plus unamortized fixed rate debt premiums discounts net

Total mortgage indebtedness

UNSECURED DEBT
5300.OM 5.625 Guaranteed Notes due 2010

Bank Term Loan

Credit Facility

5345.OM 3.875 Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes due 2026

5300.OM 5.750 Guaranteed Notes due 2012

5250.OM 5.400 Guaranteed Notes due 2014

$250.OM 7.500 Guaranteed Notes due 2015

$250.OM 6.000 Guaranteed Notes due 2016

5300.OM 5.700 Guaranteed Notes due 2017

Indenmre IA Preferred Trust

Indenture lB Preterred Trust

Indenture it Preferred Trust II

Principal balance outstanding

Less unamortized exchangeable debt discount

unamortized fixed-rate debt discounts net

Total unsecured indebtedness

Total Debt Obligations

183000

183000

59835

175200

242681

250000

250000

300000

270n2

25774

25774

1722326

906

2763
1718657

2430446
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These loans were assumed upon acquisition of the related properties The interest rates presented above reflects the market rate at the time of

acquisition

On October 2010 the Company prepaid the remaining balance 0f the loan without penalty The unamortized fixed-rate debt premium of $0.1

million related to this loan was included as part of loss on early extinguishment debt in the Companys consolidated statement of operations

during the year

These loans were removed from the Companys balance sheet due to the deconsolidation of the related VIEs as discussed in Note

This mortgage is subject to an interest rate floor of4.50o on monthly basis

On August 26 2010 the Company received $254.0 million of gross proceeds from $256.5 million forward financing commitment it obtained

on June 29 2009 related to the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage see related discussion below The financing consists of

two separate loans $209.7 million secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and $46.8 million secured by the Cira South Garage

On December 15 2010 the Cumpany paid off the loan at maturity

On July 20 2010 the maturity date of the Bank Term Loan was extended from October 18 2010 to June 29 2011 The Bank Term Loan and

the Credit Facility may be extended to June 29 2012 at the Companys discretion

On October 20 2011 the holders of the Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes have the right to request the redemption of all or portion of the

Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes they hold at price equal to 10000 of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest Accordingly the

Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes have been presented with an October 20 2011 maturity date

During 2010 2009 and 2008 the Companys weighted-average effective interest rate on its mortgage notes payable was 6.59%
6.45o and 6.40c respectively As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the net carrying value of the Companys Properties that are

encumbered by mortgage indebtedness was $989.8 million and $784.2 million respectively

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company repurehased $82.7 million of its outstanding unsecured Notes in series of

transactions which are summarized in the table below in thousands

Repurchase

Notes Amount

2010 D.625o Notes 2002

2011 3.t75 Notes 68741

2012 5.750% Notes 13333

84076

Principal

1942

68125

12625

82692

Loss

37

1762

431

2230

Deferred Financing

Amortization

281

32

316

The Company utilizes its unsecured revolving credit facility the Credit Facility borrowings for general business purposes including

the acquisition development and redevelopment of properties and the repayment of other debt The maturity date of the Credit Facility

is June 29 2011 subject to an extension of one year at the Companys option upon its payment of an extension fee equal to 15 basis

points of the committed amount under the Credit Facility The per annum variable interest rate on the outstanding balances is LIBOR

plus O.725o The interest rate and facility fee are subject to adjustment upon change in the Companys unsecured debt ratings The

Company has the option to increase the Credit Facility to $800.0 million provided that the Company has not committed any defaults

under the Credit Facility and is able to acquire additional commitments from its existing lenders or new lenders As of December 31

2010 the Company had $183.0 million of borrowings and $11.2 million in letters of credit outstanding leaving $405.8 million of

unused availability under the Credit Facility During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 the weighted-average interest rate

on Credit Facility borrowings was l.03 and 2.08c respectively As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the weighted average interest

rate on the Credit Facility was 1.02 and 0.96 respectively

The Credit Facility requires the maintenance of ratios related to minimum net worth debt-to-total capitalization and fixed charge

coverage and includes non-financial covenants The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants as of December 31

2010

On August 26 2010 the Company received $254.0 million of gross proceeds from $256.5 million forward financing commitment it

obtained on June 29 2009 The Company paid $17.7 million commitment fee in connection with this commitment The loan

proceeds together with the commitment fee had been escrowed with an institutional trustee pending the completion of the
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development of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage as well as the commencement of the leases at these facilities

The financing consists of two separate loans of $209.7 million secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and $46.8 million secured by

the Cira South Garage The lender held back $2.5 million of the loan proceeds pending the completion of certain conditions related to

the IRS Philadelphia Campus and Cira South Garage As of December 31 2010 the Company has received $2.1 million of the total

amounts held back The loans are non-recourse and are secured by the IRS Philadelphia Campus and Cira South Garage respectively

The loans hear interest ofs.93o
per annum with interest only through September 10 2010 and thereafter require principal and interest

monthly payments through its maturity in September 2030 As of December 2010 total financing costs related to this transaction

amounted to $19.9 million which is included as part of the deferred costs in the Companys consolidated balance sheet and will be

amortized over the 20 year term of the loans using the effective interest rate method The total financing costs included the

commitment fee which was reduced to $16.0 million after the receipt of refund resulting from the overpayment made on the

commitment fee of $1.7 million Other related transaction costs included as part of total financing costs amounted to $3.8 million

The Company used the loan proceeds to reduce borrowings under its Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

The Company accounts for its outstanding 3.875o Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes in accordance with the accounting standard for

convertible debt instruments The accounting standard requires the initial proceeds from convertible debt that may be settled in cash to

be bifurcated between liability component and an equity component The accounting standard requires the initial proceeds from the

Companys issuance of the 3.875o Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes to be allocated between liability component and an equity

component in manner that reflects interest expense at the interest rate of similar nonconvertible debt that could have been issued by

the Company at such time This is accomplished through the creation of discount on the debt that would be accreted using the

effective interest method as additional non-cash interest expense over the period the debt is expected to remain outstanding i.e

through the first optional redemption date

The principal amount outstanding of the 3.875o Guaranteed Exchangeable Notes was $59.8 million at December 31 2010 and $128.0

million at December 2009 respectively At certain times and upon certain events the notes are exchangeable for cash up to their

principal amount and with respect to the rcmainder if any of the exchange value in excess of such principal amount cash or common

shares The initial exchange rate is 25.4015 shares per $1000 principal amnunt of nntes which is equivalent to an initial exchange

price of $39.36 per share The canying amount of the equity component is $24.4 million and is reflected within additional paid-in

capital in the Companys consolidated balance sheets The unamortized debt discount is $0.9 million at December 31 2010 and $4.3

million at December 31 2009 respectively and will be amortized through October 15 2011 The effective interest rate at December

31 2010 and December 31 2009 was 5.500 The Company recognized contractual coupon interest of $3.2 million and $8.3 million for

the years ended December 2010 and 2009 respectively In addition the Company recognized interest on amortization of debt

discount of $1.6 million and $4.0 million during the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Debt discount write-offs

resulting from debt repurchases amounted to $2.0 million and 3.8 million for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

respectively

On September 25 2009 the Company closed registered offering of $250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its 7.5O senior

unseeuied notes due 2015 The notes weie piieed at 99.412 of tlieii face amount with yield to maturity of 7.625 iepresenting

spread at the time of pricing of 5.162 to the yield on the August 2014 Treasury note The notes have been reflected net of discount

of $1.1 million and $1.4 million in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively The net proceeds

which amounted to $247.0 million after deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses were used to repay the Companys
indebtedness under its unsecured revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes

On July 2009 the Company closed $60.0 million first mortgage on One Logan Square 594361 square
foot office property

located in Philadelphia Pennsylvania This loan accrues interest at rate of LIBOR plus 3.5o with minimum LIBOR rate of 1%

over seven-year term with three years of interest only payments and interest and principal payments based on thirty-year

amortization schedule for the remaining four years The loan proceeds were used for general corporate purposes including repayment

of existing iudebtedness

During the
year

ended December 2008 the Company exercised the accordion feature on its $150.0 million unsecured term loan

which it had entered into in October 2007 and borrowed an additional $33.0 million bringing its total outstanding balance to $183.0

million All outstanding borrowings under the term loan bear interest at periodic rate of LIBOR plus 80 basis points The net

proceeds of the term loan were used to reduce indebtedness under the Companys unsecured revolving credit facility The Term Loan

matures on June 29 2011 and may be extended at the Companys option for another year but not beyond the final maturity date of its

revolving credit facility There is no scheduled principal amortization of the Term Loan and the Company may prepay borrowings in

whole or in part without premium or penalty Portions of the Term Loan bear interest at per annum floating rate equal to the

higher of the prime rate or the federal funds rate plus 0.50 per annum or ii London interbank offered rate that is the rate at

which Eurodollar deposits for one two three or six months are offered plus between 0.475 and 1.10 per annum the Libor
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Margin depending on the Companys debt rating The Term Loan Agreement contains financial and operating covenants Financial

covenants include minimum net worth fixed charge coverage ratio maximum leverage ratio restrictions on unsecured and secured

debt as percentage of unencumbered assets and other financial tests Operating covenants include limitations on the Companys
ability to incur additional indebtedness grant liens on assets enter into affiliate transactions and pay dividends The Company was in

compliance with all covenants as of December 31 2010

As of December 31 2010 the Companys aggregate scheduled principal payments of debt obligations are as follows in thousands

2011 554378

2012 221136

2013 67037

2014 255016

2015 350157

Thereafter 986848

Total principal payments 2434572

Net unamortized premiums/discounts 4126
Outstanding indebtedness 2430446

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following fair value disclosure was determined by the Company using available market information and discounted cash flow

analyses as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively The discount rate used in calculating fair value is the sum of the current risk

free rate and the risk premium on the date of acquiring or assuming the instruments or obligations Considerable judgment is necessary

to interpret market data and to develop the related estimates of fair value Accordingly the estimates presented are not necessarily

indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize upon disposition The use of different estimation methodologies may have

material effect on the estimated fair value amounts The Company believes that the canying amounts reflected in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets at December 31 2010 and 2009 approximate the fair values for cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable other

assets accounts payable and accrued expenses

The following are financial instruments for which the Company estimates of fair value differ from the carrying amounts in

thousands

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Amount Value Amount Value

Mortgage payable net of premiums 712246 726348 550590 523745

Unsecured notes payable net of discounts 1277716 1338743 1557011 1497356

Variable Rate Debt Instruments 444610 432556 353610 341210

Notes Receivable 31216 28921 71989 62776

For purposes of this disclosure one of the notes is presented gross of the deferred gain of$12.9 million arising from

the sale of the two Trenton properties in the prior year accounted for under the accounting standard for installment sales

RISK MANAGEMENT AND JSE OF FINANCIAL INSTRI IMENTS

Risk Management

In the course of its on-going business operations the Company encounters economic risk There are three main components of

economic risk interest rate risk credit risk and market risk The Company is subject to interest rate risk on its interest bearing

liabilities Credit risk is primarily the risk of inability or unwillingness of tenants to make contractually required payments and

counterparties on derivatives not fulfilling their obligations Market risk is the risk of declines in the value of properties due to changes

in rental rates interest rates or other market factors affecting the valuation of properties held by the Company
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Risks and Uncertainties

Significantly challenging current economic conditions have generally resulted in reduction of the availability of financing and higher

borrowing costs These factors coupled with sluggish economy have reduced the volume of real estate transactions and created

credit stiesses on most businesses The Company believes that vacancy rates may increase through 2011 and possibly beyond as the

current economic climate negatively impacts tenants in the Properties The current financial markets also have an adverse effect on the

Companys other counter parties such as the counter parties in its derivative contracts

The Company expects that the impact of the corrent state of the economy including high unemployment and the unprecedented

volatility and illiquidity in the financial and credit markets will continue to have dampening effect on the fundamentals of its

business including increases in past due accounts tenant defaults lower occupancy and reduced effective rents These conditions

would negatively affect the Companys future net income and cash flows and could have material adverse effect on its financial

condition

The Companys Credit Facility Bank Term Loan and the indenture governing the unsecured public debt securities Note contain

restrictions requirements and other limitations on the ability to incur indebtedness including total debt to asset ratios secured debt to

total asset ratios debt service
coverage

ratios and minimum ratios of unencumbered assets to unsecured debt which it must maintain

The ability to borrow under the Credit Facility is subject to compliance with such financial and other covenants in the event that the

Company fails to satisfy these covenants it would be in default under the Credit Facility the Bank Term Loan and the indenture and

may be required to repay such debt with capital from other sources Under such circumstances other sources of capital may not be

available or may be available only on unattractive terms

Availability of borrowings under the Credit Facility is subject to traditional material adverse effect clause Each time the Company
borrows it must represent to the lenders that there have been no events of nature which would have material adverse effect on the

business assets operations condition financial or otherwise or prospects of the Company taken as whole or which could

negatively effect the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under the Credit Facility While the Company believes that

there are currently no material adverse effect events the Company is operating in unprecedented economic times and it is possible that

such event could arise which would limit the Companys borrowings under the Credit Facility If an event occurs which is considered

to have material adverse effect the lenders could consider the Company in default under the terms of the Credit Facility and the

borrowings under the Credit Facility would become due and payable if the Company is unable to obtain waiver this would have

material adverse effect on the Companys financial position and results of operations

The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants as of December 2010 Management continuously monitors the

Companys compliance with and anticipated compliance with the covenants Certain of the covenants restrict managements ability to

obtain alternative sources of capital While the Company currently believes it will remain in compliance with its covenants in the

event of continued slow-down and continued crisis in the credit markets the Company may not be able to remain in compliancc \vith

such cm enants and if the lender would not provide ai cr it could result in an event of default

Use of Derivative Financial Instruments

The Companys use of derivative instruments is limited to the utilization of interest rate agreements or other instruments to manage

interest rate risk exposures and not for speculative purposes The principal objective of such arrangements is to minimize the risks

and/or costs associated with the Companys operating and financial structure as well as to hedge specific transactions The

counterparties to these arrangements are major financial institutions with which the Company and its affiliates may also have other

financial relationships The Company is potentially exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance by these counterparties

However because of the high credit ratings of the counterparties the Company does not anticipate that any of the counterparties will

fail to meet these obligations as they come due The Company does not hedge credit or property value market risks through derivative

financial instruments

The Company formally assesses both at inception of the hedge and on an on-going basis whether each derivative is highly-effective

in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item If management determines that derivative is not highly-effective as hedge

or if derivative ceases to be highly-effective hedge the Company will discontinue hedge accounting prospectively The related

ineffectiveness would be charged to the consolidated statement of operations

The valuation of these instruments is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash fio\\ analysis

on the expected cash flows of each derivative This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives including the period to
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maturity and uses observable market-based inputs including interest rate curves and implied volatilities The fair values of interest

rate swaps are determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts or payments

and the discounted expected variable cash payments or receipts The variable cash payments or receipts are based on an

expectation of future interest rates forward curves derived froni observable market interest rate curves

To comply with the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures the Company incorporates

credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterpartys

nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect of

nonperformance risk the Company has considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements such as collateral

postings thresholds mutual puts and guarantees

Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level of the fair value

hierarchy the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level inputs such as estimates of current credit

spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties However during the current year until the maturity of the

remaining interest swaps and as of Decemher 2009 the Company has assessed the significance nf the impact of the credit

valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are

not significant to the overall valuation of its derivatives As result the Company has determined that its derivative valuations in their

entirety are classified in Level of the fair value hierarchy

The changes in fair values of the hedges during the year
ended December 31 2010 and 2009 were included in other liabilities and

accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying balance sheet except for the $1.1 million fair value adjustment of the

hedges charged as an expense to the consolidated statements of operations during the
year

ended December 31 2009 relating to two

of its interest rate swaps which were both cash settled in December 2009 The hedging relationship with these swaps ceased upon the

Companys issuance of its unsecured notes on September 25 2009 Accordingly changes in the fair value of these interest rate swaps

were charged to the consolidated statements of operations until they were cash settled The Company also recognized gain of $0.1

jnillion fiom the ineffectiveness of the hedges during the yeni ended December 31 2009 prior to the termination of the hedging

relationship

All of the Companys existing derivative financial instruments matured on October 18 2010

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise when number of tenants related to the Companys investments or rental operations are engaged in

similar business activities or are located in the same geographic region or have similar economic features that would cause their

inability to meet contractual obligations including those to the Company to be similarly affected The Company regularly monitors

its tenant base to assess potential concentrations of credit risk Management believes the current credit risk portfolio is reasonably well

diversified and does not contain any unusual concentration of credit risk No tenant accounted for lO0o or more of the Companys
rents during 2010 2009 and 2008 Recent developments in the general economy and the global credit markets have had significant

adverse effect on companies in numerous industries The Company has tenants concentrated in various industries that may be

experiencing adverse effects from the current economic conditions and the Company could be adversely affected if such tenants go

into default on their leases

10 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 income from discontinued operations relates to an aggregate of 24 properties

containing approximately 3.7 million net rentable square feet that the Company has sold since January 2008
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The following table summarizes revenue and expense information for the properties sold which qualify for discontinued operations

reporting since January 2008 in thousands

Years ended December 31
_________

2010 2009 2008

Revenue

Rents 4265 13513 59675

Tenant reimbursements 2043 6908 9302

Termination fees 25

Other 52 226 279

Total revenue 6360 20647 69281

Expenses

Property operating expenses 2401 7653 23774

Real estate taxes 936 2900 7358

Depreciation and amortization 2002 4882 16008

Total operating expenses 5339 15435 47140

Operating income 1021 5212 22141

Interest income 17

Interest expense 4595
Income from discontinued operations before gain on

sale of interests in real estate 1021 5212 17563

Net gain on disposition of discontinued operations 11011 1238 28474

Provision for impairment 3700 6850
Income from discontinued operations 12032 2750 39187

Discontinued operations have not been segregated in the consolidated statements of cash flows Therefore amounts for certain

captions will not agree
with respective data in the consolidated statements of operations

11 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS IN THE PARENT COMPANY

Non-controlling interests in the Parent Companys financial statements relate to redeemable common limited partnership interests in

the Operating Partnership held by parties other than the Parent Company and interests held by third party partners in the previously

consolidated real estate ventures

Operating Partnership

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the aggregate book value of the non-controlling interest associated with the redeemable common
limited partnership interests in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet was $128.3 million and $38.3 million respectively The

Parent Company believes that the aggregate settlement value of these interests based on the number of units outstanding and the

closing price of the common shares on the balance sheet date was approximately $115.4 million and $32.0 million respectively

Non-controlling Interest Partners Share of Previously Consolidated Real Estate Ventures

As discussed in Note as of December 31 2009 the Company owned interests in three consolidated Real Estate Ventures Four
Tower Bridge Six Tower Bridge and Coppell Associates that the Company determined to be VIEs and were consolidated until

January 2010 As of December 31 2009 and prior to their deconsolidation the
aggregate amount related to these non-controlling

interests classified within equity was $0.1 million The Parent Company believes that the aggregate settlement value of these interests

was approximately $7.9 million as of December 31 2009 This amount is based on the estimated liquidation values of the assets and

liabilities and the resulting prnceeds that the Parent Company would distribute to its real estate venture partners upnn dicsolution

based on book value as required under the terms of the respective partnership agreements The partnership agreements of the Real

Estate Ventures do not limit the amount that the non-controlling interest partners would be entitled to in the event of liquidation of the

assets and liabilities and dissolution of the respective partnerships

As discussed in Note the Parent Company upon its adoption of the amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for

the consolidation of VIEs on January 2010 determined that it will no longer consolidate these VIEs
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12 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS IN THE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP

As of December 31 2009 tile Operating Partnership owned interests in three consolidated Real Estate Ventures see Note 11 above

that own three office properties containing approximately 0.4 million net rentable square feet Thcse Real Estate Ventures were

considered as VIEs under the accounting standard for consolidation As of December 2009 the aggregate amount related to these

non-controlling interests classified within equity was $0.1 million The Operating Partnership believes that the aggregate settlement

value of these interests was approximately $7.9 million as of December 31 2009 This amount is based on the estimated liquidation

values of the assets and liabilities and the resulting proceeds that the Parent Company would distribute to its real estate venture

partners upon dissolution as required under the terms of the respective partnership agreements The partnership agreements of the

Real Estate Ventures do not limit the amount that the non-controlling interest partners would be entitled to in the event of liquidation

of the assets and liabilities and dissolution of the respective partnerships

As discussed in Note the Operating Partnership upon its adoption of the amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements

for the consolidation of VIEs on January 2010 determincd that it will no longer consohdatc these VIEs

13 BENEFICIARIES EQUITY OF THE PARENT COMPANY

Earnings per Share EPS

The following table details the number of shares and net income used to calculate basic and diluted earnings pcr
share in thousands

except share and per share amounts results may not add due to rounding

Years ended Decemb

2010 2009 1909

isic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

Numerator

Income loss froni costisoisg operations C9638 29.638 339 1339 662 662

Net loss income from continsing operotioiss attribsitoble to non controlling istere ts

Aosooot ollocable to ens gsted restricted shareholders

Preferred shore dividcisds

Loss from
continsong opcrotioss asoilable to coososos shsreholdcrs

Income loss from discontinued
operations

Discontioocd operations attribotoble to non controlling interests

Discontinsied
operations

attributable to common slioreliolders

Net inconse ovailoble to comoson shareholders

Osuomluator

Weighted.overagc
shores ootstaodin

contingent securities stock based
compensation

Totol
sveighted overage

shores ootstlndoio

Bomiogo per
common 5hilre

Income from continuing operotions ottribotablc to common shorehohdcrs

Discontinued operations attributable to common shmsrehiolders

Net income ottrsbotable to common shireholdcrs

787 787 18 18 170

Dl 112 279 763 763

7.992 7991 7.992 7.992 7992 7992

37355 373 2019 2910 9247 9547

l03 12032 2.750 1750 39187 39187

2111 2511 45 14 1478

11777 t.77 170 270 37709 37709

211 81 15 578 24 1411 28.462 28462

1314327 131749.2Th 111998 04 111898041 67174 43 87174423

_______________ _______________ _______________
1353246

_______________
8740

131.743275 1317431Th 111898041 113251.291 87.574423 87583163

0.28 9.28 00 0.0 0.11 0.11

0.09 09 0.02 0.02 0.4a 43

0.19 0.19 03 032

Securities totaling 9902752 in 2010 2809108 in 2009 and 2816621 in 2008 were excluded from the earnings per share

computations because their effect would have been antidilutive In addition the Class 2010 Units which make
up 7111112 units

out of the total 9.902.752 units as of December 2010 are not entitled to income or loss allocations prior to the first anniversary of

the acquisition of Three Logan Square see Note

The contingent securities/stock based compensation impact is calculated using the treasury stock method and relates to employce

awards settled in shares of the Parent Company The effect of these securities is anti-dilutive for periods that the Parent Company
incurs net loss available to common shareholders and therefore is excluded from the dilutive earnings per share calculation in such

periods
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Unvested restricted shares are considered participating securities which require the use of the two-class method for the computation of

basic and diluted earnings per share For the twelve months ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 earnings representing

nonforfeitable dividends as noted in the table above were allocated to the unvested restricted shares

Common and Preferred Shares

On December 22010 the Parent Company declared distribution of $0.15 per common share totaling $20.3 million which was paid

on January 20 2011 to shareholders of record as of January 2011 On December 2010 the Parent Company declared distributions

on its Series Preferred Shares and Series Preferred Shares to holders of record as of December 30 2010 These shares are entitled

to preferential return of 7.50o and 7.375% respectively Distributions paid on January 18 2011 to holders of Series Preferred

Shares and Series Preferred Shares totaled $0.9 million and $1.1 million respectively

In March 2010 the Parent Company commenced continuous equity offering program the Offering Program under which the

Parent Company may sell up to an aggregate amount of 15000000 common shares until March 10 2013 in amounts and at times to

be determined by the Parent Company Actual sales will depend on variety of factors as determined by the Company including

market conditions the trading puce of its common shares and determinations by the Paient Company of the appiopriate sonices of

funding In conjunction with the Offering Program the Parent Company engaged sales agents who received compensation in

aggregate of up to of the gross sales price per share sold during the year ended December 31 2010 Through December 31 2010

the Parent Company has sold 5742268 shares under this program at an average sales price of $12.54 per share resulting in net

proceeds of $70.8 million The Parent Company contributed the net proceeds from the sale of its shares to the Operating Partnership in

exchange for the issuance of 5742268 common partnership units to the Parent Company The Operating Partnership used the net

proceeds from the sales contributed by the Parent Company to repay balances on its Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

On June 2009 the Parent Company completed its public offering the offering of 40250000 of its common shares par value

$0.01 per share The common shares were issued and sold by the Parent Company to the underwriters at public offering price of

$6.30 per common share in accordance with an underwriting agreement The common shares sold include 5250000 shares issued and

sold pursuant to the underwriters exercise in full of their over-allotment option under the underwriting agreement The Parent

Company received net proceeds of approximately $242.3 million from the offering net of underwriting discounts commissions and

expenses The Parent Company used the net proceeds from the offering to reduce its borrowings under its Credit Facility and for

general corporate purposes

Common Share Repurchases

The Parent Company maintains share repurchase program pursuant to which the Parent Company is authorized to repurchase its

common shares from time to time The Parent Companys Board of Tmstees initially authorized this program in 1998 and has

periodically replenished capacity under the program On May 2006 the Board of Trustees restored capacity to 3.5 million common

shares

The Parent Company did not repurchase any shares during the year-ended December 31 2010 As of December 31 2010 the

Company may purchase an additional 0.5 million shares under the plan

Repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions subject to market conditions

and compliance with legal requirements The share repurchase program does not contain any time limitation and does not obligate the

Parent Company to repurchase any shares The Parent Company may discontinue the program at any time

14 PARTNERS EQUITY OF THE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP

Earnings per Common Partnership Unit

The following table details the number of units and net income used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per common partnership

unit in thousands except unit and per unit amounts results may not add due to rounding
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Years ended rtrccner

2010 289 2008

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

Nunrrator

Incont loss learn continuing operations 29638 29638 5339 3339 662 662

Net loss incont from continuing operations attributable to non-controlling interrata

Asrairait allocable to unvcsted restricted raritholdera

Prefenad share dividends

Loss from
continuing operations

available to connsn unitholdera

Discontinued operations attnbutable to contain unitboldera

Net inconar available to cormain unitholders

Denoninator

Weighted-avenge sails outstanding

Inlingent securities/Stock based corrpensation

Total aeigbted-avensge units outstanding

Earnings per Cbnimn Share

Incont from continuing operations attnbutable to conimn unitholdera

Discontinued
operations

attributable to contain unitboldera

Net incont attributable to contain ssiitholdera

30 30 127 127

12 512 279 279 763 763

7992 7992 7992 7992 7992 7992

38142 38142 2962 2962 9544 9544

12032 12032 2750 2750 39187 39187

26110 26110 212 212 29643 29643

137454796 137454796 114712869 114712869 90391044 90391044

1353246
_______________

8740

137454796 137454796 114712869 116066115 90391044 90399784

028 0.28 102 0.02 0.11 0.11

0.09 0.08 0.02 0.02 0.43 0.43

0.19 0.19 0.32 0.32

UBvested restricted shares are considered participating securities which reqBire the use of the two-class method for the computation of

basic and diluted earnings per
share For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 earnings representing nonforfeitable dividends

as noted in the table above were allocated to the unvested restricted shares

Common Partnership Unit and Preferred Mirror Units

The Operating Partnership issues partnership units to the Parent Company in exchange for the contribution of the net proceeds of any

equity security issuance by the Parent Company The number and terms of such partnership units correspond to the number and terms

of the related equity securities issued by the Parent Company In addition the Operating Partnership may also issue separate classes of

partnership unifs Historically the Operating Partnership has had the following types of partnership units outstanding Preferred

Partnership Units which have been issued to parties other than the Parent Company ii Preferred Mirror Partnership Units which have

been issued to the Parent Company and iii Common Partnership Units which include both interests held by the Parent Company and

those held by other limited partners Each of these interests is described in more detail below

Preferred MirrorPartnership Units

In exchange for the proceeds received in corresponding offerings by the Parent Company of preferred shares of beneficial interest the

Operating Partnership has issued to the Parent Company corresponding amount of Preferred Mirror Partnership Units with terms

consistent with that of the preferred securities issued by the Parent Company

On December 30 2003 the Operating Partnership issued 2000000 Series Preferred Mirror Units to the Parent Company in

exchange for its contribution of the proceeds of its Series Preferred Shares The 2000000 Series Preferred Mirror Units

outstanding have an aggregate liquidation preference of $50.0 million or $25.00 per unit Cumulative distributions on the Series

Preferred Mirror Units are payable quarterly at an annualized rate of 7.50 of the liquidation preference In the event that any of the

Series Preferred Shares of the Parent Company are redeemed which may occur at the option of the Parent Company at any time on

or after December 30 2009 then an equivalent number of Series Preferred Mirror Units will be redeemed

On Febmary 27 2004 the Operating Partnership issued 2300000 Series Preferred Mirror Units to the Parent Company in exchange

for its contribution of the net proceeds of its Series Preferred Shares The 2300000 Series Preferred Mirror Units outstanding

have an aggregate liquidation preference of $57.5 million or $25.00 per unit Cumulative distributions on the Series Preferred

Mirror Units are payable quarterly at an annualized rate of 7.375 of the liquidation preference In the event that any of the Series

Preferred Shares of the Parent Company are redeemed which may occur at the option of the Parent Company at any time on or after

Febmary 27 2009 then an equivalent number of Series Preferred Mirror Units will be redeemed
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Common Partnership Units Redeemable and Gepçjg1

The Operating Partnership has three classes of Common Partnership Units Class Limited Partnership Interest which are held by

both the Parent Company and outside third parties ii Class 2010 Limited Partnership Interest which is held by one outside third

party and iii General Partnership Interests which are held by the Parent Company collectively the Class Limited Partnership

Interest and General Partnership Interests are referred to as Common Partnership Units The holders of the Common Partnership

Units are entitled to share in cash distributions from and in profits and losses of the Operating Partnership in proportion to their

respective percentage interests subject to preferential distributions on the preferred mirror units and the preferred units provided

however that the Class 2010 Units do not begin to accrue distributions and are not entitled to allocations of income or loss prior to

August 52011

The Common Partnership Units held by the Parent Company comprised of both General Partnership Units and Class Limited

Partnership Units are presented as partners equity in the consolidated financial statements Class Limited Partnership Interest held

by parties other than the Parent Company are redeemable at the option of the holder for like number of common shares of the Parent

Company or cash or combination thereof at the election of the Parent Company Because the form of settlement of these

redemption rights are not within the control of the Operating Partnership these Common Partnership Units have been excluded from

partners equity and are presented as redeemable limited partnership units measured at the potential cash redemption value as of the

end of the periods presented based on the closing market price of the Parent Companys common shares at December 31 2010 2009

and 2008 which was $11.65 $11.40 $7.71 respectively As of December 31 2010 and 2009 2791640 and 2809108 of Class

Units respectively were outstanding and owned by outside limited partners of the Operating Partnership

The Operating Partnership issued the 7111112 Class 2010 Units on August 2010 in connection with its acquisition of Three

Logan Square The Class 2010 Units were valued based on the closing market price of the Parent Companys common shares on

the acquisition date $11.54 less $0.60 to reflect that these units do not begin to accrue dividend prior to the first anniversary of their

issuance The Class 2010 Units are issued subject to redemption at the option of the holders after the first anniversary of the

acquisition The Operating Partnership may at its option satisfy the redemption either for an amount per unit of cash equal to the

market price of one of the Parent Companys common share based on the five-day trading average ending on the date of the

exchange or for one of the Parent Companys common shares The redemption value of these Class 2010 Units and the other

redeemable limited partnership units are presented in the mezzanine section of the Operating Partnerships balance sheet because they

can be redeemed in cash or with the Parent Companys common shares

On December 2010 the Operating Partnership declared distribution of $0.15 per Class common unit totaling $20.3 million

which was paid on January 20 2011 to unitholders of record as of January 2011

On December 2010 the Operating Partnership declared distributions on its Series Preferred Mirror Units and Series Preferred

Mirror Units to holders of record as of December 30 2010 These units are entitled to preferential retum of 7.50 and 7.375o

respectively Distributions paid on January 18 2011 to holders of Series Preferred Mirror Units and Series Preferred Mirror Units

totaled $0.9 million and $1.1 million respectively

From the inception of the Offering Program in March 2010 through December 31 2010 the Parent Company has contributed net

proceeds of $70.8 million from the sale of 5742268 common shares to the Operating Partnership in exchange for the issuance of

5742268 common partnership units to the Parent Company The Operating Partnership used the net proceeds from the sales to repay

balances on its unsecured revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes

Common Share Re purchases

The Parent Company did not purchase any shares during the year-ended December 31 2010 and accordingly during the year ended

December 31 2010 the Operating Partnership did not repurchase any units in connection with the Parent Companys share repurchase

program
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15 SHARE BASED COMPENSATION 40 1k PLAN AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Stock Options

At December 31 2010 the Company had 3116611 options outstanding under its shareholder approved equity incentive plan There

were 1731883 options unvested as of December 31 2010 and $1.6 million of unrecognized compensation expense associated with

these options to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.3 years During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 the Company recognized $1.0 million $0.6 million and $0.3 million respectively of compensation expense included in general

and administrative expense related to unvested options The Company has also capitalized nominal amounts of compensation expense

for the said periods as part of the Companys review of employee salaries eligible for capitalization

Option activity as of December 31 2010 and changes during the year ended December 31 2010 were as follows

Weighted Weighted Average

Average Remaining Contractual Aggregate Intrinsic

Shares Exercise Price Term in years Value

Outstanding at January 12010 2404567 15.48 8.38 9816670
Granted 724805 11.31 9.18 246434

Exercised 12761 2.91
______________________ __________________

Outstanding at December 31 2010 3116611 14.56 7.81 9080625

VestedlExercisable at December 31 2010 1384728 17.63 7.14 8132783

The fair value of share option awards is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model The

following weighted-average assumptions were utilized in calculating the fair value of options granted during the
years

ended

December 31 0l0 and 2009

Grant Date March 2010 April 2009

Risk-free interest rate 3.03% 2.20%

Dividend yield 6.53% 23.64%

Volatility factor 46.89 40.99

Weighted average expected life yrs yrs

Years ended December 31

2009 2008

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Weighted Remaining Weighted Remaining

Average Contractual Average Contractual

Exercise Term Exercise Term

Shares Price in Years Shares Price in Years

Outstanding at beginning of year 1754648 $20.41 8.77 1070099 $26.13 0.54

Granted 676491 2.91 9.25 1824594 20.61 8.61

Forfeited/Expired 26572 20.61 1140045 26.10
___________

Ootstanding at end of year 2404567 $15.48 8.38 1754648 $20.41 0.54

Yested/Exercisable at end of year 616119 $20.03 7.54 1754648 $14.71 1.83
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401k Plan

The Company sponsors 401k defined contribution plan for its employees Each employee may contribute up to 10000 of annual

compensation subject to specific limitations under the Internal Revenue Code At its discretion the Company can make matching

contributions equal to percentage of the employees elective contribution and profit sharing contributions Employees vest in

employer contributions over three-year service period The Company contributions were $0.3 million in 2010 $0.2 million in 2009

and $0.6 million in 2008

Restricted Share Awards

As of December 31 2010 851278 restricted shares were outstanding and vest over three to seven years from the initial grant date

The remaining compensation expense to be recognized at December 31 2010 was approximately $4.3 million That expense is

expected to be recognized over weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.4 years The Company recognized compensation

expense related to outstanding restricted shares of $4.0 million during the year ended December 2010 of which $0.9 million was

capitalized as part of the Companys review of employee salaries eligible for capitali7ation For the
years

ended December 31 2009

and 2008 the Company recognized $3.2 million of which $0.8 million was capitalized and $3.0 million respectively of

compensation expense
included in general and administrative

expense
in the respective periods related to outstanding restricted shares

The following table summarizes the Companys restricted share activity during the
year ended December 31 2010

Weighted

Average Grant

Shares Date Fair value

Non-vested at Jannary 12010 708580 9.69

Granted 240302 11.56

Vested 95796 20.46

Forfeited 1808 19.47

Non-vested at December 31 2010 851278 10.75

Restricted Performance Share Units Plan

On March 2010 and April 2009 the Compensation Committee of the Parent Companys Board of Trustees awarded an aggregate

of 120955 and 488292 share-based awards respectively to its executives These awards are referred to as Restricted Performance

Share Units or RPSUs The RPSUs represent the right to earn common shares The number of common shares if any deliverable to

award recipients depends on the Companys performance based on its total return to shareholders during thc three ycar measurement

period that commenced on Januaiy 2010 in the case of the March 2010 awards and January 2009 in the case of the April

2009 awards and that ends on the earlier of December 31 2012 or December 31 2011 as applicable or the date of change of

control compared to the total shareholder return of REITs within an index over such respective periods The awards are also

contingent upon the continued employment of the participants through the performance periods with exceptions for death disability

and qualifying retirement Dividends are deemed credited to the performance units accounts and are applied to acquire more

performance units for the account of the unit holder at the price per common share ending on the dividend payment date If earned

awards will be settled in common shares in an amount that reflects both the number of performance units in the holders account at the

end of the applicable measurement period and the Companys total return to shareholders during the applicable three year

measurement period relative to the total shareholder return of the REIT within the index

If based on an industry-based index at the end of the measurement period the total shareholder return during the measurement period

places the Company at or above certain percentile as compared to its peers then the number of shares that will be delivered shall

equal certain percentage not to exceed 200o of the participants base units

The fair values of the 2010 and 2009 awards on the grant dates were $2.0 million and $1.1 million respectively and are being

amortized over the three year cliff vesting period On the date of each grant the awards were valued using Monte Carlo simulation

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company recognized total compensation expense for both the 2010 and 2009 awards

of $0.6 million and $0.4 million respectively related to this plan of which nominal amounts were capitalized as part of the

Companys review of employee salaries eligible for capitalization During the year ended December 2009 the Company

recognized total compensation expense
for the 2009 award of $0.3 million related to this plan of which nominal amount as also

capitalized
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Outperfornance Program

On August 28 2006 the Compensation Committee of the Parent Companys Board of Trustees adopted long-term incentive

compensation program the outperformance program under the 1997 Plan The outperformance program provided for share-based

awards with share issuances if any to take the form of both vested and restricted common shares and with any share issuances

contingent upon the Companys total shareholder retum during three year measurement period exceeding specified performance

hurdles These hurdles were not met and accordingly no shares were delivered under the outperformance program and the

outperformance program has terminated in accordance with its terms The awards under the outperformance program were accounted

for in accordance with the accounting standard for stock-based compensation The aggregate grant date fair values of the awards under

the outperformance program as adjusted for estimated forfeitures were approximately $5.9 million with the values determined

through Monte Carlo simulation and are being amortized into expense over the five-year vesting period beginning on the grant dates

using graded vesting attribution model For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company recognized $0.4

million $0.9 million and $1.0 million respectively of compensation expense related to the outperformance program $0.1 million

remains to be recognized as compensation expense as of December31 2010

Employee Share Purchase Plan

On May 2007 the Parent Companys shareholders approved the 2007 Non-Qualified Employee Share Purchase Plan the ESPP
The ESPP is intended to provide eligible employees with convenient means to purchase common shares of the Parent Company

through payroll deductions and voluntary cash purchases at an amount equal to 85 of the average closing price per share for

specified period Under the plan document the maximum participant contribution for the 2010 plan year is limited to the lesser of

20 of compensation or $50000 The number of shares reserved for issuance under the ESPP is 1.25 million During the year ended

December 31 2010 employees made purchases of $0.5 million under the ESPP and the Company recognized $0.2 million of

compensation expense related to the ESPP During the year ended December 31 2009 employees made purchases of $0.4 million

under the ESPP and the Company recognized $0.3 million of compensation expense
related to the ESPP During the

year
ended

December 31 2008 employees made purchases of $0.6 million under the ESPP and the Company recognized $0.1 million of

compensation expense
related to the ESPP The Board of Trustees of the Parent Company may terminate the ESPP at its sole

discretion at anytime

Deferred Compensation

In January 2005 the Parent Company adopted Deferred Compensation Plan the Plan that allows trustees and certain key

employees to voluntarily defer compensation Compensation expense is recorded for the deferred compensation and related liability

is recognized Participants may elect designated benchmark investment options for the notional investment of their deferred

compensation The deferred compensation obligation is adjusted for deemed income or loss related to the investments selected At the

time the participants defer compensation the Company records liability which is included in the Companys consolidated balance

sheet The liability is adjusted for changes in the market value of the participants selected investments at the end of each accounting

period and the impact of adjusting the liability is recorded as an increase or decrease to compensation cost For the years
ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company recorded net increase in compensation costs of $1.0 million and $1.5 million

respectively in connection with the Plan due to the change in market value of the participant investments in the Plan For the
year

ended December 31 2008 the Company recorded net reduction in compensation cost of $2.8 million in connection with the Plan

The deferred compensation obligations are unfunded but the Company has purchased company-owned life insurance policies and

mutual funds which can be utilized as future funding source for the Companys obligations under the Plan Participants in the Plan

have no interest in any assets set aside by the Company to meet its obligations under the Plan For the years ended December 31 2010

and 2009 the Company recorded net reduction in compensation cost of $1.0 million and $1.8 million respectively and net increase

in compensation cost of $2.7 million during the year ended December 31 2008 in connection with the investments in the Company-

owned policies and mutual funds

Participants in the Plan may elect to have all or portion of their deferred compensation invested in the Companys common shares

The Company holds these shares in rabbi trust which is subject to the claims of the Companys creditors in the event of the

Companys bankruptcy or insolvency The Plan does not provide for diversification of participants deferral allocated to the

Company common share and deferrals allocated to Company common share can only be settled with fixed number of shares In

accordance with the accounting standard for deferred compensation arrangements where amounts eamed are held in rabbi trust and

invested the deferred compensation obligation associated with Companys common shares is classified as component of
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shareholders equity and the related shares are treated as shares to be issued and are included in total shares outstanding At December

31 2010 and 2009 0.3 million of such shares were included in total shares outstanding subsequent changes in the fair value of the

common shares are not reflected in operations or shareholders equity of the Company

16 PREFERRED SHARES

In 2003 the Parent Company issued 2000000 7.50% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares the Series Preferred

Shares for net proceeds of $48.1 million The Series Preferred Shares are perpetual On or after December 30 2008 the Parent

Company at its option may redeem the Series Preferred Shares in whole or in part by paying $25.00 per share which is

equivalent to its liquidation preference plus accrued but unpaid dividends See Note 14 for related discussion

In 2004 the Parent Company issued 2300000 .375% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares the Series Preferred

Shares for net proceeds of $55.5 million The Series Preferred Shares are perpetual On or after February 27 2009 the Parent

Company at its option may redeem the Series Preferred Shares in whole or in part by paying $25.00 per share which is

equivalent to its liquidation preference plus accrued but unpaid dividends The Parent Company could not redeem Series Preferred

Shares before February 27 2009 except to preserve its REIT status See Note 14 for related discussion

17 DISTRIBUTIONS

Years ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Common Share Distributions

Ordimry income 0.60 0.60 1.53

Capitalgain 0.11

Non-taxable distributions 0.12

Distributions share 0.60 0.6o l.7o

Percentage classified as ordinary income 100.0 100.0% 86.9%

Percentageclassified as capital gain 0.000 0.0% 6.3%

Percentage classified asnon-taxabledistribution 0.000 0.0% 6.8%

Preferred Share Distributions

Total distributions declared 7992000 7992000 7992000

18 TAX CREDIT TRANSACTIONS

Historic Tax Credit Transaction

On November 17 2008 the Company closed transaction with US Bancorp USB related to the historic rehabilitation of the IRS

Philadelphia Campus 862692 square foot office building that is l00o leased to the IRS On August 27 2010 the Company

completed the development of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the IRS lease commenced USB agreed to contribute approximately

$64.8 million of project costs and advanced $10.2 million of that amount contemporaneously with the closing of the transaction USB

subsequently advanced an additional $27.4 million and $23.8 million in June 2010 and December 2009 respectively The remaining

$3.4 million will be advanced upon the Companys completion of certain items and compliance with the federal rehabilitation

regulations

In exchange for its contributions into the development of IRS Philadelphia Campus USB is entitled to substantially all of the benefits

derived from the tax rehabilitation credits available under section 47 of the Intemal Revenue Code USB does not have material

interest in the underlying economics of the property This transaction includes put/call provision whereby the Company may be

obligated or entitled to repurchase USBs interest in the IRS Philadelphia Campus The Company believes the put will be exercised

and the amount attributed to that puttable non-controlling interest obligation is included in other liabilities and is being accreted to the

expected fixed put price

Based on the contractual arrangements that obligate the Company to deliver tax benefits and provide other guarantees to USB and that

entitle the Company through fee arrangements to receive substantially all available cash flow from the IRS Philadelplua Campus thc
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Company concluded that the IRS Philadelphia Campus should be consolidated The Company also concluded that capital

contributions received from USB in substance are consideration that the Company receives in exchange for its obligation to deliver

tax credits and other tax benefits to USB These receipts other than the amounts allocated to the put obligation will be recognized as

revenue in the consolidated financial statements beginning when the obligation to USB is relieved which occurs upon delivery of the

expected tax benefits net of any associated costs The tax credit is subject to 200o recapture per year beginning one year after the

completion of the IRS Philadelphia Campus The total USB contributions made amounting to $61.4 million as of December 31 2010

and $34.0 million as of December 31 2009 are presented within deferred income in the Companys consolidated balance sheet The

contributions were recorded net of the amount allocated to non-controlling interest as described above of $2.1 million and $1.1 million

at December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 respectively The Company anticipates that beginning in September 2011 it will

recognize the cash received as revenue net of allocated expenses over the five year tax credit recapture period as defined in the

Intemal Revenue Code with other income expense in its consolidated statements of operations The Company also expects that the

put/call provision will be exercised in December 2015 when the recapture period ends

Direct and incremental costs incurred in structuring the transaction are deferred and will be recognized as expense in the consolidated

financial statements upon the recognition of the related revenue as discussed above The deferred costs at December 31 2010 and

2009 are $4.3 million and $2.4 million respectively and are included in other assets on the Companys consolidated balance sheet

Amounts included in interest
expense

related to the accretion of the non-controlling interest liability and the retum expected to be

paid to USB on its non-controlling interest aggregate to $1.1 million for year-ended December 31 2010

New Markets Tax Credit Transaction

On December 30 2008 the Company entered into transaction with USB related to the Cira South Garage in Philadelphia

Pennsylvania and expects to receive net benefit of $7.8 million under qualified New Markets Tax Credit Program NMTC The

NMTC was provided for in the Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of 2000 the Act and is intended to induce investment capital

in underserved and impoverished areas of the United States The Act permits taxpayers whether companies or individuals to claim

credits against their Federal income taxes for up to 39o of qualified investments in qualified active low-income businesses or

ventures

USB contributed $13.3 million into the development of the Cira South Garage and as such it is entitled to substantially all of the

benefits derived from the tax credit but it does not have material interest in the underlying economics of the Cira South Garage

This transaction also includes put/call provision whereby the Company may be obligated or entitled to repurchase USBs interest

The Company believes the put will be exercised and an amount attributed to that obligation is included in other liabilities and is being

accreted to the expected fixed put price The said put price is insignificant

Based on the contractual arrangements that obligate the Company to deliver tax benefits and provide various other guarantees to USB
the Company concluded that the investment entities established to facilitate the NMTC transaction should be consolidated The USB

contribution of $13.3 million is included in deferred income on the Companys consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2010 and

December 2009 The USB contribution other than the amount allocated to the put obligation will be ieeogiiized as income in the

consolidated financial statements when the tax benefits are delivered without risk of recapture to the tax credit investors and the

Companys obligation is relieved The Company anticipates that it will recognize the net cash received as revenue within other

income/expense in the year ended December 2015 The NMTC is subject to 10000 recapture for period of seven years as

provided in the Intemal Revenue Code The Company expects that the put/call provision will be exercised in December 2015 when

the recapture period ends

Direct and incremental costs incurred in structuring the transaction are deferred and will be recognized as cxpense in the consolidated

financial statements upon the recognition of the related revenue as discussed above The deferred cost at December31 2010 and 2009

is $5.3 million and is included in other assets on the Companys consolidated balance sheet

19 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS

The following table details the components of accumulated other comprehensive income loss of the Parent Company and the

Operating Partnership as of and for the three years ended December 31 2010 in thousands
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Parent Company

Balance at January 2008

Change during year

Reclassification adjustments for gains losses

reclassified into operations
_________________________ _________________________

Balance at December 31 2008

Change during year

Non-controlling interest consolidated real estate venture

partners share of unrealized gains/losses on

derivative financial instruments

Ineffectiveness of forward starting swaps

Other

Reclassification adjustments for gains losses

reclassified into operations
__________________ __________________

Balance at December 31 2009

Change during year

Non-controlling interest consolidated real estate venture

partners share of unrealized gains/losses on

derivative financial instruments

Reclassification adjustments for gains losses

reclassified into operations

Balance at December 31 2010

Operating Partnership

Balanceat January 2008

Change during year

Reclassification adjustments for gains losses

reclassified into operations
___________________________ ___________________________ ___________________________

Balance at December 31 2008

Change during year

Ineffectiveness of forward starting swaps

Other

Reclassification adjustments for gains losses

reclassified into operations _________________________ _________________________ _________________________

Balance at December 31 2009

Change during year

Reclassification adjustments for gains losses

reclassified into operations

Balance at December 31 2010

Over time the unrealized gains and losses held in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income AOCI will be reclassified to

eamings when the related hedged items are recognized in eamings The current balance held in AOCI is expected to be reclassified to

eamings for realized losses on forecasted debt transactions over the related term of the debt obligation as applicable During the year

ended December 31 2008 the Company reclassified approximately $0.5 million to interest expense associated with treasury lock

agreements and forward starting swaps previously settled

Unrealized Gains Cash Flow Accumulated Other

Losses on Securities Hedues Comnrehensive Loss

257

248

1628

15288

80

1885

15288

168

16996 17005

7395 7395

290 290

125
491

125
491

184

9129
7320

9138
7320

155 155

28 28

1936 1945

Unrealized Gains Cash Flow Accumulated Other

Losses on Securities Hedges Comprehensive Loss

257

248

1628

15288

80

1885

15288

168

16996 17005

7395

125
491

7395

125
491

184 184

9419 9428

7320 7320

28 28

2071 2080
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20 SEGMENT INFORMATION

As of December 31 2010 the Company manages its portfolio within seven segments Pennsylvania Suburbs Philadelphia

Central Business District CBD Metropolitan Washington D.C New Jersey/Delaware Richmond Virginia Austin

Texas and California The Pennsylvania Suburbs segment includes properties in Chester Delaware and Montgomery counties in

the Philadelphia suburbs The Philadelphia CBD segment includes properties in the City of Philadelphia Pennsylvania The

Metropolitan Washington D.C segment includes properties in Northern Virginia and suburban Maryland The New Jersey/Delaware

segment includes properties in Burlington Camden and Mercer counties and in New Castle county in the state of Delaware The

Richmond Virginia segment includes properties primarily in Albemarle Chesterfield Goochland and Henrico counties and Durham
North Carolina The Austin Texas segment includes properties in Austin The Califomia segment includes properties in Oakland

Concord Carlsbad and Rancho Bemardo The corporate group is responsible for cash and investment management development of

certain real estate properties during the construction period and certain other general support functions Land held for development

and construction in progress are transferred to operating properties by region upon completion of the associated construction or

project

As result of the acquisition of Three Logan Square and the placement in service of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South

Garage the Company added the Philadelphia CBD segment during the third quarter of the current year The Philadelphia CBD
includes Three Logan Square the IRS Philadelphia Campus the Cira South Garage and certain other properties in Philadelphia PA
that were previously included in the Pennsylvania segment The results of prior periods have been restated to conform to the current

year presentation
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Net operating income is defined as total revenue less property operating expenses real estate taxes and third party management

expenses Segment net operating income includes revenue real estate taxes and property operating expenses directly related to

operation of the properties within the respective geographical region Segment net operating income excludes property level

depreciation and amortization revenue and
expenses directly associated with third party real estate management services expenses

associated with corporate administrative support services and inter-company eliminations Below is reconciliation of consolidated

net operating income to consolidated income loss from continuing operations

Year Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

amounts in thousands

Consolidated net operating income 336436 344798 356333

Less

Interest expense 132640 135740 146646
Deferred financing costs 3770 5864 5450
Depreciation and amortization 212775 205863 199447
Administrative expenses 23306 20821 23002
Provision for impairment on land inventory 10841

Recognized Hedge Activity 916
Plus

Interest income 3222 2499 1839

Equity in income of real estate ventures 5305 4069 8447

Gain loss on early extinguishment of debt 2110 23177 18105

Income loss from continuing operations 29638 5339 662
Income from discontinued operations 12032 2750 39187

Net income loss 17606 8089 38525

21 OPERATING LEASES

The Company leases properties to tenants under operating leases with various expiration dates extending to 2030 Minimum future

rentals on non-cancelable leases at December 31 2010 are as follows in thousands

Year Minimum Rent

2011 552109

2012 487290

2013 429763

2014 372.185

2015 313411

Thereafter 1062209

Total minimum future rentals presented above do not include amounts to be received as tenant reimbursements for operating costs

22 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved from time to time in litigation on various matters including disputes with tenants and disputes arising out of

agreements to purchase or sell properties Given the nature of the Companys business activities these lawsuits are considered routine

to the conduct of its business The result of any particular lawsuit cannot be predicted because of the very nature of litigation the

litigation process and its adversarial nature and the jury system The Company does not expect that the liabilities if any that may
ultimately result from such legal actions will have material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position results of operations

or cash flows of the Company

53



Letters-of-Credit

Under certain mortgages the Company has funded required leasing and capital reserve accounts for the benefit of the mortgage

lenders with letters-of-credit which totaled $13.2 million and $12.8 million at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Certain of

the tenant rents at properties that secure these mortgage loans are deposited into the loan servicers depository accounts which are

used to find debt service operating expenses capital expenditures and the escrow and reserve accounts as necessary Any excess

cash is included in cash and cash equivalents

Ground Rent

Future minimum rental payments under the terms of all non-cancelable ground leases under which the Company is the lessee are

expensed on straight-line basis regardless of when payments are due Minimum fttture rental payments on non-cancelable leases at

December 31 2010 are as follows in thousands

2011 1818

2012 181S

2013 1818

2014 1909

2015 1909

Thereafter 289440

One of the land leases provides for contingent rent participation by the lessor in certain capital transactions and net operating cash

flows of the property after certain retums are achieved by the Company Such amounts if any will be reflected as contingent rent

when incurred The leases also provide for payment by the Company of certain operating costs relating to the land primarily real

estate taxes The above schedule of future minimum rental payments does not include any contingent rent amounts nor any

reimbursed expenses

The Company acquired ground tenancy rights under long term ground lease agreement through its acquisition of Three Logan

Square on August 2010 The annual rental payment under this ground lease is ten dollars through August 2022 which is when the

initial term of the ground lease will end After the initial term the Company has the option to renew the lease until 2091 The

Company also has the option to purchase the land at fair market value after providing written notice to the owner The annual rental

payment after 2022 will be adjusted at the lower of $3.0 million or the prevailing market rent at that time until 2030 Subsequent to

2030 the annual rental payment will be adjusted at the lower of $4.0 million or the prevailing market rent at the time until 2042 and at

fair market value until 2091 The Company believes that based on conditions as of the date the lease was assigned August 2010
the lease will reset to market after the initial term Using the estimated fair market rent as of the date of the acquisition over the

extended term of the ground lease assuming the purchase option is not exercised the future payments will aggregate to $27.4

million The Company has not included the amounts in the table above since such amounts are not fixed and determinable

Other Commitments or Contineencies

As part of the Companys September 2004 acquisition of portfolio of properties from The Rubenstein Company which the

Company refers to as the TRC acquisition the Company acquired its interest in Two Logan Square 706288 square foot office

building in Philadelphia primarily through its ownership of second and third mortgage secured by this property This property is

consolidated as the borrower is variable interest entity and the Company through its ownership of the second and third mortgages is

the primary beneficiary The Company currently does not expect to take title to Two Logan Square until at the earliest September

2019 If the Company takes fee title to Two Logan Square upon foreclosure of its mortgage the Company has agreed to pay an

unaffiliated third party that holds residual interest in the fee owner of this property an amount equal to $2.9 million On the TRC

acquisition date the Company recorded liability of $0.7 million and this amount will accrete up to $2.9 million through September

2019 As of December 31 2010 the Company has balance of $1.2 million for this liability in its consolidated balance sheet

The Company is currently has been audited by the Intemal Revenue Service the IRS for its 2004 tax year The audit concems the

tax treatment of the TRC acquisition in September 2004 in which the Company acquired portfolio of properties through the

acquisition of limited partnership On December 17 2010 the Company received notice that the IRS proposed an adjustment to the

allocation of recourse liabilities allocated to the contributor of the properties The Company intends to appeal the proposed adjustment

The proposed adjustment if upheld would not result in material tax liability for the Company However an adjustment conld raise

question as to whether contributor of partnership interests in the 2004 transaction could assert claim against the Compan under

the tax protection agreement entered into as part of the transaction
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As part of the Companys 2006 acquisition of Prentiss Properties Tmst the Prentiss acquisition and the TRC acquisition in 2004
the Company agreed not to sell certain of the properties it acquired in transactions that would trigger taxable income to the former

owners In the case of the TRC acquisition the Company agreed not to sell acquired properties for periods up to 15 years from the

date of the TRC acquisition as follows at December 31 2010 One Rodney Square and 130/1501170 Radnor Financial Center January

2015 and One Logan Square Two Logan Square and Radnor Corporate Center January 2020 In the Prentiss acquisition the

Company assumed the obligation of Prentiss not to sell Concord Airport Plaza before March 2018 The Companys agreements

generally provide that it may dispose of the subject properties only in transactions that qualif as tax-free exchanges under

Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code or in other tax deferred transactions If the Company were to sell restricted property

before expiration of the restricted period in non-exempt transaction the Company may be required to make significant payments to

the parties who sold the applicable property on account of tax liabilities attributed to them

As part of the Companys acquisition of properties from time to time in tax-deferred transactions the Company has agreed to provide

certain of the prior owners of the acquired properties with the right to guarantee the Companys indebtedness If the Company were to

seek to repay the indebtedness guaranteed by the prior owner before the expiration of the applicable agreement the Company will be

required to provide the prior owner an opportunity to guaranty qualifing replacement debt These debt maintenance agreements

may limit the Companys ability to refinance indebtedness on terms that will be favorable to the Company

The Company invests in its properties and regularly incurs capital expenditures in the ordinary course to maintain the properties The

Company believes that such expenditures enhance its competitiveness The Company also enters into construction utility and service

contracts in the ordinary course of business which may extend beyond one year These contracts typically provide for cancellation

with insignificant or no cancellation penalties

During 2008 in connection with the development of the IRS Philadelphia Campus and the Cira South Garage the Company entered

into historic tax credit and new market tax credit arrangement see Note 18 respectively The Company is required to be in

compliance with various laws regulations and contractual provisions that apply to its historic and new market tax credit arrangements

Non-compliance with applicable requirements could result in projected tax benefits not being realized and require refbnd or

reduction of investor capital contributions which are reported as deferred income in the Companys consolidated balance sheet until

such time as its obligation to deliver tax benefits is relieved The remaining compliance periods for its tax credit arrangements runs

through 2015 The Company does not anticipate that any material refunds or reductions of investor capital contributions will be

required in connection with these arrangements

23 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On January 20 2011 the Company closed on $9.3 million purchase of parcel of land in Philadelphia Pennsylvania The Company
funded the cost of this acquisition with available corporate cash and draw on its Credit Facility The Company will contribute the

acquired property into real estate venture in return for 5000 limited interest in the partnership The real estate venture will be

formed to construct mixed-use development property in the city of Philadelphia
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24 SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS UNAUDITED

The following is summary of quarterly financial information as of and for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 in

thousands except per share data

1st 2nd 3rd 4th

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2010

Total revenue 141434 135840 141879 147744

Net loss 399 5600 6616 4991
Net loss allocated to Common Shares 348 5441 6437 4848

Basic earnings per Common Share 0.02 0.06 0.06 0.05
Diluted earnings per Common Share 0.02 0.06 0.06 0.05

2009

Total revenue 144958 140388 144824 144888

Net income loss 873 5781 7309 4127
Income loss allocated to Common Shares 778 5614 7148 3957

Basic earnings per Common Share 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.05
Diluted earnings per Common Share 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.05

During the fourth quarter of 2010 the Company recorded an adjustment to depreciation and amortization expense of $1.7

million related to prior years and prior quarters for completed projects that were not closed out of our job cost system in

timely manner resulting in the understatement of depreciation expense in the prior years and prior quarters The adjustment

related to different quarters during the year and resulted in the understatement of net losses of the affected quarters

Understatement of depreciation expense for the first second and third quarters of the current year amounted to $0.4 million

$0.$ million and $0.5 million respectively In addition the Company recorded other adjustments in prior quarters of 2010

In aggregate all adjustments including the aforementioned adjustments understated or overstated the reported net loss by

$0.5 million in the third quarter and $0.4 million and $0.2 million for the first and second quarters respectively See also

the disclosure under the caption depreciation and amortization in Note As the Company had concluded that these errors

both individually and in aggregate were not material to prior years consolidated financial statements and the impact of

correcting this error in the current year is not material to the Companys fttll year consolidated financial statements the

Company recorded the related adjustments in the current year

he summation ot quarterly eamings per
share amounts do not necessarily equal the lull

year amounts above information was

updated to reclassifj amounts previously reported to reflect discontinued operations See Note and Note 10
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Reconciliation of Real Estate

The following table reconciles the real estate investments fi-om January 2uti to

December 31 2010 in thousands

2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year 4512618 4608320 4825747

Additions

Acquisitions 102475 122

Capital expenditures 336281 80506 247345

Less

Dispositions 117263 176208 464894

Balance at end of year 4834111 4512618 4608320

The aggregate cost for federal income tax purposes is 84.5 billion as of December 31 2010

Reconciliation of Accumulated Depreciation

The following table reconciles the accumulated depreciation on real estate investments from

Januaiy 2008 to December 31 2010 in thousands

2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year 716957 639688 558908

Additions

Depreciation expense continuing operations 133740 141309 144631

Depreciation expense discontinued operations 1554 6494 6494

Less

Dispositions 76173 70534 70345

Balance at end of year 776078 716957 639688
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BrandywineRea Itylrust

Senior Officers

Gerard Sweeney
President and Chief

Executive Officer

Jeffrey DeVuono
Executive Vice President and

Senior Managing Director

Pennsylvania Region

George Johnstone

Senior Vice President Operations

and Asset Management

Howard Sipzner
Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

George Sowa
Fxeriitivp Vice Prpsident and

Senior Managing Director

New Jersey/Delaware Region

Brad Molotsky
Executive Vice President General

Counsel and Corporate Secretary

William Redd

Senior Vice President and

Managinci Director Richmond

and Austin Regions

Robert Wiberg
Executive Vice President and Senior

Managing Director Metro DC

and California Regions

Thomas Wirth
Executive Vice President

Portfolio Management

and Investments

Other Officers

Ralph Bistline

Vice President Leasing

Austin Region

Michael Cooper
Senior Vice President and Managing

Director Metro DC Region

Janet Davis

Senior Vice President Leasing

Metro DC Region

Beth Glassman

Vice President Human Resources

George Hasenecz

Senior Vice President Investments

Glen Holsinger

Vice President Asset Management

Metro DC Region

Lisa Hunn-Barber

Vice President and Associate

General Counsel

Robert Juliano

Vice President and Chief

Information Officer

John LaPorta

Vice President Construction

Metro DC Region

Gabriel Mainardi

Vice President Chief Accounting

Officer and Treasurer

Richard McGuckin

Vice President Leasing

Pennsylvania Region

Daniel Palazzo

Vice President Asset Management

Pennsylvania Region

Anthony Rim ikis

Senior Vice President

Urban Development

Leon Shadowen Jr

Vice President New Business

Development Richmond and

Austin Regions

Regina Sitler

Vice President Asset Management

New Jersey/Delaware Region and

Joint Ventures

Suzanne Stumpf
Vice President Asset Management

Richmond and Austin Regions

Kathleen Sweeney-Pogwist
ViLe President Ledsiiiy

Pennsylvania Region

Jeffrey Weinstein

Vice President Construction

Urban Development

Anthony Ziccardi

Vice President Development

Pennsylvania and New Jersey/

Delaware Region

Executive Officer per Securities and Exchange Commission rules



Board of Trustees

Walter DAlessio

Senior Managing Director

NorthMarq Real Estate Services

Chairman of the Board

Member of Compensation Committee

Member of Corporate Governance Committee

Member of Executive Committee

ft Pike Aloian

Partner Rothschild Realty Managers LLC

Member of Audit Committee

Member of Corporate Governance Committee

Member of Executive Committee

James Diggs

Retired Senior Vice President and General Counsel

PPG Industries Inc

Wyche Fowler

Former U.S Senator and U.S Ambassador Saudi Arabia

Chair of Corporate Governance Committee

Michael Joyce

Retired New England Managing Partner

Deloitte Touche USA LLP

Chair of Audit Committee

Member of Compensation Committee

Anthony Nichols Sr

Chairman Emeritus Brandywine Realty Trust

Charles Pizzi

President and Chief Executive Officer

Tasty Baking Company

Chair of Compensation Committee

Member of Audit Committee

Gerard Sweeney
President and Chief Executive Officer

Brandywine Realty Trust

Chair of Executive Committee

Ce rtifi Cati OflS

The Companys Chief Executive Officer has submitted to

the New York Stock Exchange the annual certification

required by Section 303A 12a of the NYSE Company

Manual In addition the Company has filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission as exhibits to its

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2010

the certifications of its Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer required pursuant to Section 302

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act relating to the quality of its

public disclosure

Distribution Information

The Company is required to distribute at least 90% of

its taxable income to maintain its status as real estate

investment trust Total distributions paid in 2010 were

$0.60 per common share Although the Company expects

to continue making distributions to shareholders there is

no assurance of future distributions as they are dependent

upon earnings cash flow the financial condition of the

Company and other factors

Income Tax Information

Each common shareholder should have received Form

1099-DIV reflecting the distributions paid or declared by

the Company 1000/0 of the distributions paid to common
shareholders in 2010 represented ordinary income

Additional information on the taxability of our distributions

is available on our web site at www.brandywinerealty.com

Shareholder Information

Shareholders who hold our common shares in certificate

form should direct any inquiries regarding share transfers

address changes lost certificates distributions including

inquiries regarding participation in our Distribution

Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan or account

consolidations to our transfer agent

Computershare

P0 Box 43078

Providence RI 02940

888 985-2061

www.computershare.com

Shareholders who hold our common shares in street name
with brokerage firm should direct their inquiries to their

broker or to our investor relations department

Investor Relations

For information about our Company or any other

inquiries please contact

Marge Boccuti

Investor Relations Department

610 832-7702

Independent Registered Accounting Firm

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Two Commerce Square Suite 1700

2001 Market Street

Philadelphia PA 19103 7042

Legal Counsel

Pepper Hamilton LLP

3000 Two Logan Square

Eighteenth Arch Streets

Philadelphia PA 19103-2799



Brandine
Realty Trust NYSE RON is

heaciqu

one of the
largest

fullservice
integra

real
ertered

in Radno PA and is

Organi
as

real
estate

manages
Primarily class

investment
trust REIT

companies in the
nation

regio
offices in

Radnor

suburban and urban
Brandine ow

and
oPerating Offices in

PA Mt
Laurel Ni Fall

POfol
ns leases and

Church VA Rich

has
iladelphia PA mond VA

San
Diego CA and

Austin TX Lawrenceville NJ Oakland CA

BDN

NYSE

Www.brand

866.4265400

PSc responsJotfl

co1398o


